การคัดกรองและลักษณะสมบัติของแบคทีเรียที่ผลิตกรดซักซินิกและการหาค่าเหมาะที่สุดต่อการผลิต



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเทคโนโลยีชีวภาพ คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2558 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# SCREENING AND CHARACTERIZATION OF SUCCINIC ACID PRODUCING BACTERIA AND ITS PRODUCTION OPTIMIZATION



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Biotechnology Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2015 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	SCREENING	AND	CHARA	ACTERIZATIO	NC	OF
	SUCCINIC AC	ID PROD	UCING	BACTERIA	AND	ITS
	PRODUCTION	OPTIMIZ	ATION			
Ву	Miss Natcha F	Pinkian				
Field of Study	Biotechnolog	У				
Thesis Advisor	Siriluk Teerac	lakorn, Pl	п.D.			

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

\_\_\_\_\_Dean of the Faculty of Science

(Associate Professor Polkit Sangvanich, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

\_\_\_\_\_Chairman

(Associate Professor Nattaya Ngamrojanavanich, Ph.D.)

Thesis Advisor

(Siriluk Teeradakorn, Ph.D.)

Examiner

(Assistant Professor Cheewanun Dachoupakan Sirisomboon, Ph.D.)

\_\_\_\_\_Examiner

(Professor Somboon Tanasupawat, Ph.D.)

External Examiner

(Assistant Professor Savitr Trakulnaleamsai, Ph.D.)

ณัชชา ปิ่นเขียน : การคัดกรองและลักษณะสมบัติของแบคทีเรียที่ผลิตกรดซักซินิกและการหาค่าเหมาะ ที่สุดต่อการผลิต (SCREENING AND CHARACTERIZATION OF SUCCINIC ACID PRODUCING BACTERIA AND ITS PRODUCTION OPTIMIZATION) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: อ. ดร.ศิริลักษณ์ ธีระดากร, หน้า.

แบคทีเรียที่สามารถผลิตกรดซักซินิกได้ถูกคัดแยกจาก 6 แหล่งในประเทศไทย โดยเบื้องต้นสามารถคัด แยกได้แบคทีเรียทั้งหมด 310 ไอโซเลต มีเพียง 51 ไอโซเลตซึ่งถกคัดเลือกโดยสามารถผลิตกรดซักซินิกได้จาก อาหารเฉพาะ ซึ่งแสดงผลบวกในขั้นตอนโครมาโทกราฟีแบบแผ่นบาง และยืนยันผลของการผลิตกรดซักซินิกด้วยโคร มาโทกราฟีของเหลวสมรรถนะสูง พบว่ากรดซักซินิกที่ได้มีปริมาณอยู่ในช่วง 0.553-52.028 กรัมต่อลิตร นำมา แยกแยะและแบ่งกลุ่มได้ 9 กลุ่ม ด้วยลักษณะทางสัณฐานวิทยา สรีระวิทยา และชีวเคมี ซึ่งไอโซเลตที่ผลิตกรดซัก ชินิกได้สูงที่สุดในแต่ละกลุ่มถูกนำไปศึกษาด้านยืน 16S rRNA โดยไอโซเลต CN1-OB13 (กลุ่มที่ 1) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Escherichia fergusonii ATCC 35469<sup>T</sup> (99.87%) ไอโซเลต PCH6-3 (กลุ่มที่ 2) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Lactobacillus reuteri JCM 1112<sup>T</sup> (99.71%) ไอโซเลต AY5-bA2 (กลุ่มที่ 3) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Lactobacillus ruminis NBRC 102161<sup>T</sup> (99.71%) ไอโซเลต AY5-bB4 (กลุ่มที่ 4) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ *Clostridium sporogenes* DSM 795<sup>T</sup> (99.78%) ไอโซเลต PCH2-1 (กลุ่มที่ 5) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Enterococcus faecium CGMCC 1.2136<sup>T</sup> (99.86%) ไอโซเลต NP1-A2 (กลุ่มที่ 6) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 19433<sup>™</sup> (99.86%) ไอโซเลต CN2-OA2 (กลุ่มที่ 7) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Enterococcus avium ATCC 14025<sup>T</sup> (100%) ไอโซเลต NS15-bA2 (กลุ่มที่ 8) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Enterococcus hirae ATCC 9790<sup>T</sup> (100%) สุดท้ายคือ ไอโซเลต NS15-dA1 (กลุ่มที่ 9) มีความคล้ายคลึง กับ Enterococcus durans CECT411<sup>™</sup> (99.89%) โดยไอโซเลต NS15-bA2 และ NS15-dA1 สามารถผลิตกรดซัก ซินิกได้สูงสุด คือ 52.082 และ 50.862 กรัมต่อลิตร จาก 60 กรัมต่อลิตรของกลุโคสตามลำดับและไม่เคยมีรายงาน ้ว่า มีการนำไปศึกษาหาภาวะที่เหมาะต่อการผลิตกรดซักซินิก ดังนั้นทั้งสองไอโซเลตจึงถูกเลือกไปทำการศึกษาหา ภาวะที่เหมาะสมต่อการผลิตกรดซักซินิก จากนั้นศึกษาองค์ประกอบของอาหารที่มีผลต่อการผลิตกรดซักซินิก ได้แก่ แหล่งคาร์บอน (ความเข้มข้นของกลูโคส) แหล่งไนโตรเจน (อินทรีย์และอนินทรีย์) ค่าความเป็นกรด-ด่าง และ อุณหภูมิ ซึ่งภาวะที่เหมาะสมต่อการผลิตกรดซักซินิกโดยไอโซเลต NS15-dA1 และ NS15-bA2 คือ 60 กรัมต่อลิตร ของกลูโคสใช้เป็นแหล่งคาร์บอน 30 กรัมต่อลิตรของสารสกัดยีสต์ (สำหรับไอโซเลต NS15-dA1) และ 30 กรัมต่อ ลิตรของทริปโตน (สำหรับไอโซเลต NS15-bA2) ใช้เป็นแหล่งไนโตรเจน 0.2 กรัมต่อลิตรของแคลเซียมคลอไรด์ไดไฮ เดรต 0.2 กรัมต่อลิตรของแมกนี้เซียมคลอไรด์เฮกซะไฮเดรต 0.07 กรัมต่อลิตรของแมงกานีสคลอไรด์ 4.4 กรัมต่อ ลิตรของไดโซเดียมไฮโดรเจนฟอสเฟต 3.3 กรัมต่อลิตรของโซเดียมไดไฮโดรเจนฟอสเฟต 30 กรัมต่อลิตรของ แมกนีเซียมคาร์บอเนต ที่ค่าความเป็นกรด-ด่าง 7.0 อุณหภูมิ และอุณหภูมิ 37 องศาเซลเซียส เป็นเวลา 24 ชั่วโมง กรดซักซินิกสูงสุดที่ผลิตได้คือ 51.692±0.1707 กรัมต่อลิตร และ 53.051±0.3538 กรัมต่อลิตร ตามลำดับ

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

สาขาวิชา เทคโนโลยีชีวภาพ ปีการศึกษา 2558

#### # # 5672193223 : MAJOR BIOTECHNOLOGY

#### KEYWORDS: SUCCINIC ACID, PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION

NATCHA PINKIAN: SCREENING AND CHARACTERIZATION OF SUCCINIC ACID PRODUCING BACTERIA AND ITS PRODUCTION OPTIMIZATION. ADVISOR: SIRILUK TEERADAKORN, Ph.D., pp.

Succinic acid producing bacteria were isolated from 6 sources in Thailand. Firstly, a total 310 isolates, only 51 isolates were screened for their succinic acid production by selective medium plate. They showed positive on TLC method and they were confirmed to have succinic acid producing ability using HPLC. Succinic acid was obtained in the range of 0.553-52.028 g/l. They were divided into 9 groups based on morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics. Isolates produced high succinic acid from each group were selected to study 16S rRNA gene sequence. Isolate CN1-OB13 (Group I) was closely related to Escherichia fergusonii ATCC 35469<sup>T</sup> (99.87%). Isolate PCH6-3 (Group II) was closely related to *Lactobacillus* reuteri JCM 1112<sup>T</sup> (99.71%). Isolate AY5-bA2 (Group III) was closely related to *Lactobacillus* ruminis NBRC 102161<sup>T</sup> (99.71%). Isolate AY5-bB4 (Group IV) was closely related to *Clostridium* sporogenes DSM 795<sup>T</sup> (99.78%). Isolate PCH2-1 (Group V) was closely related to *Enterococcus* faecium CGMCC  $1.2136^{T}$  (99.86%). Isolate NP1-A2 (Group VI) was closely related to Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 19433<sup>T</sup> (99.86%). Isolate CN2-OA2 (Group VII) was closely related to Enterococcus avium ATCC 14025<sup>T</sup> (100%). Isolate NS15-bA2 (Group VIII) was closely related to *Enterococcus hirae* ATCC  $9790^{T}$  (100%). Lastly, isolate NS15-dA1 (Group IX) was closely related to *Enterococcus* durans CECT411<sup> $^{T}$ </sup> (99.89%). Isolate NS15-bA2 and NS15-dA1 could produce the highest succinic acid of 52.028 and 50.862 g/l from 60g/l of glucose, respectively and they were no reported of succinic acid production from other research. Thus these two isolates were selected to study optimization of succinic acid production. Next, the medium composition that affected to the succinic acid production; carbon sources (glucose concentration), nitrogen sources (organic and inorganic), pH and temperature were investigated. The optimum conditions on succinic acid production by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 was 60 g/l of glucose as a carbon source, 30 g/l of yeast extract (for isolate NS15-dA1) and 30 g/l of tryptone (for isolate NS15-bA2) as a nitrogen source, 0.2 g/l of CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 g/l of MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.07 g/l of MnCl<sub>2</sub>, 4.4 g/l of Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 3.3 g/l of NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 30 g/l of MgCO<sub>3</sub> at pH 7.0 and 37°C for 24 h. The highest succinic acid of 51.692±0.1707 g/l and 53.051±0.3538 g/l were obtained, respectively.

Field of Study: Biotechnology Academic Year: 2015 

 Student's Signature

 Advisor's Signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all I would like to sincere gratitude to my major advisor, Dr. Siriluk Teeradakorn for her full support, attention, valuable advice, suggestion and encouragement throughout my thesis. Next, I am very honored to the members of the thesis committee, Associate Professor Dr. Nattaya Ngamrojanavanich, Assistant Professor Dr. Cheewanun Dachoupakan Sirisomboon, Professor Dr. Somboon Tanasupawat and Assistant Professor Dr. Savitr Trakulnaleumsai for their thoughtful questions and valued suggestion for my thesis. Moreover, I am very grateful to Professor Dr. Somboon Tanasupawat for providing me suggestion about characterization aspect in my research.

My special thanks to all friends of Department of Biochemistry and Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences and the Institute of Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering (IBGE), Faculty of Sciences, Chulalongkorn University for their technical guidance, comments and suggestions about my research.

I am deeply grateful to Miss Sukanya Phuengjayaem, Ph.D. student in Program of Biotechnology, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University for her guidance and helpfulness throughout my research.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their love and support during my thesis. I would not have been able to complete this thesis without their support and encouragement.

## CONTENTS

THAI ABSTRACT	iv
ENGLISH ABSTRACT	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEWS	3
2.1 Succinic acid	3
2.2 Processes of succinic acid production	4
2.3 Succinic acid producing bacteria	7
2.4 Screening succinic acid producing bacteria	10
2.4.1 Selective medium	10
2.5 Characterization of succinic acid producing bacteria	11
2.5.1 Morphological characteristics	11
2.5.2 Physiological characteristics	14
2.5.3 Biochemical characteristics	15
2.5.4 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic tree analysis	20
2.6 Optimization of succinic acid production	23
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
3.1 Sample sources	26
3.2 Chemicals and reagents	26

## viii

# Page

3.3 Equipments and supplies	28
3.4 Primers	29
3.5 Methods	29
3.5.1 Preparation of samples	29
3.5.2 Screening of succinic acid producing bacteria	29
3.5.2.1 Enrichment medium	29
3.5.2.2 Solid medium (selective medium)	29
3.5.2.3 Liquid medium (production medium)	30
3.5.3 Succinic acid determination	30
3.5.3.1 Thin-layer chromatography (TLC)	30
3.5.3.2 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)	31
3.5.4 Characterization of succinic acid producing bacteria	31
3.5.4.1 Morphological characteristics	31
3.5.4.2 Physiological characteristics	31
3.5.4.3 Biochemical characteristics	31
3.5.4.4 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic analysis	33
3.5.5 Optimization of succinic acid production	35
3.5.5.1 Inoculum preparation	35
3.5.5.2 Production medium	35
3.5.5.3 Effect of glucose concentration	35
3.5.5.4 Effect of nitrogen sources	35
3.5.5.5 Effect of initial pH	36
3.5.5.6 Effect of temperature	36

# Page

3.5.6 Analysis methods	
3.5.6.1 Cell growth	
3.5.6.2 Residual sugars	
3.5.6.3 Succinic acid	
CHAPTER IV RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1 Collected samples	
4.2 Screening of succinic acid producing bacteria	41
4.2.1 Screening succinic acid producing bacteria using solid medium (selective medium)	41
4.2.2 Screening succinic acid producing bacteria using liquid medium (production medium)	43
4.3 Characterization of succinic acid producing bacteria	46
4.3.1 Morphological characteristics	46
4.3.2 Physiological characteristics	50
4.3.3 Biochemical characteristics	54
4.3.4 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic analysis	81
4.4 Optimization of succinic acid production by the potential isolates	90
4.4.1 Effect of glucose concentration	90
4.4.2 Effect of different nitrogen sources	93
4.4.3 Effect of initial pH	96
4.4.4 Effect of temperature	99
CHAPTER V CONCLUSION	103
REFERENCES	105
APPENDIX A Culture media, Reagent and Buffer preparation	117

APPENDIX B Standard curve	124
APPENDIX C The results of optimization on succinic acid production	128
APPENDIX D 16S rRNA gene sequence	132
VITA	



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University Page

## LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1. Chemical structure of succinic acid
Figure 2. Various important chemicals and products that can be synthesized from succinic acid
Figure 3. Chemical process of succinic acid production
Figure 4. Pathway of succinic acid production from glucose by bacteria in         anaerobic condition       6
Figure 5. Evolution of worldwide succinic acid production in metric ton per year 7
Figure 6. The four chambered stomach of ruminants9
Figure 7. Comparison of the gram positive and gram negative bacterial cell walls. (A) is gram positive and (B) is gram negative bacteria
Figure 8. Cell morphology consists of shapes and arrangements
<b>Figure 9.</b> Colony morphology consists of shape, margin, elevation, pigmentation and optical property
Figure 11. Isolates showing a clear zone around colonies on a selective medium 41
Figure 12. Analysis of some isolates for succinic acid production on TLC plate
Figure 13. Cell morphological based on gram stain and endospore stain
<b>Figure 14.</b> Dendrogram of the hierarchical cluster in SPSS program of rods based on morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics
<b>Figure 15.</b> Dendrogram of the hierarchical cluster in SPSS program of cocci based on morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics
Figure 16. PCR products on 1% agarose gel based on 16S rRNA gene sequence 81

Figure 17. Neighbour-joining-tree showing the phylogenetic position of 9 isolates	
based on 16S rRNA gene sequence	. 82
<b>Fi</b> rmer <b>10</b> Time a summer of marial summer (A) and call all summinists (D) where	
Figure 18. Time courses of residual sugars (A) and cell dry weight (B) when	
cultivated isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 using glucose in the range 30-90 g/l as	
a carbon source	.91
Figure 19. Succinic acid production by isolate NS15-dA1 (A) and NS15-bA2 (B)	
using glucose in the range 30-90 g/l as a carbon source	. 92
Figure 20. Effect of different nitrogen sources on succinic acid production and	
cell dry weight by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	.95
Figure 21. Effect of initial pH on succinic acid production and cell dry weight by	
isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	. 98
Figure 22. Effect of temperature on succinic acid production and cell dry weight	
by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	101



## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Performances of succinic acid production by various microorganisms	7
Table 2. Sources of succinic acid producing bacteria	8
Table 3. Characterization of some succinic acid producing bacteria	21
Table 4. Optimization of succinic acid production	24
Table 5. PCR reaction mixtures	34
Table 6. Collected samples from various sources in Thailand	39
Table 7. Isolates exhibited a clear zone in selective medium	42
Table 8. Determination of succinic acid ability of 51 isolates	44
Table 9. Morphological characteristics of 51 isolates	47
Table 10. Physiological characteristics of 51 isolates	51
Table 11. Biochemical characteristics of 51 isolates	55
Table 12. Characteristics of Group I	63
Table 13. Characteristics of Group II	65
Table 14. Characteristics of Group III	67
Table 15. Characteristics of Group IV	69
Table 16. Characteristics of Group V	71
Table 17. Characteristics of Group VI	74
Table 18. Characteristics of Group VII	76
Table 19. Characteristics of Group VIII	78
Table 20. Characteristics of Group IX	80
Table 21. Percentages similarities of isolate CN1-OB13, PCH6-3, AY5-bA2, AY5-bB4,	
PCH2-1, NP1-A2, CN2-OA2, NS15-bA2 and NS15-dA1	82

Table 22. Characteristics of 9 representative isolates from each group and type	
strains	84
Table 23. Summary of advantages and disadvantages of 9 groups	88
Table 24. Effect of glucose concentration on succinic acid production by isolate	
NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	90
Table 25. Effect of nitrogen sources on succinic acid production and cell dry	
weight by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	94
Table 26. Effect of initial pH on succinic acid production and cell dry weight by	
isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	97
Table 27. Effect of temperature on succinic acid production and cell dry weight	
by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2	100
Table 28. Summary of high succinic acid production under optimum condition	102
Table 29. Performances of succinic acid production by bacteria	102



xiv

## CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Succinic acid, also known as butanedioic acid or amber acid, is a dicarboxylic acid having the molecular formula of  $C_4H_6O_4$ . Succinic acid is a common natural organic acid present in humans, animals, plants, and microorganisms (Zeikus et al., 1999). The applications of succinic acid in agricultural, it is a known growth regulator (Dougall and Weyrauch, 1980) which can be used for seed treatment and plant rooting. In the food industry, succinic acid is used as a bread softening agent, a flavoring enhancer for beverages, and a catalyst for food seasoning preparation (Chimirri et al., 2010). In the pharmaceutical industry, succinic acid is also used in the manufacture of medicines for sedatives, antispasmers, antiplegm, antiphogistic, anrhoers, contraceptives, and cancer-curing (Sener et al., 1997). In the chemical industry, succinic acid can be used as a precursor for the production of many high value chemicals including adipic acid, 1,4-butanediol, tetrahydrofuran, 2pyrrolidinone, N-methyl pyrrolidinone and gramma-butyrolactone (Yu et al., 2011). Finally, succinic acid is a precursor to many specialized polyesters such as polybutylene succinate (PBS), polyamide (Nylon  $^{R}$  x,4) and various green solvents (Xu and Guo, 2010). Due to its versatile applications, succinic acid is demanded worldwide. The global succinic acid production is estimated between 30,000 and 50,000 tons per year. According to a survey report from Markets and Markets, the market of succinic acid is expected to grow at a rate of 18.7% from 2011 to 2016. The global market for succinic acid in terms of revenue was estimated to be worth \$182.8 million in 2010 and is expected to reach \$496.0 million by 2016 (Nattrass et al., 2013).

Processes of succinic acid production have two processes. Firstly, succinic acid is produced by chemical process. Succinic acid is produced by catalytic hydrogenation of maleic acid or anhydride and maleic anhydride. Secondary, biological process, succinic acid can be produced anaerobically through fermentation by bacteria as it is an intermediate of the reductive TCA cycle. However, biological process has been attracting interests of researchers because it affects to environmental less than chemical process. It is also notable that a greenhouse gas  $CO_2$  is fixed into succinic acid during the fermentation (Zeikus, 1980) and chemical process has high conversion cost of maleic anhydride to succinic acid (Chimirri et al., 2010).

Many microorganisms can produce succinic acid. Bacteria strains such as Ruminococcus flavefaciens, Bacteroides amylophilus, Succcinimonas amylolytica, Cytophaga succinicans and Enterococcus faecalis. Fungal strains such as Paecilomyces varioti, Aspergillus niger, and Penicillium simplicissimum. But the productivity of fungi strains is much lower when compared with the bacterial strains (Coustou et al., 2005). Succinic acid producing bacteria can screen various sources such as Succinatimonas hippie from human faeces (Morotomi et al., 2010) and Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens from human feces (Watanabe et al., 2012). However, most succinic acid producing bacteria are mainly belonging to rumen of ruminants such as the cattle, sheep, antelopes, deer and giraffes. Due to the rumen microbial ecosystem is an anaerobic environment and they have a high level of nutrient supply (10-18 percent dry matter), temperature regulation (38-41°C), pH control (6-7) by buffer in saliva. That is optimum condition for microorganisms. succinogenes 130Z (Guettler et 1999), Mannheimia Actinobacillus al., succiniproducens MBEL55E (Lee et al., 2002), Klebsiella pneumoniae (Thakker et al., 2006), Basfia succiniciproducens (Kuhnert et al., 2010) Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens (Davis et al., 1976) and Succinivibrio dextrinosolvens (Bryant and Doetsch, 1955) were screened from rumen of ruminants.

The ability of succinic acid production in bacteria is different. The environment showed significant effect on succinic acid production of bacteria including media components and fermentation parameters such as temperature and pH also showed significant effect on succinate production. Thus that should be optimized according to the strain.

The objective of this study, succinic acid producing bacteria is screened from various sources such as soil, cattle dung and rumen of ruminants. The optimum conditions for succinic acid production from potential isolates are also studied.

## CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEWS

#### 2.1 Succinic acid

Succinic acid, also known as butanedioic acid or amber acid, is a member of the C4-dicarboxylic acid family. It has the molecular formula of  $C_4H_6O_4$  and the chemical structure is shown in Figure 1 (Fieser et al., 1932).



Figure 1. Chemical structure of succinic acid (Fieser et al., 1932)

Succinic acid is a colorless crystalline solid at room temperature, has negligible vapor pressure and a melting point of 185-187°C. It is high water solubility, minimum volatility and non-flammable. Moreover succinic acid is one of the end products of anaerobic fermentation and an intermediate of tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle.

Presently, succinic acid can be used for many benefits. Various important chemicals such as 1,4-butandiol which is an important industrial solvent and raw material for polybutylene terephthalate resins, tetrahydrofuran which is a solvent and key ingredient of adhesives, printing inks, and magnetic tapes, succinate salt which is a flavor enhancer that can replace monosodium glutamate and gammabutyrolactone which is a chemical intermediate, ingredient of paint removers and textile products. Furthermore succinic acid can be used as precursors of chemical industry such as biopolymer, detergent, surfactant, corrosion inhibitors and painting compound. In addition, succinic acid is as a additives to food ingredients, biophosphors, solvent additives, flavor additives, stimulants for plant growth and pharmaceuticals intermediates (Figure 2) (Song and Lee, 2006).



Figure 2. Various important chemicals and products that can be synthesized from succinic acid (Song and Lee, 2006)

#### 2.2 Processes of succinic acid production

Currently, succinic acid is mostly produced by the chemical process, in which petroleum oil is used as a starting material. It is produced through reaction of oxidation, hydrogenation and hydration of n-butane. The first step in the reaction, petroleum oil is oxidation to n-butane. Next step, maleic anhydride is hydrogenated to succinic anhydride. The catalyst and process conditions for the hydrogenation of maleic anhydride are extremely selective with 98-99% of the maleic anhydride converted to succinic anhydride. The catalyst typically is used a Ni/Zr/Al/Si alloy. Finally step, succinic anhydride formed can be reacted with water to form succinic acid (Figure 3) (Sutton et al., 2002).



Figure 3. Chemical process of succinic acid production (Sutton et al., 2002)

In addition to chemical process, that has biological process. Firstly, renewable sources such as straw, corn stover or bagasse are digestion to glucose as a substrate. Then succinic acid is produced through anaerobic fermentation of microorganism due to succinic acid is an intermediate of the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and one of the fermentation end products of anaerobic metabolism (Figure 4). Phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) carboxylation is strongly regulated by  $CO_2$  levels. In bacteria, PEP carboxykinase functions catabolically to fix  $CO_2$  and synthesize oxaloacetate from PEP. At low  $CO_2$  levels, bacteria produce lactic acid or ethanol as a major end product. Under high  $CO_2$  levels, succinic acid is the major product and only traces of lactic acid or ethanol are produced by bacteria (Samuelov et al., 1991).



**Figure 4.** Pathway of succinic acid production from glucose by bacteria in anaerobic condition (Samuelov et al., 1991)

However chemical process for succinic acid production is continuously increasing because it uses oil as a substrate. As biological process uses renewable resources and has environment friendly approach (Kurzrock and Botz, 2010). Worldwide bio succinic acid production has grown from 15,000 metric ton a year in 1999 to the 180,000 metric ton in 2015. The reason of this increase is the growing bio succinic acid since petrochemical production has remained stable for years (Bechthold et al., 2008), it shows in Figure 5. Therefore, the biological process is interesting more than chemical process.



Figure 5. Evolution of worldwide succinic acid production in metric ton per year (Bechthold et al., 2008)

#### 2.3 Succinic acid producing bacteria

Succinic acid is produced by various microorganisms. For example bacteria including *Actinobacillus succinogenes, Enterococcus flavescens, Enterococcus faecalis, Mannheimia succiniciproducens,* and *Lactobacillus* strains and fungi such as *Aspergillus niger* and *Penicillium simplicissimum*. The most ability of succinic acid production by fungi (Table 1), that can produce succinic acid lower than bacteria. Moreover, the use of fungi has been mostly limited to the manufacture of food and beverages due to the difficulties in fermentation, separation and purification (McIntyre and McNeil, 1997). Therefore bacteria are mostly used to produce succinic acid.

#### HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Microorganisms	Substrate	Succinic acid	Yield	Productivity	Deferences
		(g/l)	(g/g)	(g/l/h)	References
A. succinogenes	Glucose	45.8	0.83	1.55	(Guettler et al., 1998)
A. succiniciproducens	Glucose	34.4	0.86	1.8	(Lee et al., 1999b)
M. succiniciproducens	Glucose	10.5	0.59	1.75	(Song et al., 2007)
E. flavescens	Sucrose	2.82	0.14	0.47	(Agarwal et al., 2007)
E. faecalis	Glycerol	153	7.65	4.25	(Kang et al., 2000)
A. niger	Glucose	55.4	0.31	0.92	(David et al., 2003)
P. simplicissimum	Glucose	0.06	0.30	0.005	(Gallmetzer et al., 2002)

Table 1. Performances of succinic acid production by various microorganisms

Succinic acid bacteria can discoved in various sources (Table 2), such as bovine rumen, human faeces and fecal of beagles dog. For example, *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens* isolated from the mouth of the beagle dog is a gram-negative obligately anaerobic bacterium that produces succinate, acetate, formate, ethanol, and lactate, from glucose and lactose (Davis et al., 1976) and *Actinobacillus succinogenes* 130Z is a ruminal, facultative anaerobic bacteria that has the ability to utilize a wide range of substrates including L-arabinose, cellobiose, fructose, galactose, glucose, lactose, maltose, mannitol, mannose, sucrose, D-xylose, and salicin (Guettler et al., 1999). This strain can produces succinate in very high concentrations, along with acetate, pyruvate, formate, or ethanol. Succinate is also produced by microorganisms isolated from the digestive system of other animals. Sources of succinic acid producing bacteria are showed in Table 2 and most of the succinic acid producing bacteria is isolated from the rumen of ruminant.

Microorganisms	Sources	References
Actinobacillus succinogenes	Bovine rumen	(Guettler et al., 1999)
Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens	Fecal of Beagles dog	(Davis et al., 1976)
Bacteroides ruminicola	Reticulo-rumen of a cow	(Bryant et al., 1958)
Bacteriodes succinogenes	Bovine rumen	(Stewart and Flint, 1989)
Basfia succiniciproducens	Bovine rumen	(Kuhnert et al., 2010)
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Rumen fluid of buffalo	(Thakker et al., 2006)
Mannheimia succiniciproducens MBEL55E	Bovine rumen	(Lee et al., 2002)
Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens	Human faeces	(Watanabe et al., 2012)
Succinatimonas hippie	Human faeces	(Morotomi et al., 2010)
Succinimonas amylolytica	Reticulo-rumen of cattle	(Bryant et al., 1958)
Succinivibrio dextrinosolvens	Rumen of cattle	(Bryant and Small, 1956)

Table 2. Sources of succinic acid producing bacteria

Ruminants have stomachs with four chambers consisted of rumen, reticulum, omasum and abomasum, as shown in Figure 6. Food is first mixed with saliva and passed to the rumen, where it is mechanically broken down to smaller pieces and next passed to the reticulum. Here the food is further broken down and separate from indigestible non-food items before it is formed into cuds. These cuds or clumps of partially degraded food are then regurgitated into the animal's mouth (re-chewed) and then re-swallowed back into the rumen. The major of the anaerobic microorganisms that aid in cellulose breakdown inhabit the rumen, during this step of digestion and fermentation begins. The partially digested food then moves to the omasum, where water, vitamins and short chain fatty-acids from fermentation are absorbed into the animal's body. Before it is passed to the abomasum, pH is decreased and enzymes are released to further break down the material. The material is further broken down and then passed to the small and large intestines where nutrients are absorbed before the waste is excreted (Leschine, 1995). The process takes about 9-12 hours.



Figure 6. The four chambered stomach of ruminants. Microorganisms live primarily in the rumen, but all four chambers are essential for digestion. (Mendez and Foresman, 2010)

In the rumen, succinic acid is an important precursor for propionate, which is absorbed through the rumen wall for subsequent oxidation to provide energy, biosynthetic precursors for the animal and it is well adapted for the maintenance of a large and diverse microbial population. There is a relatively constant supply of food and water. The temperature is relatively constant at about 39°C. The pH of the ingesta is slightly acid by the influx of food, water and heavily buffered saliva and an equilibrium between the ruminal ingesta and the blood stream with regard to H ions (Masson and Phillipson, 1951). There is a constant removal of the products of microbial growth via secondary fermentations, passage to the lower digestive tract, and absorption through the rumen wall into the blood stream. The rumen has a low oxygen tension of the gaseous phase. Moreover microorganisms in the rumen include bacteria, fungi, protozoa, archaea and viruses. Bacteria, along with protozoa, are the predominant microbes and by mass account for 40-60% of total microbial matter in the rumen. Thus most succinic acid producing bacteria is screened from rumen of ruminants.

#### 2.4 Screening succinic acid producing bacteria

#### 2.4.1 Selective medium

Selective medium is used for screening succinic acid producing bacteria. Selective medium allows the growth of certain type of microorganisms, while inhibiting the growth of other microorganisms.

In 1999, Guettler et al. (Guettler et al., 1999) found Actinobacillus succinogenes, a novel succinic acid producing strain from bovine rumen. It could produce high succinic acid. The selective medium consists of glucose 20 g/l, poly peptone 10 g/l, yeast extract 5 g/l, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 3 g/l, NaCl 1 g/l,  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  1 g/l,  $CaCl_2.2H_2O$  0.2 g/l, MgCl\_2.6H\_2O 0.2 g/l, MgCO\_3 15 g/l, agar 15 g/l and pH 6.5. Bacteria with succinic acid ability exhibits a clear zone around colony because of the selective medium with MgCO<sub>3</sub>, magnesium (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) reacts with succinic acid (C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>6</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) to succinate salt (MgC<sub>4</sub>H<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), so a clear zone is observed.

Furthermore, in 2010, Morotomi et al. (Morotomi et al., 2010) found *Succinatimonas hippie* which is a novel succinic acid producing strain from human faeces. GAM or Gifu anaerobic medium is used to screen succinic acid producing bacteria. Sodium thioglycollate and L-Cystine hydrochloride are the reducing agents added in this medium to provide adequate anaerobiosis. In 2012, Watanabe et al. (Watanabe et al., 2012) found *Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens* which is a novel succinic acid producing strain from human faeces. GAM or Gifu anaerobic medium is used to screen succinic acid producing bacteria.

Therefore, both selective mediums described above are used to screen succinic acid producing bacteria in this study.

#### 2.5 Characterization of succinic acid producing bacteria

Bacterial characterization can be described and compared with descriptions of other organisms. It was divided into four steps as follows:

#### 2.5.1 Morphological characteristics

Gram stain is a powerful, easy test that allows to different between the two major classes of bacteria. Comparison of the gram positive and gram negative bacterial cell walls are shown in Figure 7A: a gram positive bacterium has a thick peptidoglycan layer that contains teichoic and lipoteichoic acid. Figure 7B: a gram negative bacterium has a thin peptidoglycan layer and an outer membrane that contains lipopolysaccharide, phospholipids, and proteins. The periplasmic space between the cytoplasmic and outer membranes contains transport, degradative, and cell wall synthetic proteins. The outer membrane is joined to the cytoplasmic membrane at adhesion points and is attached to the peptidoglycan by lipoprotein links (Young, 2007).



Figure 7. Comparison of the gram positive and gram negative bacterial cell walls. (A) is gram positive and (B) is gram negative bacteria. (Young, 2007)

Cell morphology includes shapes and arrangements are shown in Figure 8. The three most common bacterial cell shapes are cocci, bacilli or rod (spore-forming rods: mycobacteria, corynebacteria and streptomycetes) and spirilla (vibrios, spirillum and spirochete). Arrangements of bacteria consist of diplococci (cocci in pairs), neisseriae (coffee-bean shape in pairs), tetrads (cocci in packets of 4), sarcinae (cocci in packets of 8, 16, 32 cells), streptococci (cocci in chains), micrococci and staphylococci (large cocci in irregular clusters).



Figure 8. Cell morphology consists of shapes and arrangements (Hendrix, 1998)

Colonial appearance is used to identify species of bacteria. Features of the colonies may help to pinpoint the identity of the bacterium. Different species of bacteria can produce very different colonies. Figure 9 shows colonial appearance including general surface form (circular, filamentous, irregular rhizoid and spindle), margin (entire, undulate lobate, erose, filamentous and curled), elevation (flat, raised, convex, pulvinate and umbonate), color (orange pigment, yellow, white, tan etc.) and optical property (transparent (clear), opaque (not transparent or clear), translucent (almost clear) and iridescent (changing colors in reflected light)).



Figure 9. Colony morphology consists of shape, margin, elevation, pigmentation and optical property (Acharya, 2013)

#### 2.5.2 Physiological characteristics

Growth in various salt concentrations can divide species of bacteria. Salt concentrations affect osmosis in cell. Osmophilic microorganisms can grow in high osmosis. Osmoduric microorganisms can survive in high osmosis but do not cell division. Halophilic microorganisms can grow in high salt concentrations. Haloduric microorganisms can survive to high concentrations of salt but cannot grow (Kim et al., 2014).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Optimum cells growth in the range of pH. Each species of microbe has its own characteristic range of pH values in which it grows and reproduces best. Bacteria are sensitive to the hydrogen ion concentration they find in their environment. The pH affects for large proteins, such as enzymes. Usually, the catalytic properties of the enzymes are lost and metabolism is paused (Blamire, 2000).

Optimum cells growth in different temperature. Psychrophiles can grow in cold temperatures, ranging from -20°C to 10°C. Mesophiles is an organism that grows best in moderate temperature, neither too hot nor too cold, typically between 25°C and 40°C (Ingraham, 1958). Thermophiles are heat-loving that grows at relatively high temperatures, between 41°C and 122°C (Pettipher et al., 1997). Temperature is another important factor and it also affects the growth and enzyme activity of the microorganism.

Effect of oxygen on growth. Obligate aerobes need oxygen because they cannot ferment or respire anaerobically. Obligate anaerobes (strict anaerobes) are killed by oxygen. Facultative anaerobes can grow with or without oxygen because they can metabolise energy aerobically or anaerobically. They use aerobic respiration generates more ATP than either fermentation or anaerobic respiration. Microaerophiles can grow only where a low concentration of oxygen has diffused into medium. Microaerophiles need oxygen because they cannot ferment or respire anaerobically. However, they are poisoned by high concentrations of oxygen (Todar, 2002).

#### 2.5.3 Biochemical characteristics

Catalase test is produced by bacteria that respires using oxygen and protects them from the toxic by-products of oxygen metabolism. Catalase-positive bacteria include strict aerobes as well as facultative anaerobes if they able to respire using oxygen as a terminal electron acceptor. Catalase-negative bacteria may be anaerobes or facultative anaerobes that only ferment and do not respire using oxygen as a terminal electron acceptor (Clarke and Cowan, 1952).

Oxidase test is used to determine if a bacterium produces certain cytochrome C oxidases. It uses a reagent such as *N,N,N',N'*-tetramethyl-pphenylenediamine (TMPD) or *N,N*-dimethyl-p-phenylenediamine (DMPD), which is also a redox indicator. The reagent is a dark-blue to red-brown color when oxidized and colorless when reduced. Oxidase-positive bacteria possess cytochrome oxidase or indophenol oxidase. These both catalyze the transport of electrons from donor compounds (NADH) to electron acceptors (oxygen). The reagent, TMPD dihydrochloride acts as an artificial electron donor for the enzyme oxidase. The oxidized reagent forms the colored compound indophenol blue. The cytochrome system is usually only present in aerobic organisms that are capable of using oxygen as the terminal electron acceptor. The end-product of this metabolism is either water or hydrogen peroxide (broken down by catalase) (MacFaddin, 2000).

Urease test is used to determine the ability of an organism to split urea through the production of the enzyme urease. Many organisms have a urease enzyme which is able to split urea in the presence of water to release ammonia and carbon dioxide (Canteros et al., 1996). The ammonia combines with carbon dioxide and water to form ammonium carbonate that shows in Figure 10.

# $(NH_2)_2CO + 2H_2O \longrightarrow CO_2 + H_2O + 2NH_3$

Figure 10. Reaction of urea produces ammonia and CO<sub>2</sub> (Cooper and Spencer, 1998)

Gelatin liquefaction is used to determine the ability of an organism to produce a gelatinase that hydrolyzes gelatin. Gelatinase allows the organisms that produce it to break down gelatin into smaller polypeptides, peptides, and amino acids that can cross the cell membrane and be utilized by the organism (Clarke and Cowan, 1952).

Lipase production is used to determine the ability of an organism to produce a lipase that hydrolyzes triglyceride. Lipases break down lipids. Organisms produce lipase that break down lipids into smaller fragments. Triglycerides are composed of glycerol and three fatty acids. The end products that can be used by the cell in energy production or other processes (Clarke and Cowan, 1952).

Gas production is produced by bacteria from carbohydrate such as glucose as a carbon source. When microbes ferment glucose, they produce gases mainly carbon dioxide and hydrogen. These gases bubble up through the medium and escape into the atmosphere. Tubes of broth media can be made with inverted tubes called Durham tubes. Gas producing microbes generate enough gas to force the medium from the tube, filling it with bubbles (Hayward, 1957). Lysine decarboxylase is used to determine microbe that can use the amino acid lysine as a source of carbon and energy for growth (Falkow, 1958).

Ornithine decarboxylase is used to break ornithine down into putrescine and CO<sub>2</sub>. Ornithine is not found in proteins but it is a raw material that bacteria convert into other essential molecules (Fay and Barry, 1972).

Casein hydrolysis is used to determine an organism that can produce the exoenzyme casesase. Casease is secreted out of the cells into the surrounding media, catalyzing the breakdown of milk protein, called casein, into small peptides and individual amino acids which are then taken up by the organism for energy use or as building material. The hydrolysis reaction causes the milk agar, normally the opacity of real milk, to clear around the growth area as the casein protein is converted into soluble and transparent end products-small chains of amino acids, dipeptides and polypeptides (Medina and Baresi, 2007).

Indole production is used to determine the ability of the organism to convert tryptophan into the indole. This division is performed by a chain of a number of different intracellular enzymes, a system generally referred to as tryptophanase. Indole is generated by reductive deamination from tryptophan via the intermediate molecule indolepyruvic acid. Tryptophanase catalyzes the deamination reaction, during which the amine (NH<sub>2</sub>) group of the tryptophan molecule is removed. Final products of the reaction are indole, pyruvic acid, ammonium (NH<sup>4+</sup>) and energy. Pyridoxal phosphate is required as a coenzyme (MacFaddin, 2000).

Methyl Red (MR) is used to determine different bacteria that convert dextrose and glucose to pyruvate using different metabolic pathways. Some of these pathways produce unstable acidic products which quickly convert to neutral compounds. Some bacteria use the butylene glycol pathway which produces neutral end products including acetoin and 2,3-butanediol. Other bacteria use the mixed acid pathway which produces acidic end products such as lactic, acetic, and formic acid. These acidic end products are stable and will remain acidic (Tille, 2014). Voges-Proskauer test (VP) is used to detect organisms that utilize the butylene glycol pathway and produce acetoin. When the VP reagents are added to VP broth that has been inoculated with an organism that uses the butylene glycol pathway, the acetoin end product is oxidized in the presence of potassium hydroxide (KOH) to diacetyl. Creatine is also present in the reagent as a catalyst (Tille, 2014).

Citrate utilization is used to determine the ability of bacteria to utilize sodium citrate as its only carbon source and inorganic ( $NH_4H_2PO_4$ ) is the sole fixed nitrogen source. When an organic acid such as citrate is used as a carbon and energy source, alkaline carbonates and bicarbonates are produced ultimately. In addition, ammonium hydroxide is produced when the ammonium salts in the medium are used as the sole nitrogen source (Betty et al., 2007).

Arginine hydrolysis is used to determine bacteria that can use amino acid or arginine as a source of carbon and energy for growth. Use of arginine is accomplished by the enzyme arginine dihydrolase. A medium consists of arginine and a pH indicator. When arginine is used, the pH of the medium rises and the indicator changes color (Chen et al., 1982).

Phenylalanine deaminase is used to determine the ability of an organism to produce the enzyme deaminase. This enzyme removes the amine group from the amino acid phenylalanine and releases the amine group as free ammonia. As a result of this reaction, phenylpyruvic acid is also produced (Ederer et al., 1971).

Nitrate reduction is used for differentiation of bacteria on the basis of their ability to produce nitrate reductase enzyme that hydrolyze nitrate  $(NO_3^{-})$  to nitrite  $(NO_2^{-})$  which may then again be degraded to various nitrogen products like nitrogen oxide, nitrous oxide and ammonia  $(NH_3)$  depending on the enzyme system of the organisms and the atmosphere in which it is growing. In uninoculated nitrate broth and with cultures of organisms that do not reduce nitrate, the test for nitrite is negative until zinc dust or other reducing agent is added to the culture medium to reduce the nitrate contained in it. To detect small amounts residual nitrate the

amount of zinc added may be critical (Zobell, 1932). The tests are very sensitive and it is important to check the uninoculated medium for nitrite, which should not be present.

Starch hydrolysis is used to determine bacteria with ability to use starch as a carbon source for growth with an enzyme alpha-amylase. A medium consist of starch is used. After inoculation and overnight incubation, iodine reagent is added to detect the presence of starch. Iodine reagent complexes with starch to form a blue-black color in the culture medium. Clear zone a round colony is indicative of their ability to digest the starch in the medium due to the presence of alpha-amylase (Evans et al., 2004).

Slime formation is produced by some species. Slime is a polysaccharide layer that lies outside the cell envelope of bacteria. Slime formation can be found in both gram negative bacteria and gram positive bacteria. They should not be confused with bacterial outer membrane, which contains lipopolysaccharides and lipoproteins and is found only in gram negative bacteria (Yoshida et al., 2000).

Acid from carbohydrates is a metabolic process performed by almost all types of bacteria. This will result in the production of ATP that is the ultimate energy source of the organism and happen either in the presence or absence of atmospheric oxygen. The enzyme systems in bacteria allow them to oxidize environmental nutrient sources. Bacteria will use different energy sources in the medium depends on the specific enzymes of each bacteria. Many bacteria possess the enzymes system required for the oxidation and utilization of the simple sugar such as glucose. Some bacteria have the ability to degrade complex carbohydrates like lactose, sucrose or even polysaccharides. Such bacterium should possess the enzymes that should cleave the glycosidic bonds between the sugar units and the resulting simple carbohydrate can be transported into the cell. Lactose is a disaccharide consisting of the glucose and galactose connected by glycosidic bond. The bacteria which produce the enzyme lactase will break this bond and thus release free glucose that can be easily utilized by the organism. The characteristics feature of the enzyme production in the bacteria enables them to use diverse carbohydrates and this will aid in the identification of unknown bacteria (Morello et al., 1985).

#### 2.5.4 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic tree analysis

They are used to identified bacteria due to the rRNA gene is the most conserved (least variable) DNA in all cells. Portions of the rDNA sequence from distantly related organisms are remarkably similar. This means that sequences from distantly related organisms can be precisely aligned, making the true differences easy to measure. For this reason, genes that encode the rRNA (rDNA) have been used extensively to determine taxonomy, phylogeny (evolutionary relationships) and to estimate rates of species divergence among bacteria (Janda and Abbott, 2007). Thus the comparison of 16S rRNA gene sequence can show evolutionary relatedness among microorganisms.

Characterization of some succinic acid producing bacteria is shown in Table 3.
Table 3. Characterizatio	n of some succinic a	acid producing bacter	ia		
Species	Morphological	Physiological	Biochemical	16S rRNA gene sequence	References
	characteristics	characteristics	characteristics	and phylogenetic analysis	
Actinobacillus	- Gram negative	- Mesophilic	- Positive for catalase, oxidase,	- The most closely	(Guettler et
succinogenes	- Rod or	- Growth at 37-39°C	<b>β</b> -galactosidase (ONPG) and nitrate	related members of the	al., 1999)
strain 130Z <sup>T</sup>	coccobacillus.	- No growth at 20°C	reduction	family <i>Pasteurellaceae</i>	
	- Non-motile	or 45°C	- Negative for arginine dihydrolase,	have 16S rRNA gene	
	- Non-spore-forming	- No growth in NaCl	lysine decarboxylase, ornithine	similarities of 95.5%	
	- Facultatively	4.5% (w/v)	decarboxylase, citrate utilization, H <sub>2</sub> S,	- Based upon	
	anaerobic		urease, indole, tryptophan	morphological and	
			deaminase, the Voges-Proskauer test,	biochemical properties,	
			gelatin hydrolysis and gas production	strain 130ZT is most	
			- Produce acid from amygdalin,	similar to members of the	
			L-arabinose, cellobiose, D-fructose,	genus Actinobacillus	
			galactose, gluconate, D-glucose,	- Strain 130ZT be	
			lactose, maltose, D-mannose,	classified as a new	
			D-mannitol, raffinose, D-ribose,	species, Actinobacillus	
			D-sorbitol, salicin, sucrose and	succinogenes.	
			D-xylose		
			- Not produce acid from D-arabinose,		
			L-xylose, L-rhamnose, D-melibiose,		
			trehalose, D-lyxose and L-arabitol		

Species	Morphological	Physiological	Biochemical	16S rRNA gene sequence	References
	characteristics	characteristics	characteristics	and phylogenetic analysis	
Klebsiella	- Gram negative	- Growth at 10 and	- Positive for Voges-Proskauer test, lysine	The most closely of	(Thakker et
pneumoniae	- Rod-shaped.	37-39°C	decarboxylase and urease	Klebsiella sp. have 16s rRNA	al., 2006)
strain SAP	- Non-motile	- No growth at	- Negative for gas production, arginine	gene similarities of 96.9%.	
	- Facultatively	44.5°C	dihydrolase, and gelatin hydrolysis	The taxonomic	
	anaerobic		- Produce acid from D-glucose,	position of isolate SAP was	
			galactose, L-rhamnose, sucrose, maltose,	concluded to be new strain of	
			mannose, cellobiose, xylose, melibiose,	Klebsiella pneumoniae	
			lactose, D-mannitol, raffinose and		
			D-sorbitol		
			- Not produce acid from L-arabinose,		
		ER!	fructose and ribose		
Succinatimonas	- Gram negative	- Growth at 35-40°C	- Positive for acid phosphatase, alanine	- The most closely associated	(Morotomi
hippei	- Rod-shaped.	- No growth at 30	arylamidase and arginine arylamidase	with the members of the	et al.,
	- Non-motile	and 45°C	- Negative for catalase, oxidase, urease,	family Succinivibrionaceae	2010)
	- Non-spore-forming		hydrolysis of aesculin and gelatin and	have 16s rRNA gene similarities	
	- Strictly anaerobic		nitrate reduction	of 87.9-92.3%.	
			- Produce acid from D-glucose, maltose,	-Phenotypic and	
			and xylose	chemotaxonomic data suggest	
			- Not produce acid from lactose, D-	that strain YIT 12066 $^{ op}$	
			mannitol L-rhamnose, D-sorbitol and	represents a novel species of a	
			sucrose	new genus	

Table 3. Characterization of some succinic acid producing bacteria (continued)

22

# 2.6 Optimization of succinic acid production

Production medium

In 2010, Li et al. (Li et al., 2010) studied succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. Production medium consists of glucose 60 g/l, yeast extract 30 g/l, urea 2 g/l,  $CaCl_2.2H_2O$  0.2 g/l,  $MgCl_2.6H_2O$  0.2 g/l,  $MnCl_2$  0.07 g/l,  $Na_2HPO_4$  4.4 g/l,  $NaH_2PO_4$  3.3 g/l,  $MgCO_3$  30 g/l and pH to 7.0. The result showed 45.8 g/l of succinic acid and a high yield of 1.23 g/g glucose. Optimum conditions of succinic acid production were studied by various researches as shown in Table 4.

In this study, four variables consist of initial glucose concentration, different nitrogen sources, initial pH and temperature that affects succinic acid production are investigated.

Chulalongkorn University

_		_				
Species	Carbon sources	Nitrogen sources	Initial pH	Temperature (°C)	Succinic acid (g/l)	References
Anaerobiospirillum	Glucose 0.5, 1.0, 2.0,	Yeast extract, Polypeptone,	6.5	39°C	3.0 g/l of succinic acid from	(Lee et al.,
succiniciproducens	5, 10, 20 and 40 g/l	Peptone, Soytone, Tryptone,			- 10 g/l of glucose	1999b)
		Beef extract and Casamino			- 4 g/l of polypeptone	
		acid			- pH 7.0 and 39°C	
Bacteroides fragilis	Glucose 5, 10, 15,	Yeast extract, Beef extract,	4.5, 5.0, 5.5,	20, 25, 30, 35, 37,	2.8 g/l succinic acid from	(Isar et al.,
	20, 25, 30, 35 and	Peptone, Tryptone, Malt	6.0, 6.5, 7.0, 7.5	39, 45 and 50°C	- 15 g/l of glucose	2006)
	40 g/l	extract, Corn steep liquor,	and 8.0		- 25 g/l of peptone	
		$(\rm NH_4)_2 \rm HPO_4, \rm NH_4 \rm Cl ~ and ~ \rm NaNO_3$			- pH 6.5	
					- 37°C	
Enterococcus	Glucose, Fructose,	Yeast extract, Tryptone,	4.0, 4.5, 5.0,	25, 30, 35, 37, 39,	2.82 g/l of succinic acid from	(Agarwal et
flavescens	Maltose, Xylose,	Corn steep liquor,	5.5, 6.0, 6.5,	45 and 50°C	- 20 g/l of sucrose	al., 2007)
	Sucrose, Lactose,	Beef extract, Urea,	7.0, 7.5, 8.0, 8.5		- 2 g/l of yeast extract	
	Galactose, Cane	$NH_4Cl$ , $(NH_4)_3PO_4$ , $(NH_4)NO_3$ ,	and 9.0		- pH 6.5	
	molasses, Starch,	(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> , (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> , KNO <sub>3</sub>			- 39°C	
	Glycerol, Sorbitol,	and NaNO <sub>3</sub>				
	Mannitol, Rhamnose					
	and Arabinose					
Actinobacillus	Molasses 0, 5, 10, 15	Yeast extract, Peptone,	7.0	37°C	46.4 g/l of succinic acid from	(Liu et al.,
succinogenes	and 20 g/l	Corn steep liquor,			- 65 g/l of molasses	2008)
CGMCC1593		Beef extract, Dry yeast cell,			- 10 g/l of yeast extract	
		$\rm NH_4Cl$ and $\rm KNO_3$			-pH 7.0 and 37°C	

Table 4. Optimization of succinic acid production

Species	Carbon sources	Nitrogen sources	Initial pH	Temperature (°C)	Succinic acid (g/l)	References
Mannheimia	Glucose 5 g/l	Yeast extract, Peptone,	6.0, 6.5, 7.0 and	36, 39, 42 and	3.67 g/l of succinic acid	(Oh et al.,
succiniciproducens		Tryptone, Malt extract,	7.5	45°C	from	2009)
LPK7		Beef extract and Urea			- 5 g/l of glucose	
					- 3 g/l of yeast extract	
					- pH 7.5	
					- 39°C	
Mannheimia	Glucose 5, 10, 15,	Yeast extract 0, 1 and 2 g/l	5.0, 5.5, 6.0, 6.5,	30, 32, 35 and	15 g/l of succinic acid from	(Raja and
succiniciproducens	20 and 25 g/l	Peptone 0, 2 and 5 g/l	7.0, 7.5, 8.0 and	36°C	- 20 g/l of glucose	Dhanasekar,
MBEL55E			8.5		- 2 g/l yeast extract	2011)
					- pH 6.5	
					- 37°C	
Actinobacillus	Glucose 10, 30, 50,	- Yeast extract	7.0	37°C	35.5 g/l of succinic acid	(Chen et
succinogenes	70 and 90 g/l	- Yeast cell hydrolysate			from - 50 g/l of sucrose	al., 2011)
		(YCH)			- 15 g/l of Yeast cell	
					hydrolysate (YCH)	
					- pH 7.0	
					- 37°C	

#### CHAPTER III

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1 Sample sources

Sample sources including soils in Suphanburi, Surin and Nakhonpathom provinces, chicken manure in Suphanburi province, cattle dung in Nakhonsawan province, bovine rumen from a slaughter house in Nakhonsawan province, tree bark in Ayutthaya and pig manure in Chainat province, Thailand.

#### 3.2 Chemicals and reagents

Chemicals	Company, country
Agar	Fluka, Germany
Agarose	Ajax Chemicals, Australia
Ammonium sulfate ( $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ )	Merck, Germany
D-Amygdalin (C <sub>20</sub> H <sub>27</sub> NO <sub>11</sub> )	Wako, Japan
L-Arabinose ( $C_5H_{10}O_5$ )	Wako, Japan
L-Arginine hydrochloride	Alfa Aesar, UK
Biotin	Fluka, Germany
Calcium chloride dihydrate (CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O)	Merck, Germany
Cellobiose ( $C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}$ )	Sigma, U.S.A
D-Fructose ( $C_6H_{12}O_6$ )	Ajax Chemicals, Australia
D-Galactose (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )	Ajax Chemicals, Australia
D-Glucose (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )	Ajax Chemicals, Australia
Lactose ( $C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}$ )	Wako, Japan
Magnesium carbonate (MgCO <sub>3</sub> )	Sigma-Aldrich, U.S.A
Maltose (C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>22</sub> O <sub>11</sub> )	Wako, Japan
D-Mannitol (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>14</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )	Wako, Japan
D-Mannose (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )	Wako, Japan

Chemicals	Company, country
Melibiose (C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>22</sub> O <sub>11</sub> )	Wako, Japan
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside (C <sub>7</sub> H <sub>14</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )	Alfa Aesar, UK
Poly peptone	Wako, Japan
di-Potassium hydrogen phosphate (K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> )	Merck, Germany
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate (KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> )	Merck, Germany
Potassium nitrate (KNO <sub>3</sub> )	Merck, Germany
D-Raffinose pentahydrate (C <sub>18</sub> H <sub>32</sub> O <sub>16</sub> .5H <sub>2</sub> O)	Wako, Japan
L-Rhamnose monohydrate (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>5</sub> .H <sub>2</sub> O)	Wako, Japan
D-Ribose ( $C_5H_{10}O_5$ )	Wako, Japan
D-Salicin (C <sub>13</sub> H <sub>18</sub> O <sub>7</sub> )	Sigma-Aldrich, U.S.A
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	Ajax Chemicals, Australia
Sodium dihydrogen phosphate (NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> )	Merck, Germany
Sodium hydrogen phosphate (Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> )	Merck, Germany
Sodium gluconate (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>7</sub> )	Wako, Japan
D-Sorbitol (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>14</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )	Wako, Japan
Sucrose $(C_{12}H_{22}O_{11})$	Merck, Germany
Sulfuric acid (H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> )	Merck, Germany
Thiamine	Fluka, Germany
Trehalose dihydrate (C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>22</sub> O <sub>11</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O)	Wako, Japan
Urea (CH <sub>4</sub> N <sub>2</sub> O)	Sigma-Aldrich, U.S.A
D-Xylose (C <sub>5</sub> H <sub>10</sub> O <sub>5</sub> )	Wako, Japan
Yeast extract	Bio Springer, France
Zinc dust	Sigma-Aldrich, U.S.A

# 3.3 Equipments and supplies

Equipments and Supplies	Company, country
Aminex HPX-87H, 300 x 7.8 mm	Bio-Rad Laboratories.Inc., U.S.A
Autoclave (HV-50)	Hirayama manufacturing Corp., Japan
Bench-top centrifuge, WiseSpin <sup>®</sup> (CF10)	Dihan scientific Co., Ltd., South Korea
Cellulose membrane acetate filter	Sartorius Stedim Biotech GmbH,
(pore size 0.45 µm, 13 mmØ)	Germany
Freezer (-80°C) (SF-C697)	Sanyo Commercial Solution, Ltd.,
	Thailand.
Gel/PCR DNA Fragments Extraction Kit	Geneaid Biotech, Taiwan
DF100/DF300	
High Performance Liquid Chromatography	LC-10AD, Shimadzu Corporation,
(HPLC)	Japan
Incubator (MIR 152)	Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd. Japan
Mupid <sup>®</sup> -EXU Submarine electrophoresis	Advance Co, Ltd., Japan
system	ายาลัย
pH meter (Accumet® AB15)	Fisher Scientific, Singapore
Refrigerated incubator shaker (Innova™	New Brunswick Scientific Co., Inc.,
4330)	U.S.A
T100™ Thermal Cycler	Bio-Rad, Singapore
TLC plate (Silica gel 60G F254)	Merck, Germany
UV-Visible recording spectrophotometer	Hitachi, U.S.A
(U-5100 Ratio-Beam)	

#### 3.4 Primers

Primers	Company, country
20 forward primer (Weisburg et al., 1991)	Thermo Scientific, Korea
(5'-AGTTTGATCCTGGCTC-3', Tm=48.3)	
1530 reverse primer (Weisburg et al., 1991)	Thermo Scientific, Korea
(5'-AAGGAGGTGATCCAGCC-3', Tm=54.1)	

#### 3.5 Methods

#### 3.5.1 Preparation of samples

All samples including soils, chicken manure, cattle dung, bovine rumen, tree bark and pig manure were packed in bags and stored at 4°C until use to screen for succinic acid producing bacteria. In case of bovine rumen, it was blended with sterile water (five-fold dilution) to create a suspension before use.

#### 3.5.2 Screening of succinic acid producing bacteria

3.5.2.1 Enrichment medium

Three grams of cattle dung, chicken manure, soil, tree bark, pig manure and 50  $\mu$ l of bovine rumen suspension were added in 5 ml of enrichment medium. The enrichment medium containing per liter: 20 g glucose, 5 g poly peptone, 3 g yeast extract, 5 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 2 g NaCl, 2 g (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.4 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 15 g MgCO<sub>3</sub>, of NaN<sub>3</sub> and adjusted pH to 6.5 (Lee et al., 2002). The enrichment medium was steriled by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min. Incubation condition was at 37°C under anaerobe for 72 h.

3.5.2.2 Solid medium (selective medium)

Fifty µl of sample were spread onto the modified Gifu anaerobic medium (GAM; Nissui Pharmaceutical) (Appendix A-1) with additional 15 g/l of agar (Morotomi et al., 2010). Plates were incubated at 37°C for 72 h under anaerobic conditions. Single colonies were selected, streaked on GAM agar and incubated in

the same as previous condition. Then the single colonies were picked and transferred to selective medium for succinic acid producing ability (Agarwal et al., 2005). Incubation condition was at 37°C under anaerobe for 24 h. The selective medium containing per liter: 20 g glucose, 10 g poly peptone, 5 g yeast extract, 3 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1 g NaCl, 1 g (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 15 g MgCO<sub>3</sub>, 15 g of agar and adjusted pH to 6.5 (Guettler et al., 1999). The selective medium was steriled by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min. Isolates with succinic acid producing ability which exhibited a clear zone around colony were selected.

#### 3.5.2.3 Liquid medium (production medium)

The Isolates with succinic acid producing ability were picked up and transferred to a production medium. The production medium containing, per liter: 60 g glucose, 30 g yeast extract, 2 g urea, 0.2 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.07 g MnCl<sub>2</sub>, 4.4 g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 3.3 g NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 30 g of MgCO<sub>3</sub> and adjusted pH to 7.0. The production medium was steriled by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min. Glucose was separately sterilized at 115°C for 20 min and added to the production medium. Biotin (0.3  $\mu$ g/l) and thiamin (0.2  $\mu$ g/l) were prepared by sterile membrane filtration (0.22  $\mu$ m nylon, Millipore Express, Ireland) and added to the production medium after that were steriled. Incubation condition was at 37°C for 72 h under anaerobe (Li et al., 2010). Then isolates produced succinic acid, the culture broth was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatants were analyzed for the presence of succinic acid using thin-layer chromatography (TLC) for qualitative test and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for quantitative test.

#### 3.5.3 Succinic acid determination

#### 3.5.3.1 Thin-layer chromatography (TLC)

The test samples (10  $\mu$ l) and standard (succinic acid) 2 g/l were spotted onto a silica gel TLC plates and resolved using a solvent system comprised of ethanol, NH<sub>4</sub>OH and water (20:5:3 v/v). A standard solution (1 mg/ml) of succinic acid was used as a reference. After 30 min, the air dried plates were sprayed with bromocresol green (0.04% w/v in ethanol) and heated at 160°C for 5 min to reveal the organic acid spots (Agarwal et al., 2005).

3.5.3.2 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Fermentation products (succinic acid) were analyzed by HPLC (highperformance liquid chromatography) system equipped with a cation-exclusion column and a refractive index detector. The mobile phase is 5 mM  $H_2SO_4$  solution at a flow rate of 0.6 ml/min and the column was operated at 55°C (Agarwal et al., 2005).

# 3.5.4 Characterization of succinic acid producing bacteria

3.5.4.1 Morphological characteristics

Isolates were observed including gram stain (Appendix A-3) (Hucker and Conn, 1923), endospore stain (Appendix A-4) (Schaeffer and Fulton, 1933), cell morphology and colony appearance (color, shape, margin, optical property and elevation) after grown on GAM agar plate at 37°C under anaerobe for 3 days (Tanasupawat and Okada, 1998).

หาลงกรณมหาวทยาลัย

3.5.4.2 Physiological characteristics

Isolates were examined after grown in GAM broth at  $37^{\circ}$ C under anaerobe for 72 h. Then they were dropped into medium for test. Growth in different NaCl concentrations (2% and 6% w/v NaCl), at pH values (3-9) and different temperatures (20-50°C) was tested using MRS broth (MRS; de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe) (Appendix A-2). The pH was adjusted with steriled 6M HCl and 6M NaOH (Barrow and Feltham, 1993).

#### 3.5.4.3 Biochemical characteristics

Isolates were examined after grown in GAM broth at 37°C under anaerobe for 72 h. Then they were diluted using 0.85% NaCl solution (Tanasupawat and Okada, 1998) and dropped into medium for the following tests: Catalase test, isolates were grown overnight on GAM agar plate and transferred to microscope slide. Then 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Appendix A-5) was dropped onto colony on the microscope slide. After 5 min, any sign of bubbling was interpreted as a positive test. The absence of bubbling was interpreted as negative (Gagnon et al., 1959).

Gas production, isolates was determined by Durham tube, a smaller inverted tube which could serve as a trap for gas bubbles generated during fermentation of glucose. A positive test was acidic medium with visible displacement of the gas from the Durham tube (Barrow and Feltham, 1993).

Arginine hydrolysis, isolates were transferred to a sterile tube of arginine broth (Appendix A-6.1). Incubation condition was at 37°C for up to 5 days. After that a pink color showed the presence of positive reaction (Niven et al., 1942).

Nitrate reduction, isolates were dropped into nitrate broth (Appendix A-7.1) and inoculated for up to 5 days. Then sulfanilic acid solution (Appendix A-7.2) was added 3 drops and followed by 2 drops of *N*,*N*-dimethyl-l-naphthylamine solution (Appendix A-7.3). After 3 min a deep red color showed the presence of nitrite and thus the nitrate was reduced, indicated a positive reaction. But the result showed no color, added a small amount of zinc. After 5 min a color change to red indicated a negative reaction because nitrate must have been present and reduced to form nitrite (Conn and Breed, 1919).

Starch hydrolysis, isolates were streaked on starch agar plate (Appendix A-8.1). After incubation condition was at 37°C under anaerobe for 24 h, iodine reagent (Appendix A-8.2) was added to flood the plate. Clear zone around colonies was positive test. A deep purple to black or bluish color of the agar indicates that starch has not been hydrolyzed and thus a negative test (Iverson and Millis, 1974).

Slime formation, isolates were streaked on 2% sucrose agar plate (Appendix A-9.1). Then incubation condition was at 37°C under anaerobe for 24 h.

Some bacteria produce a levan as the extracellular polysaccharide. The colonies appear very slimy, mucoidal and runny or as large gum drops on the agar. Some bacteria might produce dextrans in which the colonies were dry and adherent to the plate. A negative reaction was the failure to see extracellular material on the 2% sucrose agar by visual inspection or adherence with a loop (Barrow and Feltham, 1993).

Acid from carbohydrates, isolates were transferred to a sterile tube of medium test (Appendix A-10.1). The medium test had carbon sources containing D-amygdalin, L-arabinose, cellobiose, D-fructose, glucose, gluconate, D-galactose, lactose, maltose, D-mannitol, D-mannose, melibiose,  $\infty$ -methyl-D-glucoside, raffinose, rhamnose, ribose, salicin, sorbitol, sucrose, trehalose and D-xylose. Incubation condition was at 37°C for up to 5 days. A positive reaction was recorded when the broth turns yellow. A negative reaction was when no color change occurs. A definite color change that was not quite yellow may be interpreted as a weak positive reaction (Barrow and Feltham, 1993).

The results from phenotypic characteristics were grouped using a hierarchical cluster in statistical package for the social sciences for windows (SPSS) program (version 15.0).

#### LALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

3.5.4.4 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic analysis

Isolates produced the highest succinic acid from each group were analyzed by colony polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Colonies were picked up and transferred to microtube contained 30  $\mu$ l sterile distilled water. Then this microtube was boiled 95°C for 3-5 min. Amplification of the 16S rRNA gene was carried out in 50  $\mu$ l of PCR reaction mixture. PCR reaction mixtures were shown in Table 5 (Tanasupawat et al., 2004).

Table 5. PCR reaction mixtures

PCR reaction/strain	Volume (µl)
Sterile distilled water	30.75
10X PCR buffer	5
MgCl <sub>2</sub> (25 mM)	4
Primers (10 <i>p</i> mol/µl)	
20F (5'-AGTTTGATCCTGGCTC-3') (Weisburg et al., 1991)	2
1530R (5'-AAGGAGGTGATCCAGCC-3') (Weisburg et al., 1991)	2
dNTP (2 mM)	1
Taq DNA polymerase (5 U/µl)	0.25
Total	. 50

Amplification consisted of 30 PCR cycles. The cycling program was initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min followed by 30 cycles of denaturation 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 50 °C for 2 min, elongation at 72°C for 2 min. The PCR was ended with a final extension at 72°C for 3 min and amplified product was cool at 4°C. PCR product was checked with agarose gel electrophoresis (Appendix A-11.2) and after that 16S rRNA fragments were purified by Gel/PCR DNA Fragments Extraction Kit DF100/DF300 (Geneaid Biotech, Taiwan). The amplified 16S rRNA gene sequence was analyzed by Macrogen®, Korea (Tanasupawat et al., 2004).

Sequence alignment was corrected manually by using the program BioEdit (version 7.0.2). The sequence databases contained over 1000 sequences were saved by the program Notepad (version 6.2). The sequence similarity were compared the database from EzTaxon (www.ezbiocloud.net/eztaxon). Multiple alignments of the sequences determined were performed with a program CLUSTAL\_X (version 1.83) (Tamura et al., 2011). A phylogenetic tree was constructed by the neighbor-joining method with (Saitou and Nei, 1987) the program MEGA (version 6.0) (Tamura et al., 2011). The confidence values of individual branches in the phylogenetic tree were determined by using the bootstrap analysis of Felsenstein based on 1000 replications (Felsenstein, 1985).

#### 3.5.5 Optimization of succinic acid production

3.5.5.1 Inoculum preparation

Succinic acid producing bacteria, maintained in 10% skim milk and stored at -80°C, was propagated on modified GAM agar plate and incubated at 37°C under anaerobe. The inoculum was prepared by adding a loop full of pure culture from modified GAM agar plate into 30 ml of GAM broth in 50 ml flask and incubated at 37°C under anaerobe for 24 h in the incubator shaker at 200 rpm.

3.5.5.2 Production medium

Five percentage of inoculum (OD600 of 3.2) was transferred to a production medium and incubated at 37°C under anaerobe for 24 h. The production medium was prepared as described in Section 3.5.2.3. Cell growth was monitored by measuring the absorbance at 660 nm (OD660) using a spectrophotometer. Cell dry weight (CDW) was calculated from a standard curve relating the OD660 to CDW. After that the culture broth was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatants were filtered with 0.45  $\mu$ m cellulose membrane and analyzed for the presence of succinic acid using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and residual reducing sugar with DNS method (Li et al., 2010).

GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

3.5.5.3 Effect of glucose concentration

Different concentration of glucose (30, 60, 90 g/l) was investigated. The culture broth was incubated at 37°C under anaerobe condition for 72 h in the incubator shaker at 200 rpm.

#### 3.5.5.4 Effect of nitrogen sources

Different type of nitrogen sources (yeast extract, peptone, tryptone, urea, KNO<sub>3</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>) was investigated. The culture broth was incubated at 37°C under anaerobe condition for 24 h in the incubator shaker at 200 rpm.

Different initial pH 5.0, 5.5, 6.0, 6.5, 7.0, 7.5 and 8.0 was investigated. The production medium was adjusted with 5M HCl and 5M NaOH. The culture broth was incubated at 37°C under anaerobe condition for 24 h in the incubator shaker at 200 rpm.

#### 3.5.5.6 Effect of temperature

Different temperature at 35, 37 and 39°C was investigated. The culture broth was incubated at 35, 37 and 39°C under anaerobe condition for 24 h in the refrigerated incubator shaker at 200 rpm.

#### 3.5.6 Analysis methods

#### 3.5.6.1 Cell growth

After the desired incubation period, cell growth was monitored by measuring the absorbance at 660 nm (OD660) using a spectrophotometer. 0.5 M HCl was added to samples (2:1 v/v) in order to dissolve MgCO<sub>3</sub> to form soluble magnesium chloride and carbon dioxide (Lin et al., 2008). Cell dry weight (CDW) was calculated from a standard curve relating the OD660 to CDW (Appendix B-2).

3.5.6.2 Residual sugars

The culture broth was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatants of 50 µl transferred to microtube and 150 µl of DNS reagent was added (Appendix A-12). After that the mixture was boiled using water bath for 5 min to redbrown color. Then cooling to room temperature and 1 ml of distilled water was added to the mixture. Record the absorbance with a spectrophotometer at 540 nm against the blank (Miller, 1959).

#### 3.5.6.3 Succinic acid

The culture broth was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 min and the supernatants were filtered with 0.45  $\mu$ m cellulose membrane. Succinic acid was

determined using HPLC with a RI detector. The analysis was performed using a Bio-Rad Aminex-87H column. The analysis conditions were as follows: sample volume 20  $\mu$ l, 0.005 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> as a mobile phase, flow rate 0.6 ml/min and column temperature at 45°C (Agarwal et al. 2005).



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### CHAPTER IV

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Collected samples

Samples were collected 6 times from various sources in Thailand (Table 6) as follows:

The first times, eighteen isolates were obtained from soils which were collected from upper layer of soils in Suphanburi and Suratthani provinces.

The second times, sixty-five isolates were obtained from chicken manure (Hybrid Chickens) which collected from Suphanburi and 60 isolates were obtained from cattle dung (American Brahman Cattle) which was collected from Anantapong farm in Nakhonsawan province.

The third times, sixteen isolates were obtained from soils which were collected from upper layer of soils in Nakhonpathom province.

The fourth times, twenty-seven isolates were obtained from bovine rumen which was collected from Anantapong farm in Nakhonsawan province.

The fifth times, twenty-nine isolates were obtained from tree bark which was collected the second layer of bark (Bodhi Tree) from Ayutthaya province.

Lastly, ninety-five isolates were obtained from pig manure (Large White) which was collected from Chainat province.

Total 310 isolates were obtained from six sources in five provinces in Thailand.

Times	Samples	Province	Number of isolates
1	Soil (SPI/B)	Suphanburi	12
	Soil (SRI/A,B)	Suratthani	6
		Total	18
2	Chicken manure (SP4-A,B)	Suphanburi	16
	Chicken manure (SP5-A,B)	Suphanburi	10
	Chicken manure (SP6-A,B)	Suphanburi	7
	Chicken manure (SP7-A,B)	Suphanburi	8
	Chicken manure (SP8-A ,B)	Suphanburi	15
	Chicken manure (SP9-A,B)	Suphanburi	5
	Chicken manure (SP10-A,B)	Suphanburi	4
		Total	65
1	Cattle dung (NS1-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	6
	Cattle dung (NS2-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	6
	Cattle dung (NS3-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	7
	Cattle dung (NS4-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	3
	Cattle dung (NS5-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	6
	Cattle dung (NS6-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	6
	Cattle dung (NS7-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	4
	Cattle dung (NS8-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	4
	Cattle dung (NS9-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	4
	Cattle dung (NS10-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	4
	Cattle dung (NS11-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	4
	Cattle dung (NS12-A,B)	Nakhonsawan	6
		Total	60
		Total	125

 Table 6. Collected samples from various sources in Thailand

Times	Samples	Province	Number of isolates
3	Soil (NP1-A)	Nakhonpathom	4
	Soil (NP3-A,B)	Nakhonpathom	5
	Soil (NP5-A/B)	Nakhonpathom	4
	Soil (NP6-B)	Nakhonpathom	3
		Total	16
4	Bovine rumen (NS13-a,b,c)	Nakhonsawan	7
	Bovine rumen (NS14-a,b,c,d)	Nakhonsawan	9
	Bovine rumen (NS15-a,b,c,d)	Nakhonsawan	11
		Total	27
5	Tree bark (AY1-a,b)	Ayutthaya	6
	Tree bark (AY2-a,b)	Ayutthaya	4
	Tree bark (AY3-a,b)	Ayutthaya	10
	Tree bark (AY4-a,b)	Ayutthaya	3
	Tree bark (AY5-a,b)	Ayutthaya	6
		Total	29
6	Pig manure (CN1-O)	Chainat	10
	Pig manure (CN2-O)	Chainat	9
	Pig manure (CN3-O)	Chainat	6
	Pig manure (CN4-O)	Chainat	9
	Pig manure (CN5-O)	Chainat	2
	Pig manure (CN6-O)	Chainat	1
	Pig manure (CN1-6, PCH1-6)	Chainat	12
		Total	95
	Total		310

 Table 6. Samples were collected from various sources in Thailand (continued)

### 4.2 Screening of succinic acid producing bacteria

# 4.2.1 Screening succinic acid producing bacteria using solid medium (selective medium)

Selective medium screened bacteria that produce organic acid, including acetic acid, lactic acid, formic acid and succinic acid, and they could grow in anaerobic condition. Bacteria produced succinic acid as they exhibited a clear zone around colonies on selective medium. Due to the screening medium with MgCO<sub>3</sub>, magnesium (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) reacted with succinic acid (C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>6</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) to succinate salt (MgC<sub>4</sub>H<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), so a clear zone was observed.

Out of a total of 310 isolates, only 51 isolates could produce succinic acid as they exhibited a clear zone around colonies on selective medium plate (Figure 11). Fifty-one isolates included 3 isolates from soil, 6 isolates from chicken manure, 4 isolates from cattle dung, 5 isolates from bovine rumen, 8 isolates from tree bark and 25 isolates from pig manure (Table 7).



Figure 11. Isolates showing a clear zone around colonies on a selective medium

Table 7. Isolates	exhibited a clear zone in selective medium	

Tir	mes/Sources	Isolates	Total
1	Soil	SPI-B2, SRI-B1	2
2	Chicken manure	SP4-B5, SP5-A6, SP5-B4, SP8-A4, SP8-B1 ,SP10-B4	10
	Cattle dung	NS2-A1, NS2-A3, NS2-B3, NS3-B1	
3	Soil	NP1-A2	1
4	Bovine rumen	NS14-aA2, NS15-aB2, NS15-bA2, NS14-dB1, NS15-dA1	5
5	Tree bark	AY2-aA1, AY3-bA1, AY4-aA1, AY5-aB1, AY5-bA2, AY5-bB3,	8
		AY5-bB4, AY5-bB6	
6 Pig manure CN1-OB13, CN1-OB22, CN2-OA2, CN2-OB4, CN3-OB51,		25	
		CN4-OA1, CN4-OB21, CN6-OB1, CN1-A1, CN1-B21, CN1-B3,	
		CN2-A1, CN2-B5, CN3-B1, CN4-B1, CN5-A21, CN5-B11,CN5-B12,	
		CN5-B2, CN6-B2, PCH1-2, PCH2-1 ,PCH4-3, PCH6-2, PCH6-3	
		Total	51



# 4.2.2 Screening succinic acid producing bacteria using liquid medium (production medium)

Fifty-one isolates exhibited a clear zone around colonies were further analyzed with TLC. A standard succinic acid showed a clear yellow spot as shown in Figure 12. The positive isolates such as NS15-dA1, NS2-A3, AY5-bB4 and CN2-OA2 showed an  $R_f$  of 0.56. The  $R_f$  was calculated from distance of the spot on the TLCplate/distance of the solvent front. The  $R_f$  values of other isolates were showed in Table 8.



Figure 12. Analysis of some isolates for succinic acid production on TLC plate. 1: Standard succinic acid; 2: isolate NS15-dA1; 3: isolate NS2-A3; 4: isolate AY5-bB4; 5: isolate CN2-OA2.

All 51 isolates were confirmed to have succinic acid producing ability using HPLC. Succinic acid concentrations in the range of 0.5529-52.028 g/l and yield of succinic acid in the range of 0.009-0.867 g/g glucose were obtained from 60 g/l of glucose as a carbon source. Isolate NS15-bA2 from bovine rumen was able to produce greater amounts of succinic acid than other isolates (Table 8).

Therefore, all 51 isolates could produce succinic acid. They showed positive result in TLC and HPLC method.

Icolates	TLC method	HPLC m	nethod
isolales -	R <sub>f</sub> value	Succinic acid (g/l)	Yield (g/g glucose)
SPI-B2	0.55	1.938	0.032
SRI-B1	0.55	1.808	0.030
SP4-B5	0.57	41.291	0.688
SP5-A6	0.57	44.377	0.740
SP5-B4	0.57	42.589	0.710
SP8-A4	0.57	40.082	0.668
SP8-B1	0.55	39.931	0.666
SP10-B4	0.55	42.910	0.715
NS2-A1	0.55	38.846	0.647
NS2-A3	0.56	37.119	0.619
NS2-B3	0.56	40.861	0.681
NS3-B1	0.56	38.482	0.641
NP1-A2	0.56	49.415	0.824
NS14-aA2	0.57	48.355	0.806
NS15-aB2	0.57	46.478	0.775
NS15-bA2	0.57	52.028	0.867
NS14-dB1	<b>G</b> 0.57 <b>O</b> 0.57	47.861	0.798
NS15-dA1	0.56	50.862	0.848
AY2-aA1	0.55	3.831	0.064
AY3-bA1	0.55	12.914	0.215
AY4-aA1	0.55	29.143	0.486
AY5-aB1	0.55	5.170	0.086
AY5-bA2	0.55	8.096	0.135
AY5-bB3	0.55	0.553	0.009
AY5-bB4	0.56	3.157	0.053
AY5-bB6	0.55	7.056	0.118

Table 8. Determination of succinic acid ability of 51 isolates

 $\ast$  Standard succinic acid showed an  $R_{f}$  of 0.55, 0.56 and 0.57

Isolatos	TLC method	HPLC	method
isolales –	R <sub>f</sub> value	Succinic acid (g/l)	Yield (g/g glucose)
CN1-OB13	0.56	49.036	0.817
CN1-OB22	0.56	41.103	0.685
CN2-OA2	0.56	48.892	0.815
CN2-OB4	0.55	45.591	0.760
CN3-OB51	0.55	45.086	0.751
CN4-OA1	0.55	42.834	0.714
CN4-OB21	0.55	43.255	0.721
CN6-OB1	0.56	47.651	0.794
CN1-A1	0.56	46.294	0.772
CN1-B21	0.58	44.312	0.739
CN1-B3	0.58	45.832	0.764
CN2-A1	0.56	4.128	0.069
CN2-B5	0.58	1.447	0.024
CN3-B1	0.58	3.430	0.057
CN4-B1	0.56	2.103	0.035
CN5-A21	0.55	45.160	0.753
CN5-B11	0.55	39.620	0.660
CN5-B12	0.56	44.102	0.735
CN5-B2	0.55	42.747	0.712
CN6-B2	0.56	34.614	0.577
PCH1-2	0.56	46.454	0.774
PCH2-1	0.55	50.411	0.840
PCH4-3	0.55	6.362	0.106
PCH6-2	0.55	43.709	0.728
PCH6-3	0.55	5.686	0.095
51 isolates		0.553-52.028	0.009-0.867

Table 8. Determination of succinic acid ability of 51 isolates (continued)

 $^{\ast}$  Standard succinic acid showed an  $R_{f}$  of 0.55, 0.56 and 0.58

# 4.3 Characterization of succinic acid producing bacteria

### 4.3.1 Morphological characteristics

All isolates with succinic acid production ability were studied for morphological characteristics. The result of morphological characteristics of 51 isolates was shown in Table 9. Out of a total of 51 isolates, only 21 isolates were rods consisted of 10 isolates were gram negative (Figure 13A), 7 isolates were gram positive (Figure 13B) and 4 isolates were gram positive and spore forming (Figure 13C). The other isolates were gram positive and cocci (coccus, cocci in pair and cocci in chain) (Figure 13D).



**Figure 13.** Cell morphological based on gram stain and endospore stain (A, Gram negative rods; B, Gram positive rods; C, Gram positive rods and spore forming; D, Gram positive cocci/pair/chain)

lsolates	Gram stain	0	cell morphology			Colony a	ppearance	
		Shape	Spore	Color	Shape	Margin	Optical property	Elevation
CN1-0B13	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Convex
CN1-0B22	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN2-OB4	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN4-OA1	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN1-B3	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN1-A1	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN5-A21	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN5-B11	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN5-B12	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
CN6-B2	Negative	Rods	Non-spore forming	Yellow	Circular	Entire	Translucent	Translucent
			Total	2	2		10 isc	olates
AY5-bA2	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
AY5-bB6	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
CN2-A1	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
CN3-B1	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
CN4-B1	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
PCH4-3	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
PCH6-3	Positive	Rods	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Flat
			Total				7 isol	atec

47

Isolates	Gram stain		Cell morphology			Colony appe	arance	
		Shape	Spore	Color	Shape	Margin	Optical property	Elevation
SRI-B1	Positive	Rods	Spore forming	Yellow-gray	Circular	Irregular	Opaque	Flat
AY5-bB3	Positive	Rods	Spore forming	Yellow-gray	Circular	Irregular	Opaque	Flat
AY5-bB4	Positive	Rods	Spore forming	Yellow-gray	Circular	Irregular	Opaque	Flat
CN2-B5	Positive	Rods	Spore forming	Yellow-gray	Circular	Irregular	Opaque	Flat
			Total			N.	4 isola	ites
SPI-B2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
SP4-B5	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
SP5-A6	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
SP5-B4	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
SP8-A4	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
SP8-B1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
SP10-B4	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS2-A1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS2-A3	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS2-B3	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS3-B1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NP1-A2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS14-aA2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS15-aB2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex

Table 9. Morphological characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

Isolates	Gram stain		Cell morphology			Colony appe	arance	
		Shape	Spore	Color	Shape	Margin	Optical property	Elevation
NS15-bA2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS14-dB1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
NS15-dA1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
AY2-aA1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
AY3-bA1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
AY4-aA1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
AY5-aB1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
CN2-OA2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
CN3-OB51	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
CN4-OB21	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
CN6-OB1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
CN1-B21	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
CN5-B2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
PCH1-2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
PCH2-1	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
PCH6-2	Positive	Cocci	Non-spore forming	White	Circular	Entire	Opaque	Convex
			Total				30 isoli	ates

Table 9. Morphological characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

# 4.3.2 Physiological characteristics

The results of physiological characteristics were shown in Table 10. All 51 isolates could grow in 2% and 6% NaCl, at pH 5-7 and 20-45°C. No growth was observed at pH 3. Most isolates were facultative anaerobes but only 4 isolates, SRI-B1, AY5-bB3, AY5-bB4 and CN2-B2, were microaerophiles. The bacterial physiology at pH 9.0 and growth at 50°C showed different reactions.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Isolates				Physi	ological ch	aracteristics						
	2% NaCl	6% NaCl	pH 3.0	pH 5.0	pH 7.0	0.9 Hq	20°C	30°C	37°C	45°C	50°C	O2
CN1-OB13	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		Facultative anaerobe
CN1-OB22	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
CN2-OB4	+	+	ı	Ļ	+	+	+	+	+	+	,	Facultative anaerobe
CN4-OA1	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
CN1-B3	+		ı	183 A40	+	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
CN1-A1	+	ı	ı	N£I	+		+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
CN5-A21	+	+	ı	ณม KQR	+	+		+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
CN5-B11	+	+	ı	и <b>-</b> 1	+	+	4+	+	172	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
CN5-B12	+	+	ı	1 M 8	+	+	+	+	+	+	,	Facultative anaerobe
CN6-B2	+	+	ı	E <b>F</b>	4	+	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
AY5-bA2	+	+	ı	e Sity	+	+	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
AY5-bB6	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
CN2-A1	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
CN3-B1	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
CN4-B1	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
PCH4-3	+	+	ı	+	+	,	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
PCH6-3	+	+	ı	+	+	,	+	+	+	+		Facultative anaerobe

Table 10. Physiological characteristics of 51 isolates

Isolates				Phys	iological c	characterist	ics					
	2% NaCl	6% NaCl	рН 3.0	pH 5.0	pH 7.0	0.9 Hq	20°C	30°C	37°C	45°C	50°C	02
SRI-B1	+			+	+			+	+	+	+	Microaerophile
AY5-bB3	+	+	ı	+	+		ı	+	+	+	,	Microaerophile
AY5-bB4	+	+	ı	Gi	+		ı	+	+	+	,	Microaerophile
CN2-B5	+	+	ı	UĻA	+	-	1	+	+	+		Microaerophile
SPI-B2	+	+	ı	LQI	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
SP4-B5	+	+	ı	IGK	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
SP5-A6	+	+	ı	ORN	+	+	t	8 +	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
SP5-B4	+	+		Ļ	+	+	+	+		+	+	Facultative anaerobe
SP8-A4	+	+	·	NI¥I	+	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
SP8-B1	+	+	'	ER£	¥) +	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
SP10-B4	+	+	'	Τ¥	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
NS2-A1	+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	·	Facultative anaerobe
NS2-A3	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
NS2-B3	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	,	Facultative anaerobe
NS3-B1	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		Facultative anaerobe
NP1-A2	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
NS14-aA2	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
NS15-aB2	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe

Table 10. Physiological characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

52

	)											
Isolates				Physic	ological cł	haracteristi	S					
	2% NaCl	6% NaCl	pH 3.0	pH 5.0	pH 7.0	0.9 Hq	20°C	30°C	37°C	45°C	50°C	0 <sup>2</sup>
NS15-bA2	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+		Facultative anaerobe
NS14-dB1	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
NS15-dA1	+	+	ı	Ç	+	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
AY2-aA1	+	+		UL/	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
AY3-bA1	+	+	·	LOI	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
AY4-aA1	+	+	·	IĢK	+	1 +	+	+	+	+	I	Facultative anaerobe
AY5-aB1	+	+		OŖN	+ มัมา	+	+	+	)// + 9	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
CN2-OA2	+	+	·	+	+ 11วิ	+	+	+		+	I	Facultative anaerobe
CN3-OB51	+	+	·	NIVI +	+ ทย	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
CN4-OB21	+	+		ERŞ	าลัย	+	+	+	+	+	ı	Facultative anaerobe
CN6-OB1	+	+		TY +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
CN1-B21	+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	I	Facultative anaerobe
CN5-B2	+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
PCH1-2	+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
PCH2-1	+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe
PCH6-2	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Facultative anaerobe

Table 10. Physiological characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

# 4.3.3 Biochemical characteristics

The results of biochemical characteristics were shown in Table 11. All 51 isolates showed negative reactions to starch hydrolysis and slime formation. But catalase, gas production, arginine hydrolysis, nitrate reduction and acid from carbohydrates showed different reaction in Table 11.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Catalase	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gas production	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Arginine hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Starch hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Slime formation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:										
D-Amygdalin*	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	+	+
L-Arabinose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Cellobiose	+	+	+	)) +	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+	<b>_+</b>	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	// +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol*	+	4	ି <del>+</del>	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
D-Mannose	0.*	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose		-	-	-	101	-	-	-	-	-
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Raffinose	จุพา	ลงก <u>ร</u> ถ	<u>ณ์ม</u> ห	าวิทย	าล <u>์</u> ย	-	-	-	-	-
Rhamnose*	Chula	LONGK	(OR+	UN+V	ERŞIT	Υ+	-	+	-	+
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+
Sorbitol*	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	-
Sucrose	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xvlose*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-

Table 11. Biochemical characteristics of 51 isolates

+, Test was positive or acid was produced; -, test was negative or no acid produced

\*, Different reactions

1, CN1-OB13; 2, CN1-OB22; 3, CN2-OB4; 4, CN4-OA1; 5, CN1-B3; 6, CN1-A1; 7, CN5-A21; 8, CN5-B11;

9, CN5-B12; 10, CN6-B2

Characteristics	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
Catalase*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+
Gas production*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+
Arginine hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Starch hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Slime formation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:										
D-Amygdalin*	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-
L-Arabinose	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cellobiose*	+	+	+	) <del> </del>	+	+	+	-	-	+
D-Fructose	+	+	o+ 1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	-
Gluconate	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	/+ <sup>P</sup>	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose*	-	+	- (	.  -	- (	-	-	-	+	-
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	-	1 Street	• <u>©1</u> •••••	<b>D</b> -N	-	-	-	-	-	-
D-Mannose*	0t	+	+	+	ßt	+	+	-	-	-
Melibiose*	+	+	+	+	01	+	-	-	-	-
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	+	-		-	-	-	-	+	-	+
Raffinose*	จุฬาล	งกุรถ	เมุหา	วิทยา	າສຸຍ	+	+	+	-	-
Rhamnose*	HULAL	ongk	OP41 I	JNIVE	RSIT	+	-	-	-	-
Ribose*	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
Salicin*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
Sorbitol	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sucrose*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	-
Trehalose	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
D-Xvlose*	-	-	+	-	-	+	_	_	_	_

Table 11. Biochemical characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

+, Test was positive or acid was produced; -, test was negative or no acid produced

\*, Different reactions

11, AY5-bA2; 12, AY5-bB6; 13, CN2-A1; 14, CN3-B1; 15, CN4-B1; 16, PCH4-3; 17, PCH6-3; 18, SRI-B1;

19, AY5-bB3; 20, AY5-bB4
Characteristics	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
Catalase*	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production*	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Nitrate reduction*	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Starch hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Slime formation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:										
D-Amygdalin*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-Arabinose*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Cellobiose*	-	+	1/+/2	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+ 0	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose*	_//	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose	- 4/	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol*	- 2	+ 0	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose*	0	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose*	2.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	+	- ,	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Raffinose*	<u>หาล</u> ุงก	รณิม	หาวิว	ทยาส	181 <mark>+</mark>	-	-	-	-	-
Rhamnose* CH	ULAL-ON	GI40R	+	+	SIŦY	+	-	-	+	-
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Sorbitol*	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-
Sucrose*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Trehalose*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xvlose*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

Table 11. Biochemical characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

\*, Different reactions

21, CN2-B5; 22, SPI-B2; 23, SP5-A6; 24, SP5-B4; 25, SP8-B1; 26; SP10-B4; 27, NS2-A3; 28, AY2-aA1;

29, NS14-aA2; 30, NS15-aB2

Characteristics	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40
Catalase	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Starch hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Slime formation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:										
D-Amygdalin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-Arabinose*	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+
Cellobiose	+	+	1+12	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	t o	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	/+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose*	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	+
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	<b>)</b> +	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose*	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	-	- ,	-	-		-	-	-	+	-
Raffinose	ุพา <u>ล</u> งเ	າร <u></u> ณม	1 <u>N</u> 13	ท <u>ย</u> า:	ล <u>ย</u>	-	-	-	-	-
Rhamnose*	IULALON	IG <del>I</del> KOI	RN U	NI¥EF	<b>is<del>i</del>ty</b>	-	-	+	+	-
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Sorbitol*	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+
Sucrose*	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-
Trehalose*	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+

Table 11. Biochemical characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

+

\*, Different reactions

D-Xylose\*

31, NS14-dB1; 32, CN3-OB51; 33, CN5-B2; 34, PCH1-2; 35, PCH2-1; 36, NP1-A2; 37, CN6-OB1; 38, SP8-A4;

+

+

+

-

-

+

-

-

39, AY5-aB1; 40, CN2-OA2

Characteristics	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49	50	51
Catalase	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis*	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Starch hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Slime formation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:											
D-Amygdalin*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+
L-Arabinose*	-	+			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cellobiose	+	+	<b>+</b> 11/	142	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+	i +9	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	/+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate*	+	+	//	-	<u>_</u>	-	-	+	-	+	-
Glucose	+ /	(+)	t-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose	+	+	+	C+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose*	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol*	+	+			-	+	-	-	-	-	-
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose*	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	_	+	-		-	-	+	-	-	-	-
Raffinose*	- 4 M.I	-	-		+	- 1	+	-	-	-	+
Rhamnose*	GHL	LQNG	<b>K</b> QRI	+	IV <u>E</u> RS	SI <u>t</u> y	-	-	-	-	-
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
Sorbitol*	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
Sucrose*	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 11. Biochemical characteristics of 51 isolates (continued)

\*, Different reaction

41, CN4-OB21; 42, CN1-B21; 43, SP4-B5; 44, NS2-A1; 45, NS2-B3; 46, NS3-B1; 47, NS15-bA2; 48, NS15-dA1;

49, AY3-bA1; 50, AY4-aA1; 51, PCH6-2

The results from morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristic were grouped using a hierarchical cluster in the statistical package for the social sciences for windows (SPSS) program. Fifty-one isolates were divided 9 groups (Figure 14 and 15). Group I, II, III and IV were rods as Group V, VI, VII, VIII and IX were cocci and the results from characteristics of each group were shown in Table 12 to 20.



**Figure 14.** Dendrogram of the hierarchical cluster in SPSS program of rods based on morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics





### Group I of isolates

Group I comprised of 10 isolates, namely, CN5-B12, CN5-A21, CN1-OB22, CN6-B2, CN1-OB13, CN1-B3, CN2-OB4, CN5-B11, CN1-A1 and CN4-OA1. Group I was screened from pig manure. All isolates were gram negative, rods and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, raised and translucent. Group I grew in the presence of 2% NaCl, at 20-45°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at 50°C and pH 3. They showed positive reactions to catalase, gas production and nitrate reduction. They showed negative reactions to arginine hydrolysis, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. Acid from L-arabinose, cellobiose, D-fructose, D-galactose, gluconate, glucose, lactose, maltose, D-mannitol, D-mannose, rhamnose, ribose, sorbitol and trehalose were positive reaction. But growth in 6% NaCl and acid from D-amygdalin, rhamnose, salicin and D-xylose showed different reaction in Table 12.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group I could produce succinic acid in the range 34.614-49.036 g/l. Isolate CN1-OB13 produced the highest succinic acid of 49.036 g/l so isolate CN1-OB13 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Growth in 6% NaCl*	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+
Growth at 45°C	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at $50^{\circ}$ C	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Catalase	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gas production	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Arginine hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Acid from:										
D-Amygdalin*	+	+		+	-	-	-	-	+	-
L-Arabinose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Cellobiose	+	+	Q+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	+	at i	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+	+	+	-	t	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose	-		í <del>.</del>	3	-	-	-	-	-	-
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside		- -	- N H		តេ ខ	-	-	-	-	-
Raffinose	JL <u>A</u> LO	DN <u>G</u> K	OR <u>N</u> I	UNIV	ERSIT	Υ	-	-	-	-
Rhamnose*	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+
Sorbitol*	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+
Sucrose	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose*	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+

\*, Different reactions

1, CN5-B12; 2, CN5-A21; 3, CN1-OB22; 4, CN6-B2; 5, CN1-OB13; 6, CN1-B3; 7, CN2-OB4; 8, CN5-B11;

9, CN1-A1; 10, CN4-OA1

### Group II of isolates

Group II comprised of 2 isolates, namely, PCH4-3 and PCH6-3. Group II was screened from pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, rods and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, opaque and flat. Group II showed positive reactions to gas production and arginine hydrolysis. They negative reactions to catalase, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2%, 6% NaCl, at 20-45°C and pH 5-7. No growth was observed at 50°C, pH 3 and pH 9. Acid from L-arabinose, D-fructose, D-galactose, glucose, lactose, maltose, D-mannitol,  $\infty$ -methyl-D-glucoside, rhamnose, salicin, sorbitol, and trehalose were negative reaction. But acid from D-amygdalin, gluconate, raffinose and D-xylose showed different reaction in Table 13.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group II could produce succinic acid of 5.686 and 6.362 g/l. Isolate PCH6-3 produced the highest succinic acid of 6.362 g/l so isolate PCH6-3 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

Characteristics	1	2	
Growth in 6% NaCl	+	+	
Growth at 45°C	+	+	
Growth at $50^{\circ}$ C	-	-	
Catalase	-	-	
Gas production	+	+	
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	
Nitrate reduction	-	-	
Acid from:			
D-Amygdalin*		-	
L-Arabinose		+	
Cellobiose		-	
D-Fructose	+	+	
D-Galactose		+	
Gluconate*		-	
Glucose		+	
Lactose		+	
Maltose		+	
D-Mannitol	0	-	
D-Mannose	+	+	
Melibiose	+	+	
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	จัพ เสขารแมห เวทยาสย	-	
Raffinose*	GHULALONGKORN <u>UNIVERSITY</u>	+	
Rhamnose	-	-	
Ribose	+	+	
Salicin	-	-	
Sorbitol	-	-	
Sucrose	+	+	
Trehalose	-	-	
D-Xylose*	+	-	

Table 13. Characteristics of Group II

\*, Different reactions

1, PCH4-3; 2, PCH6-3

#### Group III of isolates

Group III comprised of 5 isolates, namely, CN2-A1, CN4-B1, AY5-bA2, CN3-B1 and AY5-bB6. Group III was screened from tree bark and pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, short rods and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, opaque and convex. Group III showed positive reactions to arginine hydrolysis. They negative reactions to catalase, gas production, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2%, 6% NaCl, at 20-37°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at 50°C and pH 3. Acid from cellobiose, D-fructose, D-galactose, gluconate, glucose, maltose, D-mannose, raffinose and salicin were positive reaction, while L-arabinose, D-mannitol, sorbitol, trehalose and Dxylose were negative reaction. But acid from D-amygdalin, lactose,  $\infty$ -Methyl-Dglucoside, rhamnose, ribose, sucrose and D-xylose showed different reactions in Table 14.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group III could produce succinic acid in the range 2.103-8.098 g/l. Isolate AY5-bA2 produced the highest succinic acid of 8.098 g/l so isolate AY5-bA2 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	5
Growth in 6% NaCl	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 45°C	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at $50^{\circ}$ C	-	-	-	-	-
Catalase	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:					
D-Amygdalin*	+	+	+	+	-
L-Arabinose			1	-	-
Cellobiose	+	e e	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	7/1 +	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose*	- //	1000	- F	-	+
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	0-	ALEN ALEA		-	-
D-Mannose	+	+	/++	+	+
Melibiose*	+	-	+	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	จุฬาลงก	รณมหาว	ทยาลย +	-	-
Raffinose	IULALON	gko <u>p</u> n U	NIVERSITY	+	+
Rhamnose*	+	-	-	-	-
Ribose*	+	-	-	-	-
Salicin	+	+	+	+	+
Sorbitol	-	-	-	-	-
Sucrose*	+	+	-	+	+
Trehalose	-	-	-	-	-
$D-Xylose^*$	+	_	_	-	-

\*, Different reactions

1, CN2-A1; 2, CN4-B; 3, AY5-bA2; 4, CN3-B1; 5, AY5-bB6

#### Group IV of isolates

Group IV comprised of 4 isolates, namely, AY5-bB3, AY5-bB4, CN2-B5 and SRI-B1. Group IV was screened from soil, tree bark and pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, rods, spore forming and microaerophiles. Colonies were yellow-gray, circular, irregular, opaque and flat. Group IV showed positive reactions to catalase and gas production. They negative reactions to arginine hydrolysis, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2% NaCl, at 30-45°C and pH 5-7. No growth was observed at 20°C, pH 3 and 9. Acid from D-fructose, gluconate, glucose, maltose, were positive reaction, while D-amygdalin, L-arabinose, D-mannitol, D-mannose, melibiose, rhamnose, sorbitol, trehalose and D-xylose were negative reaction. But growth in 6% NaCl, at 50°C and acid from cellobiose, Dgalactose, lactose,  $\infty$ -methyl-D-glucoside, ribose, salicin and sucrose showed different reaction in Table 15.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group IV could produce succinic acid in the range 1.447-3.157 g/l. Isolate AY5-bB4 produced the highest succinic acid of 3.157 g/l so isolate AY5-bB4 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Characteristics	1	2	3	4
Growth in 6% NaCl*	+	+	+	-
Growth at $45^{\circ}$ C	+	+	+	+
Growth at 50°C*	-	-	-	+
Catalase	+	+	+	+
Gas production	+	+	+	+
Arginine hydrolysis	-	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-
Acid from:				
D-Amygdalin	5 A A A	-	-	-
L-Arabinose	111-11-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1	, <sup>1</sup> . <u>-</u>	-	-
Cellobiose*	<u> </u>	+	-	-
D-Fructose		+	+	+
D-Galactose*	+		+	-
Gluconate	- A A	+	+	+
Glucose	+	+	+	+
Lactose*	+	<u>-</u>	-	-
Maltose		+	+	+
D-Mannitol	EQUINALIZE	-6)-	-	-
D-Mannose			-	-
Melibiose		-	-	-
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	าสงกรณมหาวท	ยาลย +	+	+
Raffinose*	alongkor <u>n</u> Uni	VERS <u>I</u> TY	-	+
Rhamnose	-	-	-	-
Ribose*	-	-	+	-
Salicin*	-	+	-	+
Sorbitol	-	-	-	-
Sucrose*	+	-	-	-
Trehalose	-	-	-	-
D-Xylose	-	-	_	-

Table 15. Characteristics of Group IV

\*, Different reactions

1, AY5-bB3; 2, AY5-bB4; 3, CN2-B5; 4, SRI-B1

#### Group V of isolates

Group V comprised of 14 isolates, namely, SP10-B4, NS14-aA2, SP5-B4, AY2aA1, NS2-A3, SP5-A6, SP8-B1, PCH1-2, CN3-OB51, NS15-aB2, NS14-dB1, SPI-B2, CN5-B2 and PCH2-1. Group V was screened from soil, chicken manure, cattle dung, bovine rumen and pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, cocci and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, opaque and convex. Group V showed positive reactions to arginine hydrolysis. They negative reactions to catalase, gas production, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2%, 6% NaCl, at 20-50°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at pH 3. Acid from D-amygdalin, L-arabinose, cellobiose, D-fructose, Dgalactose, gluconate, glucose, lactose, maltose, D-mannitol, D-mannose, melibiose, ribose, salicin, sucrose, trehalose and D-xylose were positive reaction, while  $\infty$ -Methyl-D-glucoside was negative reaction. But acid from sorbitol and rhamnose showed different reaction in Table 16.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group V could produce succinic acid in the range 1.938-50.411 g/l. Isolate PCH2-1 produced the highest succinic acid of 50.411 g/l so isolate PCH2-1 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 16. Characteristics of Group V

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
Growth in 6% NaCl	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at $45^{\circ}$ C	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at $50^{\circ}$ C	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Catalase	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:											
D-Amygdalin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-Arabinose	+	+	+	1.4	2+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Cellobiose	+	+	+	g + j	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	/+/	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	4/	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+ 🧕	+	+	+	+	<i>(</i> )+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	<u>_</u> 3 v	<u>-</u>	กรณ	มหาก	าทยา	នេ ម -	-	-	-	-	-
Raffinose*	GHU	LALO	NG <u></u> KO	R <u>N</u> U	IN <u>I</u> VE	RSĮTY	+	-	-	-	-
Rhamnose*	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Sorbitol*	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
Sucrose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

\*, Different reactions

1, SP10-B4; 2, NS14-aA2; 3, SP5-B4; 4, AY2-aA1; 5, NS2-A3; 6, SP5-A6; 7, SP8-B1; 8, PCH1-2; 9, CN3-OB51;

10, NS15-aB2; 11, NS14-dB1

Characteristics	12	13	14
Growth at 6% NaCl	+	+	+
Growth at $45^{\circ}$ C	+	+	+
Growth at 50°C	+	+	+
Catalase	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	+
Nitrate reduction*	+	-	-
Acid from:			
D-Amygdalin		+	+
L-Arabinose	+ 1/1/200	+	+
Cellobiose	+	+	+
D-Fructose		+	+
D-Galactose		+	+
Gluconate		+	+
Glucose		+	+
Lactose	+	+	+
Maltose		+	+
D-Mannitol	+ O	+	+
D-Mannose	+	+	+
Melibiose	+	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย	-	-
Raffinose	CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT	Υ	-
Rhamnose*	+	-	-
Ribose	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	+
Sorbitol*	+	-	-
Sucrose	+	+	+
Trehalose	+	+	+
D-Xylose	+	+	+

Table 16. Characteristics of Group V (continued)

\*, Different reactions

12, SPI-B2; 13, CN5-B2; 14, PCH2-1

### Group VI of isolates

Group VI comprised of 2 isolates, namely, NP1-A2 and CN6-OB1. They were screened from soil and pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, cocci and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, opaque and convex. GroupVI showed positive reactions to arginine hydrolysis. They negative reactions to catalase, gas production, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2%, 6% NaCl, at 20-45°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at 50°C and pH 3. Acid from D-amygdalin, cellobiose, D-fructose, Dgalactose, gluconate, glucose, maltose, D-mannitol, D-mannose, ribose, salicin, sorbitol and were positive reaction, while L-arabinose, melibiose,  $\infty$ -methyl-Dglucoside, raffinose, rhamnose and D-xylose were negative reaction. But acid from lactose, rhamnose, sucrose and trehalose showed different reaction in Table 17.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group VI could produce succinic acid in the range 47.651-49.415 g/l. Isolate NP1-A2 produced the highest succinic acid of 49.415 g/l so isolate NP1-A2 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.



Characteristics	1	2	
Growth at 6% NaCl	+	+	
Growth at 45°C	+	+	
Growth at $50^{\circ}$ C	+	+	
Catalase	-	-	
Gas production	-	-	
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	
Nitrate reduction	-	-	
Acid from:			
D-Amygdalin	- 5-4-4 a +	+	
L-Arabinose	all III and		
Cellobiose	8 +	+	
D-Fructose	+	+	
D-Galactose	+	+	
Gluconate	+	+	
Glucose		+	
Lactose*	+	<u>ـ</u>	
Maltose		+	
D-Mannitol	+	+	
D-Mannose	+	+	
Melibiose		-	
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทย	าลย -	
Raffinose	CHULALONGKORN UNIV	ERSITY	
Rhamnose	-	-	
Ribose	+	+	
Salicin	+	+	
Sorbitol	+	+	
Sucrose*	+	-	
Trehalose*	+	-	
D-Xylose	-	-	

Table 17. Characteristics of Group VI

\*, Different reactions

1, NP1-A2; 2, CN6-OB1

#### Group VII of isolates

Group VII comprised of 5 isolates, namely, CN2-OA2, CN4-OB21, SP8-A4, CN1-B21 and AY5-aB1. They were screened from chicken manure, tree bark and pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, cocci and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, convex and opaque. They negative reactions to catalase, gas production, arginine hydrolysis, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2%, 6% NaCl, at 20-45°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at 50°C and pH 3. Acid from D-amygdalin, cellobiose, Dfructose, D-galactose, gluconate, glucose, maltose, D-mannitol, D-mannose, melibiose, ribose, salicin and sorbitol were positive reaction, while raffinose was negative reaction. But acid from L-arabinose, lactose, melibiose,  $\infty$ -methyl-Dglucoside, rhamnose, sucrose and D-xylose showed different reaction in Table 18.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group VII could produce succinic acid in the range 5.170-48.892 g/l. Isolate CN2-OA2 produced the highest succinic acid of 48.892 g/l so isolate CN2-OA2 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.



Table 18. Characteristics of Group V	41
--------------------------------------	----

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	5
Growth at 6% NaCl	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 45°C	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 50°C	-	-	-	-	-
Catalase	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis	-	-	-	-	-
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:					
D-Amygdalin	+	+	+	+	+
L-Arabinose*	+	11/1/1/1/2	+	+	-
Cellobiose	+	g +	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	+	+	+	+
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose*	+	+	<u>-</u> ا	+	-
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose*	+	+	+	+	-
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	ู้จุฬาส <u>ุ</u> งกระ	11111111111111111111111111111111111111	<u>-</u> 1.1.4 ย	+	+
Raffinose	HULAL <u></u> ONGK	ORN <u>U</u> NIV	<b>/ERSI<u>T</u>Y</b>	-	-
Rhamnose*	-	+	+	+	+
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	+	+	+
Sorbitol	+	+	+	+	+
Sucrose*	-	-	+	+	+
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose*	-	-	+	-	-

\*, Different reactions

1, CN2-OA2; 2, CN4-OB21; 3, SP8-A4; 4, CN1-B21; 5, AY5-aB1

### Group VIII of isolates

Group VIII comprised of 4 isolates, namely, NS2-B3, PCH6-2, NS15-bA2 and SP4-B5. They were screened from chicken manure, cattle dung, bovine rumen and pig manure. All isolates were gram positive, cocci and facultative anaerobes. Colonies were white, circular, entire, convex and opaque. They showed positive reactions to arginine hydrolysis. They negative reactions to catalase, gas production, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2% and 6% NaCl, at 20-45°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at pH 3. Acid from D-amygdalin, cellobiose, D-fructose, D-galactose, glucose, lactose, maltose, D-mannose, melibiose, ribose, salicin, sucrose and trehalose were positive reaction, while L-arabinose, gluconate, D-mannitol, sorbitol and D-xylose were negative reaction. But growth at 50°C and acid from ∞-methyl-D-glucoside, raffinose and rhamnose showed difference reaction in Table 19.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group VIII could produce succinic acid in the range 40.861-52.028 g/l. Isolate NS15-bA2 produced the highest succinic acid of 52.028 g/l so isolate NS15-bA2 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Ta	ble	19.	Characteristics of Group	VIII
_				

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	
Growth at 6% NaCl	+	+	+	+	
Growth at 45°C	+	+	+	+	
Growth at 50°C*	-	+	-	+	
Catalase	-	-	-	-	
Gas production	-	-	-	-	
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	+	+	
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	
Acid from:					
D-Amygdalin	+	+	+	+	
L-Arabinose		12 -	-	-	
Cellobiose	g [	+	+	+	
D-Fructose		+	+	+	
D-Galactose		+	+	+	
Gluconate			-	-	
Glucose	+	+	+	+	
Lactose	+	+	+	+	
Maltose	Alteres Summ	+	+	+	
D-Mannitol		- D	-	-	
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	
Melibiose	+ ~	+	+	+	
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside*	าลงกรณมหา	วทยาลย	+	-	
Raffinose*	LALONGKORN	UNIVERSITY	+	-	
Rhamnose*	-	-	-	+	
Ribose	+	+	+	+	
Salicin	+	+	+	+	
Sorbitol	-	-	-	-	
Sucrose	+	+	+	+	
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	
D-Xylose	-	-	-	-	

\*, Different reaction

1, NS2-B3; 2, PCH6-2; 3, NS15-bA2; 4, SP4-B5

### Group IX of isolates

Group IX comprised of 5 isolates, namely, NS3-B1, AY3-bA1, AY4-aA1, NS15dA1 and NS2-A1. They were screened from cattle dung, tree bark and bovine rumen. All isolates were gram positive, cocci and facultative anaerobes. They showed positive reactions to arginine hydrolysis. They negative reactions to catalase, gas production, nitrate reduction, starch hydrolysis and slime formation. They were grown in the presence of 2% and 6% NaCl, at 20-45°C and pH 5-9. No growth was observed at 50°C and pH 3. Acid from cellobiose, D-fructose, D-galactose, glucose, lactose, D-mannose, ribose, sucrose and D-xylose were positive reaction, while Larabinose,  $\infty$ -methyl-D-glucoside, raffinose and D-xylose were negative reaction. But acid from D-amygdalin, gluconate, maltose, D-mannitol, melibiose, rhamnose, salicin and sorbitol showed different reaction in Table 20.

Furthermore, the isolates in Group IX could produce succinic acid in the range 29.143-50.862 g/l. Isolate NS15-dA1 produced the highest succinic acid of 50.862 g/l so isolate NS15-dA1 was representative for further study using 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.



Table 20. Characteristics of Group IX
---------------------------------------

Characteristics	1	2	3	4	5
Growth at 6% NaCl	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at $45^{\circ}$ C	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at $50^{\circ}$ C	-	-	-	-	-
Catalase	-	-	-	-	-
Gas production	-	-	-	-	-
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	+	+	+
Nitrate reduction	-	-	-	-	-
Acid from:					
D-Amygdalin*	+	-	+	+	+
L-Arabinose	- 3	S. 11-11-2	, · ·	-	-
Cellobiose	+	• + <b>=</b>	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate*	_		+	+	-
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose*	- 10	<ul> <li>↔</li> <li>↔</li> </ul>	+	+	+
D-Mannitol*	+	CINY CLER	6	-	-
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose*		-	+	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	จุฬ <u>า</u> ลงก	รณ์ม <u>ห</u> าวิท	ายาล <u>ั</u> ย	-	-
Raffinose	Chulalon	gkor <del>n</del> Un	IVERSITY	-	-
Rhamnose*	-	-	-	-	+
Ribose	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin*	+	+	-	+	+
Sorbitol*	-	-	+	-	-
Sucrose	+	+	+	+	+
Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose	-	-	-	-	-

\*, Different reaction

1, NS3-B1; 2, AY3-bA1; 3, AY4-aA1; 4, NS15-dA1; 5, NS2-A1

### 4.3.4 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic analysis

Isolate CN1-OB13, PCH6-3, AY5-bA2, AY5-bB4, PCH2-1, NP1-A2, CN2-OA2, NS15-bA2 and NS15-dA1 which produced the highest succinic acid from each group, were studied 16S rRNA gene sequence using universal primer (20F (5'-AGTTTGATCCTGGCTC-3') and 1530R (5'-AAGGAGGTGATCCAGCC-3')). The PCR products (1500 base pairs) of each isolates were shown in Figure 16.



Figure 16. PCR products on 1% agarose gel based on 16S rRNA gene sequence
1, Isolate NP1-A2; 2, isolate PCH6-3; 3, isolate AY5-bA2; 4, isolate AY5-bB4;
5, isolate PCH2-1; 6, isolate CN1-OB13; 7, isolate CN2-OA2; 8, isolate NS15-dA1;
9, isolate NS15-bA2

Isolate NP1-A2, NS15-dA1, NS15-bA2, PCH2-1 and CN2-OA2 were closely related to *Enterococcus* sp., Isolate AY5-bA2 and PCH6-3 were closely related to *Lactobacillus* sp., Isolate AY5-bB4 was closely related to *Clostridium* sp. and isolate CN1-OB13 was closely related to *Escherichia* sp. (Figure 17). The results of percentages similarities were shown in Table 21.





# จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

## HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Table 21. Percentages similarities of isolate CN1-OB13, PCH6-3, AY5-bA2, AY5-bB4,

Group	Isolates	Species	% Similarity
I	CN1-OB13	Escherichia fergusonii ATCC 35469 $^{T}$	99.87
II	PCH6-3	Lactobacillus reuteri JCM 1112 $^{^{\intercal}}$	99.71
III	AY5-bA2	Lactobacillus ruminis NBRC 102161 $^{^{ op}}$	99.71
IV	AY5-bB4	$Clostridium \ sporogenes \ DSM \ 795^{^{\!$	99.78
V	PCH2-1	Enterococcus faecium CGMCC 1.2136 $^{T}$	99.86
VI	NP1-A2	Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 19433 $^{^{\intercal}}$	99.86
VII	CN2-OA2	Enterococcus avium ATCC 14025 <sup><math>T</math></sup>	100
VIII	NS15-bA2	Enterococcus hirae ATCC 9790 <sup><math>T</math></sup>	100
IX	NS15-dA1	Enterococcus durans CECT 441 <sup><math>^{ imes}</math></sup>	99.89

The results of morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics of isolates (CN1-OB13, PCH6-3, AY5-bA2, AY5-bB4, PCH2-1, NP1-A2, CN2-OA2, NS15-bA2 and NS15-dA1) were compared type strains (Table 22). Their results showed similar to type strains. Thus they according to the results of 16S rRNA gene sequence.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 22. Characteristics of 9 representative isolates from each group and type strains

Characteristics	-	-	7	T <sup>2</sup>	3	٦3	4	₽	5	<b>۔</b>	9	٦	7	Τ7	ø	۔ ۳	6	⊣°∣
Growth in 2% NaCl	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth in 6% NaCl	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 20°C	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 30 °C	+	+	+	+	C+U	+ จา	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 37°C	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 45 °C	+	QN	+	+	0+10	+	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at 50°C	ı	QN	ı	ı	ikol	ะ		Q	+	/+	2+ 6	+				,		ı.
Catalase	+	+	+	+	RN	เห	+	+				1.1.1	ı	ı	,		ı	ī
Gas production	+	+	+	+	Un	- 121	+	+				ı	·			,	ī	,
Starch hydrolysis	,	QN		·	IVE			QN			1	1	ı	•	,	,		,
Slime formation	·	QN		ı	RSI	1	9	QN			,	1	ı	,	,	,	,	,
Arginine hydrolysis	ı	ı	ı	ı	TΥ	ı	ı	ı	+	+	+	+	ī	1	+	+	+	+
Nitrate reduction	+	+	+	+	·	ı		ı	ı	•			·				ı	•
- - -	-			-	-	-												

+, Test was positive or acid was produced; -, test was negative or no acid produced; ND, No data

1, CN1-OB13; T<sup>1</sup>, Escherichia fergusonii ATCC 35469<sup>T</sup>(Farmer et al., 1985); 2, PCH6-3; T<sup>2</sup>, Lactobacillus reuteri JCM 1112<sup>T</sup>(Kandler et al., 1980); 3, AY5-bA2; T<sup>3</sup>, Lactobacillus ruminis NBRC 102161<sup>T</sup>(Sharpe et al., Enterococcus facealis ATCC 19433<sup>(Manero</sup> and Blanch, 1999; Schleifer and Batz, 1984); 7, CN2-OA2; T<sup>7</sup>, Enterococcus avium ATCC 14025<sup>(</sup>Collins et al., 1984; Manero and Blanch, 1999); 8, NS15-bA2; 1973); 4, AY5-bB4; T<sup>4</sup>, Clostridium sporogenes DSM 795<sup>T</sup> (Poehlein et al., 2015); 5, PCH2-1; T<sup>5</sup>, Enterococcus faecium CGMCC 1.2136<sup>T</sup> (Manero and Blanch, 1999; Schleifer and Baltz, 1984); 6, NP1-A2; T<sup>6</sup>, Enterococcus hirae ATCC 9790 (Farrow and Collins, 1985); 9, NS15-dA1; 7, Enterococcus durans CECT411 (Collins et al., 1984)

Characteristics		<b>-</b> ل	0	-7	e.	٦3	4	4	5	-12	6	٦	2	۲_	ω	۳	6	<b>ا</b>
Acid from:																		
D-Amygdalin	'	QN	ı	+	+	+		ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-Arabinose	+	+	+	+					+	+			+	+	ı	ı	ı	·
Cellobiose	+	+	ı	ı	+	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Fructose	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+	Cti	-	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gluconate	+	QN	ı	+	+	ut.	+	QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	,	'	+	,
Glucose	+	+	+	+	+	AL <sup>t</sup> O	+	+	+	t	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lactose	+	+	+	+	ı	NG	-	- 21	+	t	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose	+	+	+	+	+	кŌ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+	+	ı	ı	ı	RŃ		Væ	+	+	+	+		+	ı	ı	I	·
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+	ť	-	-	+	t	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Melibiose	'	ı	+	+	+	nt.		•	Ņ	+		-	+	+	+	+	+	+
∞-Methyl-D-glucoside	'		1	ı	+	EŔ	+	+	'		-		'	+	+	'	ı	
Raffinose	'		+	+	+	sitr		).	'				ı	,	+	+	ı	,
Rhamnose	+	+	ı	ı	ı	γ'		ı	'		,	+	+	+	'	'	ı	,
Ribose	+	QN	+	+				QN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	1	ı	+	+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Sorbitol	'		ı	ı				ı			+	+	+	+	,	·	ı	,
Sucrose	'		+	+		+			+	+	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+
Trehalose	+	+	I	ı	ı	ı	,	ı	+	+	ı	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose	+	+	ı	ı	ı			ı	+	+	,	·		+				
+, Test was positive or acid was pro	duced; -, t	test was ne	gative or I	no acid pro	oduced; N	ID, No data						c			ŀ			

Table 22. Characteristics of 9 representative isolates from each group and type strains (continued)

Clostridium sporogenes DSM 795<sup>T</sup> (Poehlein et al., 2015); 5, PCH2-1; T<sup>5</sup>, Enterococcus faecium CGMCC 1.2135<sup>T</sup> (Manero and Blanch, 1999; Schleifer and Baltz, 1984); 6, NP1-A2; T<sup>6</sup>, Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 1943<sup>T</sup> (Manero and Blanch, 1, CN1-OB13, T<sup>1</sup>, Escherichio fergusonii ATCC 3546<sup>3</sup> (Farmer et al., 1985); 2, PCH6-3; T<sup>2</sup>, Loctobacillus reuteri JCM 1112<sup>3</sup> (Kandler et al., 1980); 3, AY5-bA2, T<sup>3</sup>, Loctobacillus ruminis NBRC 102161<sup>3</sup> (Sharpe et al., 1973); 4, AY5-bB4; T<sup>4</sup>. 1999; Schleifer and Baltz, 1984), 7, CN2-OA2, T<sup>7</sup>, Enterococcus avium ATCC 14025<sup>T</sup>(Collins et al., 1984; Manero and Blanch, 1999); 8, NS15-bA2, Enterococcus hirae ATCC 9790<sup>T</sup>(Farrow and Collins, 1985), 9, NS15-dA1;  $T^9, \ Enterococcus \ durans \ CECT411^T (Collins \ et \ al., \ 1984)$  Isolates NS15-bA2 (*Enterococcus hirae* ATCC 9790<sup>1</sup>) was screened bovine rumen which produced the highest succinic acid of 0.87 g/g glucose. Similary, *Actinobacillus succinogenes* was screened from bovine rumen which produced yield of succinic acid of 0.83 g/g glucose (Guettler et al. 1999) and *Anaerobiospirilum succiniciproducens* was screened from bovine rumen which produced yield of succinic acid of 0.86 g/g glucose (Lee et al., 1999b). Moreover, chicken manure, tree bark and pig manure were new sources of succinic acid producing bacteria. These sources were no reported for screening of succinic acid bacteria from other research.

From the results of morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics, most isolates were facultative anaerobic bacteria since the collected samples were exposed to air and strict anaerobe died in the presence of oxygen. Moreover, isolate CN1-OB13 (Group I) was *Escherichia fergusonii* ATCC 35469<sup>T</sup>, isolate PCH6-3 (Group II) and AY5-bA2 (Group III) were *Lactobacillus* spp. and isolate PCH2-1, NP1-A2, CN2-OA2, NS15-bA2 and NS15-dA1 (Group V to IX) were *Enterococcus* spp. Most species were facultative anaerobe and tolerant to a wide range of environmental conditions, including extreme temperature (20-45°C), pH (5-9) and high sodium chloride concentrations. Isolate AY5-bB4 (Group IV) was *Clostridium* spp. comprised of a few isolate since this species was strictly anaerobic bacteria.

*Escherichia fergusonii* ATCC 35469<sup>1</sup> (isolate CN1-OB13; Group I) produced high succinic acid but it infected open wounds in humans and resisted the ampicillin, gentamicin and chloramphenicol (Mahapatra et al., 2005; Savini et al., 2008) (Table 23). Thus these species was not selected for further study optimization of succinic acid production.

*Lactobacillus reuteri* JCM  $1112^{T}$  (isolate PCH6-3; Group II), *Lactobacillus ruminis* NBRC 102161<sup>T</sup> (isolate AY5-bA2; Group III) and *Clostridium sporogenes* DSM 795<sup>T</sup> (isolate AY5-bB4; Group VI) produced a small amount of succinic acid thus they were not selected for further study optimization of succinic acid production (Table 23).

*Enterococcus faecium* CGMCC 1.2136<sup>T</sup> (isolate PCH2-1; Group V), *Enterococcus faecalis* ATCC 19433<sup>T</sup> (NP1-A2; Group VI) produced high succinic acid but these two species were reported of succinic acid production from other research (Table 23).

Kang et al. (Ryu et al., 1999) reported that *Enterococcus faecium* and *Enterococcus faecalis* gave the yield of succinic acid of 0.33 g/g glycerol and 0.82 g/g glycerol, respectively. Thus these species was not selected for further study optimization of succinic acid production.

*Enterococcus avium* ATCC 14025<sup>T</sup> (isolate CN2-OA2; Group VII) produced high succinic acid but it was intraabdominal infections and endocarditis in humans and resisted the vancomycin (Chao et al., 2013) (Table 23). Thus these species was not selected for further study optimization of succinic acid production.

*Enterococcus hirae* ATCC  $9790^{T}$  (isolate NS15-bA2; Group VIII) and *Enterococcus durans* CECT411<sup>T</sup> (isolate NS15-dA1; Group IX) produced greater amounts of succinic acid than other groups (Table 23) and these two species were no reported of succinic acid production from other research.

Therefore we selected isolate NS15-bA2 (*Enterococcus hirae* ATCC 9790<sup>'</sup>) and NS15-dA1 (*Enterococcus durans* CECT411<sup>T</sup>) for further study about succinic acid production.

Isolates	Species	Succinic acid (g/l)	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
CN1-OB13	Escherichia fergusonii ATCC 35469 <sup>T</sup>	49.036	- Produced high succinic acid	- Infected open wounds in	(Mahapatra
(Group I)				humans	et al., 2005;
				- Resistant to the antibiotic	Savini et
				ampicillin, gentamicin and	al., 2008)
				chloramphenicol	
PCH6-3	Lactobacillus reuteri JCM $1112^{ op}$	6.362	- Inhibit the growth of E. coli	- Produced low succinic acid	(Kaneuchi
(Group II)			from affecting their hosts.		et al.,
			- Prevention of gut infections		1988)
			- Probiotics		
AY5-bA2	Lactobacillus ruminis NBRC	8.098	- Suppressing antibiotic-resistant	- Produced low succinic acid	(O' Donnell
(Group III)	$102161^{T}$		pathogens		et al., 2015;
			- Probiotics		Yun et al.,
					2005)
AY5-bB4	Clostridium sporogenes DSM 795 <sup>T</sup>	3.157	- Having potential to be beneficial in	- Produced low succinic acid	(Chyan et
(Group IV)			cancer treatments aiming to reduce		al., 1999;
			damage to non-cancerous cells within		Wikoff et
			the host		al., 2009)
			- Using tryptophan to synthesize		
			3-indolepropionic acid (IPA) as a		
			potent antioxidant within the human		
			body and brain		

SO	
grou	
6	
Ļ	
0	
ges	
ğ	
Ę	
م ۲	
Ď	
S0	
ō	
Q	
a D	
Ś	
B B	2
ğ	
Ē	
>	
b	
4	
0	
2	`
Ja	
Ē	
Ę	
5	
ς.	
<i>c</i> i	
Ð	
ā	
Ъ	

Isolates	Species	Succinic acid (g/l)	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
PCH2-1	Enterococcus faecium CGMCC 1.2136 $^{ op}$	50.411	- Used in fermenting foods such	- Causing diseases such as	(Kang and
(Group V)			as cheese and vegetables	neonatal meningitis and	Lee, 2005;
			- Probiotics	endocarditis.	Mascini et
			- Produced high succinic acid	- Resistant to the antibiotic	al., 2006)
				vancomycin	
NP1-A2	Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 19433 $^{ au}$	49.415	- Probiotics in chicken, pig and	- Resistant to beta-lactam	(Franz et
(Group VI)			cattle feed to lower diarrhea in	antibiotics because they	al., 2011;
			the animals	contain penicillin-binding	Rocas et
			- Produced high succinic acid	proteins (PBPs)	al., 2004)
CN2-OA2	Enterococcus avium ATCC 14025 <sup>T</sup>	48.892	- Produced high succinic acid	- Resistant to the antibiotic	(Chao et
(Group VII)				vancomycin	al., 2013)
				- Intraabdominal infections and	
				endocarditis in human	
NS15-bA2	Enterococcus hirae ${\sf ATCC}$ 9790 $^{ op}$	52.028	- Probiotics for animal nutrition	- Resistant to the antibiotic	(Bourafa et
(Group VIII)			- Produced high succinic acid	vancomycin	al., 2015;
					Franz et
					al., 2011)
NS15-dA1	Enterococcus durans $ ext{CECT411}^ au$	50.862	- Antimicrobial activity	- Resistant to the antibiotic	(Cercenado
(Group IX)			- Antioxidant ability	vancomycin	et al., 1995;
			- Probiotics		Franz et
			- Produced high succinic acid		al., 2011)

Table 22. Summary of advantages and disadvantages of 9 groups

#### 4.4 Optimization of succinic acid production by the potential isolates

To know the optimization condition for the succinic acid production by the potential succinic acid producing bacteria (isolate NS15-dA1 and NS25-bA2), the following factors were studied; carbon sources, nitrogen sources, pH and temperature. Control was performed using a medium consisted of 60 g/l of glucose, 30 g/l of yeast extract, 2 g/l of urea and cultivated at pH 7.0, 37°C for 24 h.

### 4.4.1 Effect of glucose concentration

From Figure 18, when initial 30 g/l of glucose was used, glucose was consumed completely within 12 h. Similarly, 60 g/l of glucose was used, glucose was consumed completely within 24 h. Contrary, increasing glucose to 90 g/l, results in excessive carbon sources. At 24 h, the highest succinic acid concentrations of 50.014±0.5104 and 52.472±0.1129 g/l were obtained from isolate NS15-dA1 and isolate NS15-bA2, respectively (Table 23).

 Table 24. Effect of glucose concentration on succinic acid production by isolate

 NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2.

Isolates	Glucose		Succinic acid (g/l)		
	(g/l)	12 h	24 h	36 h	48 h
NS15-dA1	30	26.502±0.1201 <sup>a</sup>	27.130±0.0223	26.652±0.3412	26.592±0.6016
	60	40.105±0.6821	50.014±0.5104	49.933±0.0188	49.237±0.4530
	90	37.881±0.5111	46.961±0.0992	46.178±0.0469	46.329±0.7301
NS15-bA2	30	15.240±0.4602	25.934±0.1089	24.855±0.2201	24.974±0.0651
	60	21.938±0.3241	52.472±0.1129	51.370±0.0329	49.391±0.2465
	90	12.376±0.2099	47.231±0.0907	46.568±0.0421	46.324±0.7382

<sup>a</sup> Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean ± standard deviation





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 19. Succinic acid production by isolate NS15-dA1 (A) and NS15-bA2 (B) using glucose in the range 30-90 g/l as a carbon source. (□: 30 g/l; ■:60 g/l; □: 90 g/l) (The error bars in the figure indicated the standard deviations among three parallel replicates.)

Gonzáleza et al. (Gonzáleza et al., 2008) studied the effect of various glucose concentrations (10-100 g/l) on succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes ZT*-130. They reported that 54.7 g/l of glucose was the optimum carbon source resulting in high succinic acid of 33.8 g/l. Lee et al. (Lee et al., 1999b) studied the effect of various glucose concentrations (0.5-40 g/l) on succinic acid production by *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens*. They reported that 20g/l of glucose was the optimum carbon source resulting in high succinic resulting in high succinic acid of 33.8 g/l.

Chen et al. (Chen et al., 2011) reported that high glucose concentration was due to the osmotic effects in the succinic acid fermentation. The cells growth and succinic acid concentration were also inhibited by high glucose concentration, which probably was due to substrate inhibition, a common issue in fermentation (Kotzamanidis et al., 2002).

Therefore, initial 60 g/l of glucose and 24 h of cultivation time were chosen for the further study.
#### 4.4.2 Effect of different nitrogen sources

Among the nitrogen sources; yeast extract, peptone, tryptone, urea, KNO<sub>3</sub>, NHCl<sub>4</sub>,  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ ,  $(NH_4)_2HPO_4$  and  $NH_4NO_3$ , yeast extract yielded the highest succinic acid of 49.962±0.0206 g/l and cell growth of 0.2945±0.0027 g/l by isolate NS15-dA1 (Table 24). That is optimum for both cell growth as well as succinic acid production. Yeast extract, apart from acting as nitrogen source also supplies vitamins and trace metals. Therefore, it affected the growth of the organism and thus increased succinic acid production. Furthermore, Kang et al. (Kang et al., 2000) reported that *Enterococcus faecalis* RKY1 used yeast extract as a nitrogen source and produced the highest succinic acid of 27 g/l. Lee et al. (Lee et al., 2002) observed that *M. succiniciproducens* MBEL55E could produce high succinic acid of 14 g/l when using yeast extract as a nitrogen source.

In case of isolate NS15-bA2 found to be the best nitrogen source Moreover trypetone is optimum for both cell growth of 0.3734±0.0096 g/l as well as succinic acid production of 53.892±0.0502 g/l (Table 24). Tryptone provides nitrogen, amino acids, and vitamins for the growing bacteria. Furthermore, Isar et al. (Isar et al., 2006) reported tryptone was the best nitrogen sources resulting in the production of 2.0 g/l of succinic acid by *Bacteroides fragilis*. Similarly from Agarwal et al. (Agarwal et al., 2007) among the various organic nitogen sources tested, tryptone maximally enhanced the production of both succinic acid (3.8 g/l) as well enzyme activity (PPCK, Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase) by *Enterococcus flavescens*.

Therefore, yeast extract was chosen for the further study by isolate NS15-dA1 and tryptone was chosen for the further study by isolate NS15-bA2.

	Isolate NS15-dA1		Isolate NS15-bA2	
Nitrogen sources	Succinic acid	Cell dry weight	Succinic acid	Cell dry weight
	(g/l)	(g/l)	(g/l)	(g/l)
Control	50.133±0.6773 <sup>°</sup>	0.2882±0.0152	52.044±0.4178	0.2841±0.0133
Yeast extract	49.962±0.4025	0.2946±0.0279	52.432±0.9788	0.3067±0.9788
Peptone	40.811±0.2650	0.2248±0.0180	39.201±1.0186	0.2345±0.0235
Tryptone	42.239±0.2096	0.2307±0.0240	53.892±0.0502	0.3734±0.0098
Urea	3.555±0.1559	0.0098±0.0006	1.070±0.0594	0.1024±0.0002
KNO3	7.262±0.1191	0.0492±0.0037	17.461±0.0645	0.0495±0.0012
NHCl <sub>4</sub>	0.829±0.0716	0.0101±0.0006	0.774±0.0155	0.0105±0.0006
$(NH_4)_2SO_4$	1.632±0.0269	0.0103±0.0006	1.332±0.2014	0.0107±0.0003
$(NH_4)_2HPO_4$	6.765±0.1894	0.0407±0.0055	14.693±1.0586	0.0423±0.0043
NH <sub>4</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	2.087±0.0373	0.0158±0.0081	0.751±0.4179	0.0118±0.0013

**Table 25.** Effect of nitrogen sources on succinic acid production and cell dry weightby isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2.

a Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 20. Effect of different nitrogen sources on succinic acid production and cell dry weight by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2. (■: Succinic acid; ⊠: CDW)(The error bars in the figure indicated the standard deviations among three parallel replicates.)

#### 4.4.3 Effect of initial pH

The effect of different level of initial pH 5.0, 5.5, 6.0, 6.5, 7.0, 7.5 and 8.0 on succinic acid production was shown in Figure 21. At initial pH 7.0 was found to be an optimum initial pH which result the highest of succinic acid of  $50.703\pm0.4734$  g/l and cell growth of  $0.3116\pm0.0020$  g/l by NS15-dA1 (Table 25). Similarly, initial pH 7.0 was found to be an optimum initial pH which result the highest of succinic acid of  $53.212\pm0.2029$  g/l and cell growth of  $0.3419\pm0.0109$  g/l by NS15-bA2 (Table 25).

Wee et al. (Wee et al., 2002) reported that pH 7-8 is the optimum pH for succinic acid production by *Enterococcus faecalis*. Similar, Ryu et al. (Ryu et al., 1999) reported at pH 7, *Enterococcus faecalis* could produce the maximum succinic acid of 65.9 g/l. Moreover Lee et al. (Lee et al., 2002) observed that *M. succiniciproducens* MBEL55E, a succinic acid producer grew well in the pH range of 6.0-7.5. Most probable reason could be that the activity of the enzyme responsible for succinic acid production was maximally induced within a given pH range or value. Similar Samuelov et al. (Samuelov et al., 1991) reported the influence of pH on the level of fermentative enzyme responsible for end-product formation in the cells grown at pH 6.2, both the PPCK (Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase) activity and succinic acid production reached high value.

#### จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Therefore, pH 7.0 was chosen for the further study by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2.

	Isolate NS15-dA1		Isolate N	IS15-bA2
Initial pH	Succinic acid	Cell dry weight	Succinic acid	Cell dry weight
	(g/l)	(g/l)	(g/l)	(g/l)
Control	51.016±0.2658 <sup>a</sup>	0.2958±0.0001	52.633±1.0178	0.3264±0.0024
5.0	12.822±0.0798	0.1997±0.0286	21.948±0.2640	0.0771±0.0035
5.5	31.167±0.3424	0.2111±0.0134	37.136±0.4864	0.2246±0.0060
6.0	40.286±0.2932	0.1844±0.0162	43.860±0.5238	0.1962±0.0010
6.5	46.171±0.2081	0.2590±0.0051	48.170±0.2616	0.2756±0.0011
7.0	50.703±0.4734	0.3116±0.0129	53.212±0.2029	0.3419±0.0108
7.5	48.484±0.2918	0.2632±0.0025	47.761±0.4023	0.2408±0.0015
8.0	48.917±0.1367	0.1891±0.0295	43.557±0.4836	0.2012±0.0070

**Table 26.** Effect of initial pH on succinic acid production and cell dry weight byisolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2

<sup>a</sup> Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard

deviation



Figure 21. Effect of initial pH on succinic acid production and cell dry weight by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2. (■: Succinic acid; ⊠: CDW)
(The error bars in the figure indicated the standard deviations among three parallel replicates.)

#### 4.4.4 Effect of temperature

The effect of different temperature of 35, 37 and 39°C on succinic acid production was shown in Figure 22. At 37°C was found to be the optimum temperature and highest succinic acid of  $51.692\pm0.1707$  g/l and cell growth of  $0.3099\pm0.0003$  g/l were obtained by isolate NS15-dA1. Similarly, at 37°C was found to be the optimum temperature and highest succinic acid of  $53.051\pm0.3538$  g/l and cell growth of  $0.3463\pm0.0165$  g/l were obtained by isolate NS15-bA2 (Table 26).

The results of the effect of temperature was similar as phenotypic characterization, isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 showed well cell growth in the range 20-45°C. Isar et al. (Isar et al., 2006) reported at 37±2°C was the optimal temperature for succinic acid production from *Bacteroides fragilis*. Macy et al. (Macy et al., 1978) observed that 37±1°C was the most suitable temperature of succinic acid production form *Bacteroides fragilis*. Lee et al. (Lee et al., 1999a) reported that at 37±1°C was the optimal temperature for growth and succinic acid production by *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens*. Huh et al. (Huh et al., 2004) reported also *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* produced maximum succinic acid at 37°C. The probable reason, at 37°C may be optimal for enzyme activity.

Therefore, 37°C was chosen for the further study by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2.

	Isolate NS15-dA1		Isolate NS15-bA2	
Temperature	Succinic acid	Cell dry weight	Succinic acid	Cell dry weight
	(g/l)	(g/l)	(g/l)	(g/l)
Control	51.526±0.2512 <sup>a</sup>	0.3077±0.0013	51.061±0.2658	0.3374±0.0019
35	50.730±0.2452	0.2887±0.0077	42.693±0.3539	0.2988±0.0034
37	51.692±0.1707	0.3099±0.0003	53.051±0.3538	0.3463±0.0165
39	49.085±0.6682	0.2692±0.0078	45.294±0.3180	0.3027±0.0013

**Table 27.** Effect of temperature on succinic acid production and cell dry weight byisolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2

a Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 22. Effect of temperature on succinic acid production and cell dry weight by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2. (■: Succinic acid; ⊠: CDW) (The error bars in the figure indicated the standard deviations among three parallel replicates.)

Therefore, the optimum condition for succinic acid production by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 were 60 g/l of glucose, 30 g/l of yeast extract (for isolate NS15-dA1), 30 g/l of tryptone (for isolate NS15-bA2) at initial pH 7.0 and 37°C. The results of cell dry weight (g/l), succinic acid concentration (g/l), yield (g/g glucose) and productivity (g/l/h) were shown in Table 27.

Isolates	Glucose (g/l)	Cell dry weight (g/l)	Succinic acid (g/l)	Yield (g/g glucose)	Productivity (g/l/h)
NS15-dA1	60	0.310±0.0003 <sup>a</sup>	51.692±0.1707	0.861±0.0028	2.154±0.0196
NS15-bA2	60	0.346±0.0165	53.051±0.3538	0.884±0.0188	2.210±0.0305

Table 28. Summary of high succinic acid production under optimum condition

 $^{a}$  Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

Yield of succinic acid production by isolate NS15-dA1 (*Enterococcus hirae* ATCC 9790<sup>T</sup>) and NS15-bA2 (*Enterococcus durans* CECT411<sup>T</sup>) compared with other species (Table 28). These two isolates were potential for succinic acid production.

Bactoria	Succinic acid	Yield (g/g	Productivity	Poforoncos
Dacteria	(g/l)	glucose)	(g/l/h)	hererences
L. casei	14.8	0.74	0.31	(Kaneuchi et al., 1988)
L. reuteri	13.4	0.67	0.28	(Kaneuchi et al., 1988)
E. faecalis	24.6	1.23	1.02	(Ryu et al., 1999)
E. flavescens	2.8	0.14	0.47	(Kang et al., 2000)
E. faecium	16.7	0.84	0.69	(Ryu et al., 1999)
E. hirae	53.1	0.89	2.21	This study
(isolate NS15-bA2)				
E. durans	51.7	0.86	2.15	This study
(isolate NS15-dA1)				

Table 29. Performances of succinic acid production by bacteria

# CHAPTER V

In this study, the screening, characterization and optimization of succinic acid producing bacteria isolated in Thailand were studied. Succinic acid producing bacteria were screened from 6 sources and 6 provinces in Thailand. A total of 310 isolates, only 51 isolates could produce succinic acid as they exhibited clear zone around colonies on selective medium plate. They were analyzed by TLC method and they showed positive result by this method. Then they were confirmed to have succinic acid producing ability using HPLC. Succinic acid concentrations from these isolates were in the range of 0.553-52.028 g/l. Then 51 isolates were characterized including morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics. Twenty-one isolates were rods and 30 isolates were cocci. They were divided into 9 groups based on morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics. Nine isolates were selected for study 16S rRNA gene sequence and phylogenetic analysis because they produced the highest succinic acid from each group. Isolate CN1-OB13 (Group I) was closely related to *Escherichia fergusonii* ATCC 35469<sup>1</sup> (similarity percentage values of 99.87). Isolate PCH6-3 (Group II) was closely related to Lactobacillus reuteri JCM 1112<sup>T</sup> (similarity percentage values of 99.71). Isolate AY5-bA2 (Group III) was closely related to *Lactobacillus ruminis* NBRC 102161<sup>T</sup> (similarity percentage values of 99.71). Isolate AY5-bB4 (Group IV) was closely related to *Clostridium sporogenes* DSM 795<sup>1</sup> (similarity percentage values of 99.78). Isolate PCH2-1 (Group V) was closely related to *Enterococcus faecium* CGMCC  $1.2136^{T}$  (similarity percentage values of 99.86). Isolate NP1-A2 (Group VI) was closely related to *Enterococcus faecalis* ATCC 19433 (similarity percentage values of 99.86). Isolate CN2-OA2 (Group VII) was closely related to *Enterococcus avium* ATCC  $14025^{T}$  (similarity percentage values of 100). Isolate NS15-bA2 (Group VIII) was closely related to Enterococcus hirae ATCC 9790 (similarity percentage values of 100). Lastly, isolate NS15-dA1 (Group IX) was closely related to *Enterococcus durans*  $CECT411^{T}$  (similarity percentage values of 99.89).

Isolate NS15-bA2 and isolate NS15-dA1 were selected to study optimization of succinic acid production because these isolates could produce the highest succinic acid of 52.028 and 50.862 g/l from 60 g/l of glucose, respectively.

The optimum conditions on succinic acid production by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 was 60 g/l of glucose as a carbon source, 30 g/l of yeast extract (for isolate NS15-dA1) and 30 g/l of tryptone (for isolate NS15-bA2) as a nitrogen source, at pH 7.0 and 37°C. The highest succinic acid of 51.692±0.1707 g/l and 53.051±0.3538 g/l were obtained, respectively.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### REFERENCES

- Acharya, T. 2013. Colony morphology of bacteria. [cite 25 May 2016]. Available from:<u>http://microbeonline.com/colony-morphology-bacteria-describe-bacterial-colonies/</u>.
- Agarwal, L., Isar, J., Saxena, R.K. 2005. Rapid screening procedures for identification of succinic acid producers. Journal of biochemical and biophysical methods 63, 24-32.
- Agarwal, L., Jasmine, I., Meghwanshi, G.K., Saxena, R.K. 2007. Influence of environmental and nutritional factors on succinic acid production and enzymes of reverse tricarboxylic acid cycle from *Enterococcus flavescens*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 40, 629-636.
- Barrow, G.I., Feltham, R.K.A. 1993. Cowan and Steel's manual for the identification of medical bacteria. In Principles of isolation (Cambridge University Press).
- Bechthold, I., Bretz, K., Kabasci, S., Kopitzky, R., Springer, A. 2008. Succinic acid: a newplatform chemical for biobased polymers from renewable resources. Chemical Engineering & Technology 31, 647-654.
- Betty, A.F., Sahm, D.F., Weissfeld, A.S. 2007. Citrate test, In: BAILEY & SCOTT'S Diagnostic Microbiology. Mosby Elsevier Health Science, New York, 430.
- Blamire, J. 2000. Effect of pH on growth rate. [cite 12 June 2016]. Available from:<u>http://www.brooklyn.cuny.edu/bc/ahp/CellBio/Growth/MGpH.html</u>.
- Bourafa, N., Luoucif, L., Boutefnouchet, N., Rolain, J.M. 2015. *Enterococcus hirae*, an unusual pathogen in humans causing urinary tract infection in patient with benign prostatic hyperplasia: first case report in Algeria. New Microbes and New Infections 8, 7-9.
- Bryant, M.P., Doetsch, R.N. 1955. Factors necessary for the growth of Bacteroides succinogenes in the volatile acid fraction of rumen fluid. Journal of the American Chemical Society 38, 340-350.

- Bryant, M.P., Small, N. 1956. Characteristics of two new genera of anaerobic curved rod isolated from the rumen of cattle. Journal of Bacteriology 72, 22-26.
- Bryant, M.P., Small, N., Bouma, C., Chu, H. 1958. *Bacteriodes ruminicola* n. sp. and *Succinimonas amylolytica* the new genus and species. Journal of Bacteriology 76, 15-23.
- Canteros, C.E., Rodero, L., Rivas, M.C., Davel, G. 1996. A rapid urease test for presumptive identification of *Cryptococcus neoformans*. Mycopathologia 136, 21-23.
- Cercenado, E., Unal, S., Eliopoulos, C.T., Rubin, L.G., Isenberg, H.D., Moellering, R.C.J., Eliopoulos, G.M. 1995. Characterization of vacomycin resistance in *Enterococcus durans*. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 36, 821-825.
- Chao, C.T., Yang, S.Y., Huang, J.W. 2013. Peritoneal Dialysis Peritonitis Caused by *Enterococcus avium*. Peritoneal Dialysis International 33, 335-336.
- Chen, K.C., Culbertson, N.J., Knapp, J.S., Kenny, G.E., Holmes, K.K. 1982. Rapid method for simultaneous detection of the arginine dihydrolase system and amino acid decarboxylases in microorganisms. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 16, 909-919.
- Chen, K.Q., Li, J., Ma, J.F., Jiang, M., Wei, P., Liu, Z.M., Ying, H.J. 2011. Succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* using hydrolysates of spent yeast cells and corn fiber. Bioresource technology 102, 1704-1708.
- Chimirri, F., Bosco, F., Ceccarelli, R., Venturello, A., Geobaldo, F. 2010. Succinic acid and its derivatives: fermentative production using sustainable industrial agrofood by-products and its applications in the food industry. Italian Journal of Food Science 22, 119-125.
- Chyan, Y.J., Poeggeler, B., Omar, R.A., Chain, D.G., Frangione, B., Ghiso, J., Pappolla, M.A. 1999. Potent neuroprotective properties against the Alzheimer betaamyloid by an endogenous melatonin-related indole structure, indole-3propionic acid. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274, 21937-21942.
- Clarke, P.H., Cowan, S.T. 1952. Biochemical methods for bacteriology. Journal of General Microbiology 6, 187-197.

- Collins, M.D., Jones, D., Farrow, J.A.E., Baltz, R.K., Schleifer, K.H. 1984. *Enterococcus avium* nom. rev., comb. nov.; *E. casseliflavus* nom. rev., comb. nov.; *E. durans* nom. rev., comb. nov.; *E. gallinarum* comb. nov.; and *E. malodoratus* sp. nov. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 34, 220-223.
- Conn, H.J., Breed, R.S. 1919. The use of the nitrate-reduction test in characterizing bacteria. Journal of Bacteriology 4, 267-290.
- Cooper, H.B.H., Spencer, H.W. 1998. Methods for the production of ammonia from urea and uses thereof. EP1019321.
- Coustou, V., Besteiro, S., Riviere, L., Biran, M., Biteau, N., Franconi, J.M., Boshart, M., Baltz, T., Bringaud, F. 2005. A mitochondrial NADH-dependent fumarate reductase involved in the production of succinate excreted by procyclic *Trypanosoma brucei*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 280, 16559-16570.
- David, H., Akesson, M., Nielsen, J. 2003. Reconstruction of the central carbon metabolism of *Aspergillus niger*. European Journal of Biochemistry 270, 4243-4252.
- Davis, C.D., Cleven, D., Brown, J., Balish, E. 1976. *Anaerobiospirillum*, a new genus of spiral-shaped bacteria. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 76, 498-504.
- Dougall, D.K., Weyrauch, K.W. 1980. Abilities of organic acids to support growth and anthocyanin accumulation by suspension cultures of wild carrot cells using ammonium as the sole nitrogen source. Society for In Vitro Biology 16, 969-975.
- Ederer, G.M., Chu, J.H., Blazevic, D.J. 1971. Rapid test for urease and phenylalanine deaminase production. Journal of Applied Microbiology 21, 545.
- Evans, J.J., Klesius, P.H., Shoemaker, C.A. 2004. Starch hydrolysis testing of multiple isolates for rapid differentiation of Streptococcus iniae. Bulletin- European Association of Fish Pathologists Journal 24, 231-239.
- Falkow, S. 1958. Activity of lysine decarboxylase as an aid in the identification of salmonellae and shigellae. American Journal of Clinical Pathology 29, 598-600.

- Farmer, J.J., Fanning, G.R., Davis, B.R., O'Hara, C.M., Riddle, C., Brenner, F.W.H., Asbury, M.A., Lowery, V.A., Brenner, D.J. 1985. *Escherichia fergusonii* and *Enterobacter taylorae*, two new species of *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from clinical specimens. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 21, 77-81.
- Farrow, J.A.E., Collins, M.D. 1985. *Enterococcus hirae*, a new species that includes amino acid assay strain NCDO 1258 and strain causing growth depression in young chickens. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 35, 73-75.
- Fay, G.D., Barry, A.L. 1972. Rapid ornithine decarboxylase test for the identification of *Enterobacteriaceae*. Journal of Applied Microbiology 23, 710-713.
- Felsenstein, J. 1985. Confidence limits on phylogenies an approach using the bootstrap. Society for In Vitro Biology 39, 783-791.
- Fieser, L.F., Martin, E.L., Shriner, R.L., Struck, H.C. 1932. Succinic anhydride. Organic Syntheses 2, 560-564.
- Franz, C.M., Huch, M., Abriouel, H., Holzapfel, W., Gálvez, A. 2011. Enterococci as probiotics and their implications in food safety. International Journal of Food Microbiology 151, 125-140.
- Gagnon, M., Hunting, W.M., Esselen, W.B. 1959. New method for catalase determination. Analytical Chemistry 31, 144-146.
- Gallmetzer, M., Meraner, J., Burgstaller, W. 2002. Succinate synthesis and excretion by *Penicillium simplicissimum* under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. FEMS Microbiology Letters 210, 221-225.
- Gonzáleza, R.I.C., Boriesb, A., Álvareza, V.G., Ortiza, C.P. 2008. Kinetic study of succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* ZT-130. Process Biochemistry 43, 1047-1053.
- Guettler, M.V., Jain, M.K., Soni, B.K. 1998. Process for making succinic acid, microorganisms for use in the process and methods of obtaining the microorganisms. US Patent 5,723,322.
- Guettler, M.V., Rumler, D., Jain, M.K. 1999. *Actinobacillus succinogenes* sp. nov., a novel succinic acid producing strain from the bovine rumen. Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 49, 207-216.

- Hayward, A.C. 1957. Detection of gas production from glucose by heterofermentative lactic acid bacteria. Journal of General Microbiology 16, 9-15.
- Hendrix, J.D. 1998. Bacterial shapes and arrangements. [cite 23 May 2016]. Available from: <a href="http://science.kennesaw.edu/~jhendrix/ahmicro/shapes.pdf">http://science.kennesaw.edu/~jhendrix/ahmicro/shapes.pdf</a>.
- Hucker, G.J., Conn, H.J. 1923. Method of gram staining, In: Technical Bulletin 93. New York State Agricultural Experiment Station, Ithaca, 3-37.
- Huh, Y.S., Hong, Y.K., Hong, W.H., Chang, H.N. 2004. Selective extraction of acetic acid from the fermentation broth produced by *Mannheimia succiniciproducens*. Biotechnology letters 26, 1581-1584.
- Ingraham, J.L. 1958. Growth of psychrophilic bacteria. Journal of Bacteriology 76, 75-80.
- Isar, J., Agarwal, L., Saran, S., Saxena, R.K. 2006. Succinic acid production from *Bacteroides fragilis*: process optimization and scale up in a bioreactor. Anaerobe 12, 231-217.
- Iverson, W.G., Millis, N.F. 1974. A method for the detection of starch hydrolysis by bacteria. Journal of Applied Microbiology 37, 443-446.
- Janda, J.M., Abbott, S.L. 2007. 16S rRNA gene sequencing for bacterial identification in the diagnostic laboratory: pluses, perils, and pitfalls. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 45, 2761-2764.
- Kandler, O., Stetter, K.O., Kohl, R. 1980. *Lactobacillus reuteri* sp. nov., a new species of heterofermentative Lactobacilli. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg., I. Abt. Orig. 1, 264-269.
- Kaneuchi, C., Seki, M., Komagata, K. 1988. Production of succinic acid from citric acid and related acids by *Lactobacillus* strains. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 54, 3053-3056.
- Kang, J.H., Lee, M.S. 2005. Characterization of a bacteriocin produced by *Enterococcus faecium* GM-1 isolated from an infant. Journal of Applied Microbiology 98, 1169-1176.
- Kang, K.H., Yun, J.S., Ryu, H.W. 2000. Effect of culture conditions on the production of succinate by *Enterococcus faecalis* RKY1. Microbial biotechnology 10, 1-7.
- Kim, J., Enache, E., Hayman, M. 2014. Halophilic and osmophilic microorganisms. [cite12June2016].Available

from:<u>http://www.academia.edu/15362805/Halophilic\_and\_Osmophilic\_Microor</u>ganisms.

- Kotzamanidis, C., Roukas, T., Skaracis, G. 2002. Optimization of lactic acid production from beet molasses by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* NCIMB 8130. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 18, 441-448.
- Kuhnert, P., Scholten, E., Haefner, S., Mayor, D., Frey, J. 2010. *Basfia succiniciproducens* gen. nov., sp. nov., a new member of the family *Pasteurellaceae* isolated from bovine rumen. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology 60, 44-50.
- Kurzrock, T., Botz, D.W. 2010. Recovery of succinic acid from fermentation broth. Biotechnology letters 32, 331-339.
- Lee, P.C., Lee, S.Y., Hong, S.H., Chang, H.N. 2002. Isolation and characterization of a new succinic acid-producing bacterium, *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* MBEL55E, from bovine rumen. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 58, 663-668.
- Lee, P.C., Lee, W.G., Kwon, S., Lee, S.Y., Chang, H.N. 1999a. Succinic acid production by *Anaerobiosporollum succiniciproducens* effects of the H<sub>2</sub>-CO<sub>2</sub> supply and glucose concentration. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 24, 549-554.
- Lee, P.C., Lee, W.G., Lee, S.Y., Chang, H.N. 1999b. Effects of medium components on the growth of *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens* and succinic acid production. Process Biochemistry 35, 49-55.
- Leschine, S.B. 1995. Cellulose degradation in anaerobic environments. Annual Review of Microbiology 49, 399-426.
- Li, Q., Yang, M., Wang, D., Li, W., Wu, Y., Zhang, Y., Xing, J., Su, Z. 2010. Efficient conversion of crop stalk wastes into succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. Bioresource technology 101, 3292-3296.
- Lin, S.K.C., Du, C., Koutinas, A., Wang, R., Webb, C. 2008. Substrate and product inhibition kinetics in succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. Biochemical Engineering Journal 41, 128-135.

- Liu, Y.P., Zheng, P., Sun, Z.H., Ni, Y., Dong, J.J., Zhu, L.L. 2008. Economical succinic acid production from cane molasses by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. Bioresource technology 99, 1736-1742.
- MacFaddin, J.F. 2000. Biochemical tests for identification of medical bacteria. Philadelphia:Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 363-367.
- Macy, J.M., Ljungdahl, L.G., Gottschalk, G. 1978. Pathway of succinate and propionate formation in *Bacteroides fragilis*. Journal of Bacteriology 12, 231-237.
- Mahapatra, A., Mahapatra, S., Mahapatra, A. 2005. *Escherichia fergusonii*: an emerging pathogen in South Orissa. Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology 23, 204-208.
- Manero, A., Blanch, A.R. 1999. Identification of *Enterococcus* spp. with a Biochemical Key. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65, 4425-4430.
- Mascini, E.M., Troelstra, A., Beitsma, M., Blok, H.E.M., Jalink, K.P., Hopmans, T.E.M., Fluit, A.C., Hené, R.J., Willems, R.J.L., Verhoef, J., Bonten, M.J.M. 2006. Genotyping and preemptive isolation to control an outbreak of vancomycinresistant *Enterococcus faecium*. Clinical Infectious Diseases 42, 739-746.
- Masson, M.J., Phillipson, A.T. 1951. The absorption of acetate, propionate and butyrate from the rumen of sheep. Journal of Physiology 113, 189-206.
- McIntyre, M., McNeil, B. 1997. Effects of elevated dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> levels on batch and continuous cultures of *Aspergillus niger* A60: an evaluation of experimental methods. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63, 4171-4177.
- Medina, P., Baresi, L. 2007. Rapid identification of gelatin and casein hydrolysis using TCA. Journal of Microbiological Methods 69, 391–393.
- Mendez, J., Foresman, P.S. 2010. Ruminant. [cite 23 May 2016]. Available from:https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ruminant.
- Miller, G.L. 1959. Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar. Analytical Chemistry 31, 426-428.
- Morello, J.A., Janda, W.M., Bohnhoff, M. 1985. In: Lennette, E.H., Balows, A., Hausler, J.W.J., Shadomy, H.J. (Eds.) Manual of clinical microbiology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C., 176-192.

- Morotomi, M., Nagai, F., Watanabe, Y., Tanaka, R. 2010. *Succinatimonas hippei* gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from human faeces. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology 60, 1788-1793.
- Nattrass, L., Aylott, M., Higson, A. 2013. This factsheet gives on overview of the current and potential market for bio-based succinic acid. [cite 15 March 2016]. Available from:<u>http://www.nnfcc.co.uk/publications/nnfcc-renewable-chemicals-factsheet-succinic-acid</u>.
- Niven, C.F., Jr, S., K.L., Sherman, J.M. 1942. The hydrolysis of arginine by streptococci. Journal of Bacteriology 43, 651-660.
- O' Donnell, M.M., Harris, H.M., Lynch, D.B., Ross, R.P., O'Toole, P.W. 2015. *Lactobacillus ruminis* strains cluster according to their mammalian gut source. BMC Microbiology 15, 1-20.
- Oh, I.J., Kim, D.H., Oh, E.K., Lee, S.Y., Lee, J. 2009. Optimization and scale-up of succinic acid production by *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* LPK7. Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 19, 167-171.
- Pettipher, G.L., Osmundson, M.E., Murphy, J.M. 1997. Methods for the detection and enumeration of *Alicyclobacillus acidoterrestris* and investigation of growth and production of taint in fruit juice and fruit juice-containing drinks. Letters in Applied Microbiology 24, 185-189.
- Poehlein, A., Riegel, K., König, S.M., Leimbach, A., Daniel, R., Dürre, P. 2015. Genome sequence of *Clostridium sporogenes* DSM 795<sup>⊤</sup>, an amino acid-degrading, nontoxic surrogate of neurotoxin-producing *Clostridium botulinum*. Standards in Genomic Sciences 10, 1-12.
- Raja, S., Dhanasekar, R. 2011. Succinic acid production from bovine rumen-isolation and optimization. International Journal of Chemtech Research 3, 1926-1931.
- Rocas, I.N., Siqueira Jr, J.F., Santos, K.R.N. 2004. Association of *Enterococcus faecalis* With Different Forms of Periradicular Diseases. Journal of endodontics 30, 315-320.
- Ryu, H.W., Kang, K.H., Yun, J.S. 1999. Bioconversion of fumarate to succinate using glycerol as a carbon source. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 77-79, 511-520.

- Saitou, N., Nei, M. 1987. The neighbor-joining method- a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Molecular biology and evolution 4, 406-425.
- Samuelov, N.S., Lamed, R., Lowe, S., Zeikus, J.G. 1991. Influence of CO<sub>2</sub>-HCO<sub>3</sub> levels and pH on growth, succinate production, and enzyme activities of *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 57, 3013-3019.
- Savini, V., Catavitello, C., Talia, M., Manna, A., Pompetti, F., Favaro, M., Fontana, C.,
  Febbo, F., Balbinot, A., Di Berardino, F., Di Bonaventura, G., Di Zacom, S.,
  Esattore, F., D'Antonio, D. 2008. Multidrug-resistant *Escherichia fergusonii*: a
  case of acute cystitis. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 46, 1551-1553.
- Schaeffer, A.B., Fulton, M.D. 1933. A simplified method of staining endospores. Science 77, 194.
- Schleifer, K.H., Baltz, R.K. 1984. Transfer of *Streptococcus faecalis* and *Streptococcus faecium* to the genus *Enterococcus* nom. rev. as *Enterococcus faecalis* comb. nov. and *Enterococcus faecium* comb. nov. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 34, 31-34.
- Sener, A., Kadiata, M.M., Ladriere, L., Malaisse, W.J. 1997. Synergistic insulinotropic action of succinate, acetate, and glucose esters in islets from normal and diabetic rats. Endocrine 7, 151-155.
- Sharpe, M.E., Latham, M.J., Garvie, E.I. 1973. Two new species of *Lactobacillus* isolated from the bovine rumen, *Lactobacillus ruminis* sp.nov. and *Lactobacillus vitulinus* sp.nov. Journal of General Microbiology 77, 37-49.
- Song, H., Lee, S.Y. 2006. Production of succinic acid by bacterial fermentation. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 39, 352-361.
- Song, H.H., Lee, J.W., Choi, S., You, J.K., Hong, W.H., Lee, S.Y. 2007. Effects of dissolved  $CO_2$  levels on the growth of *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* and succinic acid production. Biotechnology and bioengineering 98, 1296-1304.
- Stewart, C.S., Flint, H.J. 1989. *Bacteroides (Fibrobacter) succinogenes*, a cellulolytic anaerobic bacterium from the gastrointestinal tract. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 30, 433-439.

- Sutton, D.M., Hiles, A.G., Backes, A.F. 2002. Process for the simultaneous production of maleic anhydride and its hydrogenated derivatives, Limited, D.P.T., ed.
- Tamura, K., Peterson, D., Peterson, N., Stecher, G., Nei, M., Kumar, S. 2011. MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. Molecular biology and evolution 28, 2731-2739.
- Tanasupawat, S., Okada, S.K., K. . 1998. Lactic acid bacteria found in fermented fish in Thailand. Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 44, 193-200.
- Tanasupawat, S., Thawai, C., Yukphan, P., Moonmangmee, D., Itoh, T., Adachi, O., Yamada, Y. 2004. *Gluconobacter thailandicus* sp. nov., an acetic acid bacterium in the **α**-proteobacteria. Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 50, 159-167.
- Thakker, C., Burhanpurwala, Z., Rastogi, G., Shouche, Y., Ranade, D. 2006. Isolation and characterization of a new osmotolerant, non-virulent *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strain SAP for biosynthesis of succinic acid. Indian Journal of Experimental Biology 44, 142-150.
- Tille, P.M. 2014. Methyl Red/Voges-Proskauer (MRVP) tests, In: Bailey & Scott's Diagnostic Microbiology. Mosby Elsevier Health Science, New York, 214.

Todar, K. 2002. [cite 12 June 2016]. Available from: www.textbookofbacteriology.net

- Watanabe, Y., Nagai, F., Morotomi, M. 2012. Characterization of *Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens* sp. nov., an asaccharolytic, succinateutilizing bacterium isolated from human feces. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78, 511-518.
- Wee, Y.J., Yun, J.S., Kang, K.H., Ryu, H.W. 2002. Continuous production of succinic acid by a fumarate-reducing bacterium immobilized in a hollow-fiber bioreactor. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 02, 1093-1104.
- Weisburg, W.G., Barns, S.M., Pelletier, D.A., Lane, D.J. 1991. 16S ribosomal DNA amplification for phylogenetic study. Journal of Bacteriology 173, 697-703.
- Wikoff, W.R., Anfora, A.T., Liu, J., Schultz, P.G., Lesley, S.A., Peters, E.C., Siuzdak, G. 2009. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on

mammalian blood metabolites. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 3698-3703.

- Xu, J., Guo, B.H. 2010. Poly (butylene succinate) and its copolymers: research, development and industrialization. Biotechnology journal 5, 1149-1163.
- Yoshida, K., Matsumoto, T., Tateda, K., Uchida, K., Tsujimoto, S., Yamaguchi, K. 2000. Role of bacterial capsule in local and systemic inflammatory responses of mice during pulmonary infection with *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Journal of Medical Microbiology 49, 1003-1010.
- Young, K.D. 2007. Bacterial morphology: Why have different shapes? Current Opinion in Microbiology 10, 596-600.
- Yu, C., Cao, Y., Zou, H., Xian, M. 2011. Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for biotechnological production of high-value organic acids and alcohols. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 89, 573-583.
- Yun, J.H., Yim, D.S., Kang, J.Y., Kang, B.Y., Shin, E.A., Chung, M.J. 2005. Identification of *Lactobacillus ruminus* SPM0211 isolated from healthy Koreans and its antimicrobial activity against some pathogens. Archives of Pharmacal Research 28, 660-666.
- Zeikus, J.G. 1980. Chemical and fuel production by anaerobic bacteria. Annual Review of Microbiology 34, 423-464.
- Zeikus, J.G., Jain, M.K., Elankovan, P. 1999. Biotechnology of succinic acid production and markets for derived industrial products. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 51, 545-552.
- Zobell, C.E. 1932. Factors influencing the reduction of nitrates and nitrites by bacteria in semisolid media. Journal of Bacteriology 24, 273-281.



# APPENDIX A

# Culture media, Reagent and Buffer preparation

# 1. Modified Gifu anaerobic medium (GAM; Nissui Pharmaceutical)

Peptic digest o	f animal tissue	10	g
Papaic digest o	f soyabean meal	3	g
Proteose pepto	one	10	g
Digested serum	1	13.5	g
Yeast extract		5	g
Beef extract		2.2	g
Liver extract		1.2	g
Dextrose		3	g
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>		2.5	g
NaCl		3	g
Starch, Soluble		5	g
L-cysteine HCl		0.3	g
$C_2H_3O_2SNa$		0.3	g
Distilled water		1000	ml
рН		7.3	

Dissolved and adjusted pH to 7.3 with HCl. Medium was sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min.

## 2. MRS broth (MRS; de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe)

Enzymatic digest of animal tissue	10	g
Beef extract	10	g
Yeast extract	5	g
Dextrose	20	g
Sodium acetate	5	g
Polysorbate 80	1	g
Potassium Phosphate	2	g
Ammonium citrate	2	g
Magnesium sulfate	0.1	g
Manganese sulfate	0.05	g
Distilled water	1000	ml
рН	6.5	

Dissolved and sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min.

## 3. Gram stain

Colony was smear on a clean slide. Slide was fixed by passing through flame. The smear was covered with crystal violet solution for 30 s, next washed with water and drained. Then the smear was covered with iodine solution for 30 s and washed with water and drained. 95% ethanol was used decolorized and wash with water. After that safranin solution was flooded and allowed to counter stain about 30 s. Blot slide was dried and examined under oil immersion (100X).

## 4. Endospore stain

Colony was smear on a clean slide. Slide was fixed by passing through flame. The smear was covered with malachite green solution and heated for 5 minutes till it starts to evaporate. Then the slide was cooled to room temperature for 2 minutes. Next washed with water and drained. After that safranin solution was flooded and allowed to counter stain about 2 min. Blot slide was dried and examined under oil immersion (100X).

## 5. Catalase test

5.1

H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> solution			
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	3	ml	

Dissolved and adjusted volume to 100 ml with distilled water.

# 6. Arginine hydrolysis

6.1 Arginine broth

Yeast extract	0.03 g	
Peptone	0.05 g	
NaCl	0.05 g	
K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	0.003 g	
L (+) arginine HCL	0.055 g	
Phenol red	0.0001 g	
Tween 80	0.001 g	
Agar	0.0055 g	
Distilled water	1000 ml	

Dissolved and adjusted pH to 7.2 with NaOH before added agar. Then the medium was melted by microwave and added phenol red. The medium was sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min.

## 7. Nitrate reduction test

7.1	Nitrate	broth

KNO3	0.01	g
Yeast extract	0.03	g
Peptone	0.05	g
NaCl	0.05	g
Tween 80	0.001	ml
Agar	0.0055	g
Distilled water	1000	ml

Dissolved and adjusted pH to 6.8 with NaOH before added agar. Then the medium was melted by microwave and sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min.

7.2 Sulfanilic acid solution

Sulphanilic acid	0.8	g
5 N Acetic acid	100	ml

Dissolved and gentle heating in a fume hood.

7.3 N,N-dimethyl-l-naphthylamine	solution
----------------------------------	----------

N,N-dimethyl-l-naphthylamine	0.5	g
5 N Acetic acid	100	ml
Dissolved and gentle heating in a fu	ime hoo	od.

## 8. Starch hydrolysis

8.1 Starch agar plate			
Starch		2	g
Yeast extract		0.5	g
Peptone		0.5	g
Agar		2	g
Distilled water	ALONGKORN UNIVER	1000	m

Dissolved and adjusted pH to 7.0 with NaOH. Then the medium was melted by microwave and sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min and poured into plate.

## 8.2 lodine reagent

Iodine solution 10

Dissolved and adjusted volume to 20 ml with distilled water.

ml

## 9. Slime formation

## 9.1 Slime agar plate

Sucrose	0.2	g
Yeast extract	0.05	g
Peptone	0.05	g
Agar	0.2	g
Distilled water	1000	ml

Dissolved and adjusted pH to 6.8-7.0 with NaOH. Then the medium was sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min and poured into plate.

# 10. Acid from carbohydrates

10.1 Medium test		
Carbohydrates	0.05	g
Yeast extract	0.05	g
Peptone	0.05	g
Salt solution	0.05	ml
Distilled water	1000	ml

Dissolved and adjusted pH to 6.8 with NaOH. Then bromocresol purple was added the medium and sterilized by autoclave at 121°C for 15 min.

10.2 Salt solution

MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	4	g
MnSO <sub>4</sub> .4H <sub>2</sub> O	0.2	g
FeSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	0.2	g
NaCl	0.2	g
Distilled water	100	ml
Discoluted and calded O.E. relinete rea	aliuna ta	t

Dissolved and added 0.5 ml into medium test.

#### 11. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

### 11.1 6X DNA loading dye

Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane	1.21	g
Bromophenol blue	0.03	g
Xylene cyanol FF	0.03	g
Glycerol	60	ml
Sodium laureth sulfate (SLES)	1	g
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	37.22	g

Dissolve Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane with distilled water and adjust pH to 8.0 with HCl. After dissolve EDTA and glycerol, pH was adjust to 7.6 with HCl and bromophenol blue and xylene cyanol FF were added. Then the volume was brought up to 100 ml with distilled water. 6X DNA loading dye was stored at 4°C.

11.2 1% (w/v) Agarose gel



Dissolved and heated by microwave until agarose gels were dissolved well. After agarose solution cool down to about 45°C, poured the agarose solution into the case and leave to solidify at room temperature.

11.3 10X Tris acetate- ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (TAE) buffer

Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane	48.4	g
Acetic acid (glacial)	11.4	g
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	3.7	g
NaOH	1	g

Dissolved Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane and NaOH with distilled water. EDTA was added and mixed thoroughly, and then acetic acid was added brought up to volume to 1000 ml with distilled water. Diluted 10 times before used. 11.4 Ethidium bromide solution

Ethidium bromide

50

mg

Dissolved and adjusted volume to 100 ml with distilled water. The solution was stored in the amble bottle.

## 12. DNS reagent



# APPENDIX B

# Standard curve

# 1. Standard curve of glucose by DNS assay



# 2. Standard curve of cell dry weight (CDW)



Figure B2-1. Standard curve of cell dry weight (CDW) of isolate NS15-dA1





Figure B2-2. Standard curve of cell dry weight (CDW) of isolate NS15-bA2

```
Equation; Y= 44.345X
```

Cell dry weight (g/l) = OD660 44.345 3. Standard curve of succinic acid by HPLC (High Performance Liquid Chromatography)



## APPENDIX C

# The results of optimization on succinic acid production

# 1. Effect of glucose concentration

**Table C1.1** Residual sugars and cell dry weight and succinic acid yield by isolateNS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 for 48 h

laclator	Residual sugars (g/l)				
isolales	0 h	12 h	24 h	36 h	48 h
NS15-	29.748±0.0201 <sup>a</sup>	0.000±0.0021	0.000±0.0002	0.000±0.0006	0.000±0.0002
dA1	59.247±0.1419	11.695±0.1081	1.250±0.0208	0.000±0.0002	0.000±0.0003
	89.097±0.2067	43.869±0.3125	30.484±0.1990	28.202±0.0484	26.425±0.1380
NS15-	29.659±0.0620	0.000±0.0001	0.000±0.0009	0.000±0.0008	0.000±0.0014
bA2	59.473±0.3029	22.168±0.4011	1.789±0.02149	0.000±0.0003	0.000±0.0002
	89.505±0.3024	57.265±0.3207	36.418±0.3166	24.064±0.1353	19.568±0.0371

Isolatos	Cell dry weight (g/l)				
isolales	0 h	12 h	24 h	36 h	48 h
NS15-	0.0017±0.0001 <sup>a</sup>	0.2251±0.0004	0.2384±0.0009	0.2238±0.0001	0.1876±0.0006
dA1	0.0015±0.0001	0.2950±0.0011	0.3217±0.0008	0.2963±0.0007	0.2887±0.0009
	0.0013±0.0001	0.2419±0.0005	0.2906±0.0090	0.2849±0.0004	0.2842±0.0080
NS15-	0.0018±0.0001	0.2530±0.0011	0.2801±0.0001	0.2584±0.0002	0.2469±0.0012
bA2	0.0016±0.0002	0.3071±0.0011	0.3484±0.0049	0.3356±0.0020	0.3252±0.0008
	0.0014±0.0001	0.3024±0.0007	0.3207±0.0006	0.3166±0.0053	0.3105±0.0037

 $a^{a}$  Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.
Isolatos	Glucose	Yield of succinic acid (g/g glucose)					
isolales	(g/l)	12 h	24 h	36 h	48 h		
NS15-dA1	30	0.441±0.0020 <sup>a</sup>	0.452±0.0037	0.444±0.0057	0.443±0.0101		
	60	0.668±0.0111	0.834±0.0085	0.832±0.0003	0.821±0.0075		
	90	0.631 ±0.0085	0.723±0.0017	0.769±0.0007	0.772±0.0122		
NS15-bA2	30	0.254±0.0077	0.432±0.0018	0.414±0.0037	0.416±0.0011		
	60	0.366±0.0054	0.875±0.0019	0.856±0.0005	0.823±0.0041		
	90	0.206±0.0034	0.787±0.0015	0.776±0.0007	0.772±0.0123		

Table C1.2 Yield of succinic acid by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2 for 48 h

<sup>a</sup> Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

# 2. Effect of different nitrogen sources

Table C2.1	Residual	sugars	by	isolate	NS15-dA1	and	NS15-bA2	,
------------	----------	--------	----	---------	----------	-----	----------	---

	Residual s	ugars (g/l) of	Residual sugars (g/l) of Isolate NS15-bA2		
Nitrogen sources	Isolate	NS15-dA1			
	0 h	24 h	0 h	24 h	
Control	59.791±0.0012 <sup>a</sup>	0.000±0.0012	59.655±0.6041	0.000±0.0006	
Yeast extract	59.519±0.4921	0.000±0.0011	59.723±0.0075	0.000±0.0008	
Peptone	59.723±1.2029	9.852±0.0260	59.927±0.6015	9.802±0.0165	
Tryptone	59.724±0.8202	9.734±0.0159	59.179±0.0165	0.000±0.0020	
Urea	59.451±0.0241	46.293±0.0075	59.926±0.2601	52.475±0.0038	
KNO <sub>3</sub>	59.519±0.0165	51.071±0.0142	59.519±1.5617	49.146±0.0085	
NHCl <sub>4</sub>	59.519±0.0075	47.244±0.0254	59.451±0.9241	47.176±0.0214	
$(NH_4)_2SO_4$	59.247±0.3511	45.319±0.0026	59.315±0.2210	46.496±0.0164	
(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	59.383±0.1923	46.043±0.0142	59.383±1.3086	36.531±0.0203	
NH <sub>4</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	59.383±0.5421	49.146±0.0081	59.362±0.6165	50.664±0.0492	

 $a^{a}$  Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

Nitrogon cources	Yield of succinic acid (g/g glucose)			
Nitrogen sources —	Isolate NS15-dA1	Isolate NS15-bA2		
Control	0.836±0.0013 <sup>a</sup>	0.867±0.0069		
Yeast extract	0.832±0.0067	0.874±0.0146		
Peptone	0.681±0.0044	0.653±0.0170		
Tryptone	0.704±0.0035	0.898±0.0008		
Urea	0.119±0.0026	0.018±0.0010		
KNO3	0.121±0.0019	0.291±0.0011		
NHCl <sub>4</sub>	0.014±0.0012	0.013±0.0003		
$(NH_4)_2SO_4$	0.027±0.0004	0.022±0.0034		
$(NH_4)_2HPO_4$	0.113±0.0032	0.245±0.0176		
NH <sub>4</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	0.035±0.0006	0.013±0.0007		

Table C2.2 Yield of succinic acid by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2

<sup>a</sup> Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

# 3. Effect of initial pH

	Residual su	ugars (g/l) of	Residual sug	gars (g/l) of		
Initial pH	Isolate	NS15-dA1	Isolate N	Isolate NS15-bA2		
	0 h 101	24 h	SITY 0 h	24 h		
Control	59.791±0.3065 <sup>°</sup>	0.000±0.0002	59.605±0.0076	0.000±0.0003		
5.0	59.519±0.0577	47.054±0.0644	59.449±0.0214	38.622±0.6621		
5.5	59.753±0.0032	22.165±0.0542	59.723±0.0034	20.892±0.1659		
6.0	59.723±0.8700	18.735±0.0125	59.882±0.6807	15.083±0.0206		
6.5	59.451±0.0097	4.095±0.0038	59.304±0.0067	0.000±0.0001		
7.0	59.519±0.0164	0.000±0.0012	59.199±0.0250	0.000±0.0002		
7.5	59.519±0.2008	0.000±0.0002	59.519±0.1509	0.000±0.0003		
8.0	59.247±0.0792	0.000±0.0004	59.674±0.0084	15.431±0.8192		

Table C3.1	Residual	sugars by	y isolate	NS15-dA1	and NS15-bA2
------------	----------	-----------	-----------	----------	--------------

 $^{\rm a}$  Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

Initial all	Yield of succinic acid (g/g glucose)				
	Isolate NS15-dA1	Isolate NS15-bA2			
Control	0.850±0.0044 <sup>a</sup>	0.877±0.0169			
5.0	0.214±0.0013	0.366±0.0044			
5.5	0.519±0.0057	0.619±0.0081			
6.0	0.671±0.0049	0.731±0.0087			
6.5	0.770±0.0035	0.803±0.0044			
7.0	0.845±0.0079	0.887±0.0034			
7.5	0.808±0.0049	0.796±0.0067			
8.0	0.815±0.0023	0.726±0.0081			

Table C3.2 Yield of succinic acid by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2

a Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

# 4. Effect of temperature

# Table C4.1 Residual sugars by isolate NS15-dA1 and NS15-bA2

	Residual su	ıgars (g/l) of	Residual su	Residual sugars (g/l) of Isolate NS15-bA2		
Temperature (°C)	Isolate N	NS15-dA1	Isolate N			
	0 h	24 h	0 h	24 h		
Control	59.330±0.0954 <sup>°</sup>	0.000±0.0001	59.605±0.0090	0.000±0.0001		
35	59.682±0.0064	0.000±0.0001	59.023±0.0087	5.960±0.1056		
37	59.291±0.1318	0.000±0.0002	59.190±0.1030	0.000±0.0003		
39	59.873±0.0943	8.615±0.1807	59.245±0.0098	10.229±0.0796		
Tomporaturo (°C)		Yield of succir	nic acid (g/g glucose)			
remperature ( C)	Isolate NS15-dA1		Isolate NS15	Isolate NS15-bA2		
Control	0.859±0.0	0.859±0.0042 <sup>a</sup>		0.851±0.0044		
35	0.846±0.0041		0.712±0.0059			
37	0.862±0.0028		0.884±0.00	059		
39	0.818±0.0111		0.755±0.00	053		

a Each value was an average of three parallel replicates and was presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

## APPENDIX D

## 16S rRNA gene sequence

## Primer

## 20 F : AGTTTGATCCTGGCTC

## 1530 R: AAGGAGGTGATCCAGCC

## 1. Isolate CN1-OB13

GGCTCAGATTGAACGCTGGCGGCAGGCCTAACACATGCAAGTCGAACGGTAACAGGAAGCAGC TTGCTTCTTTGCTGACGAGTGGCGGACGGGTGAGTAATGTCTGGGAAACTGCCTGATGGAGGGG GATAACTACTGGAAACGGTAGCTAATACCGCATAACGTCGCAAGACCAAAGAGGGGGGACCTTCG GGCCTCTTGCCATCGGATGTGCCCAGATGGGATTAGCTAGTAGGTGGGGTAACGGCTCACCTAG GCGACGATCCCTAGCTGGTCTGAGAGGATGACCAGCCACACTGGAACTGAGACACGGTCCAGA CTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTGGGGAATATTGCACAATGGGCGCAAGCCTGATGCAGCCATGCC GCGTGTATGAAGAAGGCCTTCGGGTTGTAAAGTACTTTCAGCGGGGAGGAAGGGAGTAAAGTTA ATACCTTTGCTCATTGACGTTACCCGCAGAAGAAGCACCGGCTAACTCCGTGCCAGCAGCCGCG TAAGTCAGATGTGAAATCCCCGGGCTCAACCTGGGAACTGCATCTGATACTGGCAAGCTTGAGT CTCGTAGAGGGGGGTAGAATTCCAGGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGAGATCTGGAGGAATACC GGTGGCGAAGGCGGCCCCCTGGACGAAGACTGACGCTCAGGTGCGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAAAC AGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGTCGACTTGGAGGTTGTGCCCTTGAGG CGTGGCTTCCGGAGCTAACGCGTTAAGTCGACCGCCTGGGGAGTACGGCCGCAAGGTTAAAAC TCAAATGAATTGACGGGGGCCCGCACAAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGATGCAACGCGA AGAACCTTACCTGGTCTTGACATCCACGGAAGTTTTCAGAGATGAGAATGTGCCTTCGGGAACC GTGAGACAGGTGCTGCATGGCTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTTGTGAAATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAA ATAAACTGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAGTCATCATGGCCCTTACGACCAGGGCTACACAC GTGCTACAATGGCGCATACAAAGAGAAGCGACCTCGCGAGAGCAAGCGGACCTCATAAAGTGC GTCGTAGTCCGGATTGGAGTCTGCAACTCGACTCCATGAAGTCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGTGGA TCAGAATGCCACGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGTCACACCATGGGAGTG

GGTTGCAAAAGAAGTAGGTAGCTTAACCTTCGGGAGGGCGCTTACCACTTTGTGATTCATGACT GGGGTGAAGTCGTAACAAGGTAACCGTAGGGGAACCT

## 2. Isolate PCH6-3

CACGTAGGTAACCTGCCCCGGAGCGGGGGGATAACATTTGGAAACAGATGCTAATACCGCATAAC AACAAAAGCCACATGGCTTTTGTTTGAAAGATGGCTTTGGCTATCACTCTGGGATGGACCTGCG GTGCATTAGCTAGTTGGTAAGGTAACGGCTTACCAAGGCGATGATGCCAAGCCGAGTTGAGAGA CTGATCGGCCACAATGGAACTGAGACACGGTCCATACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAAT TAAAGCTCTGTTGTTGGAGAAGAACGTGCGTGAGAGTAACTGTTCACGCAGTGACGGTATCCAA CCAGAAAGTCACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTATCC GGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGCGAGCGCAGGCGGTTGCTTAGGTCTGATGTGAAAGCCTTCGGCTT AACCGAAGAAGTGCATCGGAAACCGGGCGACTTGAGTGCAGAAGAGGACAGTGGAACTCCATG TGTAGCGGTGGAATGCGTAGATATATGGAAGAACACCAGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTGTCTGGTCTG CAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGTAGCGAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCATGC CGTAAACGATGAGTGCTAGGTGTTGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTCAGTGCCGGAGCTAACGCATTAA GCACTCCGCCTGGGGAGTACGACCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGGCCCGCAC AAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCTACGCGAAGAACCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATCTT GCGCTAACCTTAGAGATAAGGCGTTCCCTTCGGGGACGCAATGACAGGTGGTGCATGGTCGTCG TCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAACCCTTGTTACTAGTTGC CAGCATTAAGTTGGGCACTCTAGTGAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGACGAC GTCAGATCATGACCCTTATGACCTGGGCTACACGTGCTACAATGGACGGTACAACGAGT CGCAAGCTCGCGAGAGTAAGCTAATCTCTTAAAGCCGTTCTCAGTTCGGACTGTAGGCTGCAAC TCGCCTACACGAAGTCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGATCAGCATGCCGCGGTGAATACGTTCCC GGGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGTCACACCATGGGAGTTT

## 3. Isolate AY5-bA2

CGAATGCTTGCATTCACCGAAAGAAGCTTAGTGGCGAACGGGTGAGTAACACGTAGGCAACCTG CCCAAAAGAGGGGGATAACACTTGGAAACAGGTGCTAATACCGCATAACCATGGACATCGCATG ATGTTCATGTAAAAGACGGCTTTTGCTGTCACTTTTGGATGGGCCTGCGGCGTATTAACTTGTT GGTGGGGTAACGGCCTACCAAGGTGATGATACGTAGCCGAACTGAGAGGTTGATCGGCCACATT GGGACTGAGACACGGCCCAAACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAATCTTCCACAATGGACG AAAGTCTGATGGAGCAACGCCGCGTGAATGAAGAAGGCCTTCGGGTCGTAAAATTCTGTTGTCA GAGAAGAACGTGCGTGAGAGTAACTGTTCACGTATTGACGGTATCTGACCAGAAAGCCACGGCT AACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCCGTA AAGGGAACGCAGGCGGTCTTTTAAGTCTGATGTGAAAGCCTTCGGCTTAACCGAAGTAGTGCAT TGGAAACTGGAAGACTTGAGTGCAGAAGAGGAGAGTGGAACTCCATGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGC GTAGATATATGGAAGAACACCAGTGGCGAAAGCGGCTCTCTGGTCTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGTT CGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGAGTGCT AAGTGTTGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTCAGTGCTGCAGCTAACGCATTAAGCACTCCGCCTGGGGAG TACGGTCGCAAGACTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGCCCGCACAAGCGGTGGAGCATGTG GTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATCTTCTGACAATTCCAGAGAT GGAACGTTCCCTTCGGGGACAGAATGACAGGTGGTGCATGGTTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAG ATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAACCCTTATTGTCAGTTGCCATCATTAAGTTGGGCA CTCTGGCGAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAATCATCATGCCC CTTATGACCTGGGCTACACGTGCTACAATGGACGGTACAACGAGTCGCTAACTCGCGAGGGC AAGCTAATCTCTTAAAGCCGTTCTCAGTTCGGATTGCAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGTCG GAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGAATCAGCATGTCGCGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGCCTTGTACACACCG CCCGTCACACCATGAGAGTTTGTAACACCCA

## 4. Isolate AY5-bB4

GCGATGAAGCTTCCTTCGGGAAGTGGATTAGCGGCGGACGGGTGAGTAACACGTGGGTAACCT GCCTCAAAGTGGGGGATAGCCTTCCGAAAGGAAGATTAATACCGCATAACATAAGAGAATCGCA TGATTTTCTTATCAAAGATTTATTGCTTTGAGATGGACCCGCGCGCATTAGCTAGTTGGTAAG GTAACGGCTTACCAAGGCAACGATGCGTAGCCGACCTGAGAGGGTGATCGGCCACATTGGAAC TGAGACACGGTCCAGACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTGGGGAATATTGCGCAATGGGGGAAACC CTGACGCAGCAACGCCGCGTGGGTGATGAAGGTCTTCGGATTGTAAAGCCCTGTTTTCTGGGAC GATAATGACGGTACCAGAGGAGGAAGCCACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACG TAGGTGGCGAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTACTGGGCGTAAAGGGTGCGTAGGCGGATGTTTAAGTGG GATGTGAAATCCCCGGGCTTAACCTGGGGGCTGCATTCCAAACTGGATATCTAGAGTGCAGGAG AGGAAAGCGGAATTCCTAGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGAGATTAGGAAGAACACCAGTGGCG AAGGCGGCTTTCTGGACTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCACGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCAAACAGGATTA GATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGGATACTAGGTGTAGGGGGTATCAACTCCCCCTG TGCCGCAGTTAACACAATAAGTATCCCGCCTGGGGAGTACGGTCGCAAGATTAAAACTCAAAGG AATTGACGGGGGCCCGCACAAGCAGCGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACC TTACCTGGACTTGACATCCCTTGCATAGCCTAGAGATAGGTGAAGCCCTTCGGGGCAAGGAGAC AGGTGGTGCATGGTTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTAGGTTAAGTCCTGCAACGAGCGC AACCCTTGTTATTAGTTGCTACCATTAAGTTGAGCACTCTAATGAGACTGCCTGGGTAACCAGG AGGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAATCATCATGCCCCTTATGTCCAGGGCTACACACGTGCTACAA TGGTAGGTACAATAAGACGCAAGACCGTGAGGTGGAGCAAAACTTATAAAACCTATCTCAGTTC GGATTGTAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTACATGAAGCTGGAGTTGCTAGTAATCGCGAATCAGAATGTC GCGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGTCACACCATGAGAGCTGGTAACACCC GAAGTCCGTGAGGT

## 5. PCH2-1

AGTGGCGAACGGGTGAGTAACACGTGGGTAACCTGCCCATCAGAAGGGGATAACACTTGGAAA CAGGTGCTAATACCGTATAACAATCAAAACCGCATGGTTTTGATTTGAAAGGCGCTTTCGGGTG TCGCTGATGGATGGACCCGCGGTGCATTAGCTAGTTGGTGAGGTAACGGCTCACCAAGGCCAC GATGCATAGCCGACCTGAGAGGGTGATCGGCCACATTGGGACTGAGACACGGCCCAAACTCCT ACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAATCTTCGGCAATGGACGAAAGTCTGACCGAGCAACGCCGCGTG AGTGAAGAAGGTTTTCGGATCGTAAAACTCTGTTGTTAGAGAAGAACAAGGATGAGAGTAACTG TTCATCCCTTGACGGTATCTAACCAGAAAGCCACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAAT CTGATGTGAAAGCCCCCGGCTCAACCGGGGGGGGGTCATTGGAAACTGGGAGACTTGAGTGCAG AAGAGGAGAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACCAGTGG CGAAGGCGGCTCTCTGGTCTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGGGGCAAACAGGAT TAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGAGTGCTAAGTGTTGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTC AGTGCTGCAGCTAACGCATTAAGCACTCCGCCTGGGGAGTACGACCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAA GGAATTGACGGGGGCCCGCACAAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAA CCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATCCTTTGACCACTCTAGAGATAGAGCTTCCCCTTCGGGGGGCAAAGT GACAGGTGGTGCATGGTTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAG CGCAACCCTTATTGTTAGTTGCCATCATTCAGTTGGGCACTCTAGCAAGACTGCCGGTGACAAA CCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAATCATCATGCCCCTTATGACCTGGGCTACACACGTGCT ACAATGGGAAGTACAACGAGTCGCGAAGTCGCGAGGCTAAGCTAATCTCTTAAAGCTTCTCTCA GTTCGGATTGCAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGCCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGATCAGCA CGCCGCGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGTCACACCAC

## 6. Isolate NP1-A2

GACGGGTGAGTAACACGTGGGTAACCTACCCATCAGAGGGGGATAACACTTGGAAACAGGTGC TAATACCGCATAACAGTTTATGCCGCATGGCATAAGAGTGAAAGGCGCTTTCGGGTGTCGCTGA TGGATGGACCCGCGGTGCATTAGCTAGTTGGTGAGGTAACGGCTCACCAAGGCCACGATGCATA GCCGACCTGAGAGGGTGATCGGCCACACTGGGACTGAGACACGGCCCAGACTCCTACGGGAGG AGGTTTTCGGATCGTAAAACTCTGTTGTTAGAGAAGAACAAGGACGTTAGTAACTGAACGTCCC CTGACGGTATCTAACCAGAAAGCCACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGT GAAAGCCCCCGGCTCAACCGGGGAGGGTCATTGGAAACTGGGAGACTTGAGTGCAGAAGAGGA GAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACCAGTGGCGAAGGC GGCTCTCTGGTCTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGGGGCAAACAGGATTAGATACC CTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGAGTGCTAAGTGTTGGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTCAGTGCTG CAGCAAACGCATTAAGCACTCCGCCTGGGGGGGGGGGGCGCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAAGGAATT GACGGGGGCCCGCACAAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTA CCAGGTCTTGACATCCTTTGACCACTCTAGAGATAGAGCTTTCCCTTCGGGGGACAAAGTGACAG GTGGTGCATGGTTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTGGGGTGAGGTGGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAA CCCTTATTGTTAGTTGCCATCATTTAGTTGGGCACTCTAGCGAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGA GGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAATCATCATGCCCCTTATGACCTGGGCTACACACGTGCTACAAT GGGAAGTACAACGAGTCGCTAGACCGCGAGGTCATGCAAATCTCTTAAAGCTTCTCAGTTCG GATTGCAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGCCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGATCAGCACGCCG CGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGT

## 7. Isolate CN2-OA2

GAGCTTGCTCCACCGAAAGAAAAGGAGTGGCGAACGGGTGAGTAACACGTGGGTAACCTGCCC ATCAGAAGGGGATAACACTTGGAAACAGGTGCTAATACCGTATAACAATCGAAACCGCATGGTT TCGGTTTGAAAGGCGCTTTTGCGTCACTGATGGATGGACCCGCGGTGCATTAGCTAGTTGGTGA GGTAACGGCTCACCAAGGCAACGATGCATAGCCGACCTGAGAGGGTGATCGGCCACATTGGGA CTGAGACACGGCCCAAACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAATCTTCGGCAATGGACGCAAG TCTGACCGAGCAACGCCGCGTGAGTGAAGAAGGTTTTCGGATCGTAAAACTCTGTTGTTAGAGA AGAACAAGGATGAGAGTAGAATGTTCATCCCTTGACGGTATCTAACCAGAAAGCCACGGCTAAC TACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAG CGAGCGCAGGCGGTTTCTTAAGTCTGATGTGAAAGCCCCCGGCTCAACCGGGGAGGGTCATTG GAAACTGGGAAACTTGAGTGCAGAAGAGGGGGGGGGAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTA GATATATGGAGGAACACCAGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTCTCTGGTCTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCG AAAGCGTGGGGAGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGAGTGCTAA GTGTTGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTCAGTGCTGCAGCTAACGCATTAAGCACTCCGCCTGGGGAGTA CGACCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGGCCCGCACAAGCGGTGGGACATGTGGT TTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATCCTTTGACCACTCTAGAGATAG AGCTTCCCCTTCGGGGGGCAAAGTGACAGGTGGTGGCATGGTTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGAT GTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAACCCTTATTGTTAGTTGCCATCATTTAGTTGGGCACT CTAGCGAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAATCATCATGCCCCT TATGACCTGGGCTACACGTGCTACAATGGGAAGTACAACGAGTCGCGAAGTCGCGAGGCTAA GCTAATCCTTAAAGCTTCTCCAGTTCGGATTGTAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTACATGAAGCCGGAA TCGCGTAGTAATCGCGGATCAGCACGCCGCGGTGAATACGTTGCCCGGGCCTTGTACACACCGC CCGTCACACCACGAGAGTTTGTAACACCCGAAGTCGGTGAGGTAA

## 8. Isolate NS15-bA2

GCTTCTTTTTCCACCGGAGCTTGCTCCACCGGAAAAAGAGGAGTGGCGAACGGGTGAGTAACAC GTGGGTAACCTGCCCATCAGAAGGGGATAACACTTGGAAACAGGTGCTAATACCGTATAACAAT CATTAGCTAGTTGGTGAGGTAACGGCTCACCAAGGCGACGATGCATAGCCGACCTGAGAGGGT GATCGGCCACATTGGGACTGAGACACGGCCCAAACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAATCT AACTCTGTTGTTAGAGAAGAACAAGGATGAGAGTAACTGTTCATCCCTTGACGGTATCTAACCA GAAAGCCACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGG ATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGCGAGCGCAGGCGGTTTCTTAAGTCTGATGTGAAAGCCCCCGGCTCAA CCGGGGAGGGTCATTGGAAACTGGGAGACTTGAGTGCAGAAGAGGAGAGTGGAATTCCATGTG TAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACCAGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTCTCTGGTCTGTAA CTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGGGGGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCG TAAACGATGAGTGCTAAGTGTTGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTCAGTGCTGCAGCTAACGCATTTAAG CACTCTCGCCTGGGGAGTACGACCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGCCCGCAC AAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATCCT TTGACCACTCTAGAGATAGAGCTTCCCCTTCGGGGGGCAAAGTGACAGGTGGTGCATGGTTGTCG TCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAACCCTTATTGTTAGTTGC CATCATTTAGTTGGGCACTCTAGCAAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGGATGAC GTCAAATCATGATGCCCCTTATGACCTGGGCTACACGTGCTACAATGGGAAGTACAACGAGT CGCAAAGTCGCGAGGCTAAGCTAATCTCTTAAAGCTTCTCTCAGTTCGGATTGTAGGCTGCAAC TCGCCTACATGAAGCCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGATCAGCACGCCGCGGTGAATACGTTCCC GGGCCTTGTACACCGCCCGTCACACCACGAGAGTTTGTAACACCCGAAGTCGGTGAGGTAAC CTTTTGGAGCCAGCCGCC

## 9. Isolate NS15- dA1

TCGTACGCTTCTTTTTCCACCGGAGGCTTGCTCCACCGGAAAAAGAAGAGTGGCGAACGGGTGA GTAACACGTGGGTAACCTGCCCATCAGAAGGGGGATAACACTTGGAAACAGGTGCTAATACCGTA CGCGGTGCATTAGCTAGTTGGTGAGGTAACGGCTCACCAAGGCCACGATGCATAGCCGACCTGA GAGGGTGATCGGCCACATTGGGACTGAGACACGGCCCAAACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGG TCGTAAAACTCTGTTGTTAGAGAAGAACAAGGATGAGAGTAACTGTTCATCCCTTGACGGTATC TAACCAGAAAGCCACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTGGCAAGCGTT GTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGCGAACGCAGGCGGTTTCTTAAGTCTGATGTGAAAGCCCCCG GCTCAACCGGGGAGGGTCATTGGAAACTGGGAGACTTGAGTGCAGAAGAGGAGAGTGGAATTC CATGTGTGTGGGGGGGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACCAGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTCTCTGGT CTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCA CGCCGTAAACGATGAGTGCTAAGTGTTGGAGGGTTTCCGCCCTTCAGTGCTGCAGCTAACGCAT TAAGCACTCCGCCTGGGGAGTACGACCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGCCCG CACAAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTACCAGGTCTTGACAT CCTTTGACCACTCTAGAGATAGAGCTTCCCCTTCGGGGGGCAAAGTGACAGGTGGTGCATGGTTG TCGTCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAACCCTTATTGTTAGT TGCCATCATTTAGTTGGGCACTCTAGCAAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATG ACGTCAAATCATCATGCCCCTTATGACCTGGGCTACACACGTGCTACAATGGGAAGTACAACGA GTCGCGAAGTCGCGAGGCTAAGCTAATCTCTTAAAGCTTCTCAGTTCGGATTGTAGGCTGCA ACTCGCCTA

#### VITA

Miss Natcha Pinkian was born on November 4, 1990 in Nakhonsawan, Thailand. She received her Bachelor's degree of Science in Bioechnology from the Faculty of Engineering and Industrial Technology, Silpakorn University in 2012. She has been studying for a Master Degree of Science in Biotechnology at Faculty of Sciences, Chulalongkorn University since 2013.

#### Academic presentations

1. Poster presentation:

Pinkian, N., Phuengjayaem, S., Tanasupawat, S and Teeradakorn, S. "Screening and characterization of succinic acid bacteria from Thailand." International Conference on Food and Applied Bioscience. 4-5 February 2016. The Empress Hotel, Chiang Mai, Thailand. (Best Poster Award)

2. Publication:

Pinkian, N., Phuengjayaem, S., Tanasupawat, S and Teeradakorn, S. "Screening and characterization of succinic acid bacteria from Thailand." Chiang Mai University Journal of Natural Sciences (submitted).